
 

 
PUBLIC COMMENT 
The Council will listen to the public on any item on the agenda.  Under the Brown Act, Council is 

prohibited from taking action on items not on the agenda, but the matter may be referred to staff or to a 

subsequent meeting.  Each speaker will be limited to three continuous minutes, which may not be 

delegated.  These rules will be enforced but may be changed by appropriate City Council action.   

 

PUBLIC COMMENT FOR ITEMS ON THE AGENDA: 
Persons wishing to speak on any item on the agenda will be called at the time the agenda item is brought 

forward.  Persons wishing to speak on closed session items have a choice of doing so either immediately 

prior to the closed session or at the time for comments on items at the open session. 

 

PUBLIC COMMENT FOR ITEMS NOT ON THE AGENDA: 
Time shall be devoted to audience participation early on the agenda.   

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

CLOSED SESSION 

 

CALL TO ORDER/ROLL CALL                             

  
 

Mayor Goss, Mayor Pro Tem Arizmendi, Council Member Capoccia, 

Council Member Delmar, and Council Member Harabedian 

 

PUBLIC COMMENT                                       Regarding Closed Session Items 

 

RECESS TO CLOSED SESSION REGARDING: 

 

CONFERENCE WITH LABOR NEGOTIATOR 

Pursuant to Calif. Government Code Section 54957.6 

City Negotiators: City Manager Elaine Aguilar and Assistant City Manager Elisa Cox 

Employee Organization: Classified Employee Association 

 

 
 

AGENDA  

REGULAR MEETING 

SIERRA MADRE CITY COUNCIL, 

SUCCESSOR AGENCY,  AND  

PUBLIC FINANCE AUTHORITY 

 

Tuesday, June 28, 2016 

Closed Session 6:00 pm / Open Session 6:30 pm  

 

City Hall Council Chambers 

232 W. Sierra Madre Boulevard 

Sierra Madre,  California  91024 

 

 

 Gene Goss, Mayor  

Rachelle Arizmendi, Mayor Pro Tem 

John Capoccia, Council Member 

Denise Delmar, Council Member 

John Harabedian, Council Member 

 

Melinda Carrillo, City Clerk  

Michael Amerio, City Treasurer 



OPEN  SESSION 
 

CALL TO ORDER/ROLL CALL 

MEMBERS OF THE CITY COUNCIL  
 Mayor Goss, Mayor Pro Tem Arizmendi,  

Council Members Capoccia, Delmar, and Harabedian 

 

PLEDGE OF ALLEGIANCE  AND 

INVOCATION/INSPIRATION 
 

 Council Member John Capoccia 

REPORT OUT FROM CLOSED SESSION  

 

 City Attorney report from the closed session. 

APPROVAL OF AGENDA 

 

 Vote of the Council to proceed with City business. 

MAYOR AND CITY COUNCIL REPORTS 

 

 Council Member activities relating to City business. 

 

PUBLIC COMMENT 

 

 Regarding items not on the Agenda. 
 

PRESENTATION  Report from San Gabriel Valley Mosquito and Vector 

Control Officer Jason Farned 

 

PRESENTATION  Update from Public Works Director Inman regarding 

water conservation and the City’s Water Quality 

Report 

   

ACTION ITEMS 

 

1. CONSENT  
 

  

 a) ADOPTION OF RESOLUTION 16-41 

OF THE CITY COUNCIL OF THE 

CITY OF SIERRA MADRE 

APPROVING CERTAIN DEMANDS 
 

 Recommendation that the City Council approve 

Resolution 16-41 for approval of payment of City 

Warrants in aggregate amount of $486,278.15; Library 

warrants in the aggregate amount of $12,401.94, and 

payroll transfer in the aggregate amount of $329,335.21 

for fiscal year ending June 2016. 
 

 b) CONSIDERATION OF RESOLUTION 

16-42: DESIGNATION OF VOTING 

DELEGATE AND ALTERNATE FOR 

2016 LEAGUE OF CALIFORNIA 

CITIES ANNUAL CONFERENCE 

AND BUSINESS MEETING 

 

 Recommendation that the City Council designate 

Council Member John Capoccia as the City’s Voting 

Delegate at the 2016 League of California Cities’ 

Annual Conference and Business meeting and appoint 

Council Member Denise Delmar as the Alternate 

Voting Delegate. 
 

 c) RESOLUTION 16-43: ACCEPTANCE 

OF THE JULY 2015 ACTUARIAL 

REPORT AND PREFUNDING 

SCHEDULE FOR FY 2015-2016 AND 

FY 2016-2017 

 

 Recommendation that the City Council approve 

Resolution 16-43, Accepting the July 15 Actuarial 

Report and Prefunding Schedule for FY 2015-2016 and 

FY 2016-2017, and the appropriation of fund balance 

up to $100,000 to pay for CalPERS California 

Employers’ Retiree Benefit Trust Fund. 
 

 d) CITY COUNCIL APPOINTMENT TO 

COLLABORATE PASADENA 

LEADERSHIP COUNCIL 

 

 Recommendation that the City Council appoint Council 

Member Capoccia as representative to serve on the 

Collaborate PASadena Leadership Council. 

 

http://cityofsierramadre.hosted.civiclive.com/common/pages/DisplayFile.aspx?itemId=4333455
http://cityofsierramadre.hosted.civiclive.com/common/pages/DisplayFile.aspx?itemId=4333455
http://cityofsierramadre.hosted.civiclive.com/common/pages/DisplayFile.aspx?itemId=4333455
http://cityofsierramadre.hosted.civiclive.com/common/pages/DisplayFile.aspx?itemId=4333455
http://cityofsierramadre.hosted.civiclive.com/common/pages/DisplayFile.aspx?itemId=4333453
http://cityofsierramadre.hosted.civiclive.com/common/pages/DisplayFile.aspx?itemId=4333453
http://cityofsierramadre.hosted.civiclive.com/common/pages/DisplayFile.aspx?itemId=4333453
http://cityofsierramadre.hosted.civiclive.com/common/pages/DisplayFile.aspx?itemId=4333453
http://cityofsierramadre.hosted.civiclive.com/common/pages/DisplayFile.aspx?itemId=4333453
http://cityofsierramadre.hosted.civiclive.com/common/pages/DisplayFile.aspx?itemId=4333453
http://cityofsierramadre.hosted.civiclive.com/common/pages/DisplayFile.aspx?itemId=4333451
http://cityofsierramadre.hosted.civiclive.com/common/pages/DisplayFile.aspx?itemId=4333451
http://cityofsierramadre.hosted.civiclive.com/common/pages/DisplayFile.aspx?itemId=4333451
http://cityofsierramadre.hosted.civiclive.com/common/pages/DisplayFile.aspx?itemId=4333451
http://cityofsierramadre.hosted.civiclive.com/common/pages/DisplayFile.aspx?itemId=4333451
http://cityofsierramadre.hosted.civiclive.com/common/pages/DisplayFile.aspx?itemId=4333449
http://cityofsierramadre.hosted.civiclive.com/common/pages/DisplayFile.aspx?itemId=4333449
http://cityofsierramadre.hosted.civiclive.com/common/pages/DisplayFile.aspx?itemId=4333449


 PUBLIC  HEARINGS 

 

  

2. CONSIDERATION OF RESOLUTION 16-44: 

ADOPTING THE FISCAL YEAR 2016-2017 

BUDGET  

 

CONSIDERATION OF RESOLUTION 16-45: 

APPROVING THE GANN 

APPROPRIATIONS LIMIT FOR FISCAL 

YEAR 2016-2017 

  

CONSIDERATION OF RESOLUTION 16-46: 

APPROVING THE FISCAL YEAR 2016-2017 

FEE  

 

CONSIDERATION OF RESOLUTION 16-47: 

APPROVING THE SALARY MATRIX 

 

CONSIDERATION OF PFA RESOLUTION 

69: 

THE PUBLIC FINANCING AUTHORITY 

ADOPTING THE FISCAL YEAR 2016-2017 

BUDGET 

 

 Recommendation that the City Council open a Public 

Hearing, and approve Resolution 16-44 Adopting 

the Fiscal Year 2016-2017 Budget and 

appropriating the amounts projected; Resolution 

16-45 Approving the GANN Appropriation Limits 

for Fiscal Year 2016-2017; Resolution 16-46 

Approving the Fiscal Year 2016-2017 Fee 

Schedule; Resolution 16-47 Approving an 

amendment to the Salary Matrix; and PFA 

Resolution 69 Adopting the Fiscal Year 2016-2017 

Budget by The Public Financing Authority.   

 

It is also recommended that the City Council 

provide staff with direction regarding the 

committees to study contract proposals and 

potential revenue options.  
 
 

3.  FIRST READING OF ORDINANCE 1377, 

MUNICIPAL CODE TEXT AMENDMENT 

16-02 AMENDING TITLE 17, CHAPTER 

17.28 – R3 ZONE OF THE SIERRA MADRE 

MUNICIPAL CODE 

 

 

 

 

 Recommendation that the City Council open a Public 

Hearing, introduce and approve for first reading by title 

only, waive further reading, Ordinance 1377.  

 

 ITEMS FOR DISCUSSION 

 

  

4. CONSIDERATION OF REAPPOINTMENT 

OF COMMISSIONERS AND BOARD 

MEMBERS 

 

 Recommendation that the City Council provide 

direction. 

5. POTENTIAL LOS ANGELES COUNTY 

PARK FUNDING MEASURE 2016 

 Recommendation that the City Council authorize the 

Mayor to send a letter to the Los Angeles County Board 

of Supervisors encouraging changes to the proposed 

funding measure. 

 
 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

http://cityofsierramadre.hosted.civiclive.com/common/pages/DisplayFile.aspx?itemId=4333445
http://cityofsierramadre.hosted.civiclive.com/common/pages/DisplayFile.aspx?itemId=4333445
http://cityofsierramadre.hosted.civiclive.com/common/pages/DisplayFile.aspx?itemId=4333445
http://cityofsierramadre.hosted.civiclive.com/common/pages/DisplayFile.aspx?itemId=4333445
http://cityofsierramadre.hosted.civiclive.com/common/pages/DisplayFile.aspx?itemId=4333445
http://cityofsierramadre.hosted.civiclive.com/common/pages/DisplayFile.aspx?itemId=4333445
http://cityofsierramadre.hosted.civiclive.com/common/pages/DisplayFile.aspx?itemId=4333445
http://cityofsierramadre.hosted.civiclive.com/common/pages/DisplayFile.aspx?itemId=4333445
http://cityofsierramadre.hosted.civiclive.com/common/pages/DisplayFile.aspx?itemId=4333445
http://cityofsierramadre.hosted.civiclive.com/common/pages/DisplayFile.aspx?itemId=4333445
http://cityofsierramadre.hosted.civiclive.com/common/pages/DisplayFile.aspx?itemId=4333445
http://cityofsierramadre.hosted.civiclive.com/common/pages/DisplayFile.aspx?itemId=4333445
http://cityofsierramadre.hosted.civiclive.com/common/pages/DisplayFile.aspx?itemId=4333445
http://cityofsierramadre.hosted.civiclive.com/common/pages/DisplayFile.aspx?itemId=4333445
http://cityofsierramadre.hosted.civiclive.com/common/pages/DisplayFile.aspx?itemId=4333445
http://cityofsierramadre.hosted.civiclive.com/common/pages/DisplayFile.aspx?itemId=4333445
http://cityofsierramadre.hosted.civiclive.com/common/pages/DisplayFile.aspx?itemId=4333445
http://cityofsierramadre.hosted.civiclive.com/common/pages/DisplayFile.aspx?itemId=4333445
http://cityofsierramadre.hosted.civiclive.com/common/pages/DisplayFile.aspx?itemId=4333445
http://cityofsierramadre.hosted.civiclive.com/common/pages/DisplayFile.aspx?itemId=4333445
http://cityofsierramadre.hosted.civiclive.com/common/pages/DisplayFile.aspx?itemId=4333443
http://cityofsierramadre.hosted.civiclive.com/common/pages/DisplayFile.aspx?itemId=4333443
http://cityofsierramadre.hosted.civiclive.com/common/pages/DisplayFile.aspx?itemId=4333443
http://cityofsierramadre.hosted.civiclive.com/common/pages/DisplayFile.aspx?itemId=4333443
http://cityofsierramadre.hosted.civiclive.com/common/pages/DisplayFile.aspx?itemId=4333443
http://cityofsierramadre.hosted.civiclive.com/common/pages/DisplayFile.aspx?itemId=4333441
http://cityofsierramadre.hosted.civiclive.com/common/pages/DisplayFile.aspx?itemId=4333441
http://cityofsierramadre.hosted.civiclive.com/common/pages/DisplayFile.aspx?itemId=4333441
http://cityofsierramadre.hosted.civiclive.com/common/pages/DisplayFile.aspx?itemId=4333439
http://cityofsierramadre.hosted.civiclive.com/common/pages/DisplayFile.aspx?itemId=4333439


ACTION ITEMS 

Regardless of staff recommendation on any agenda item, the City Council will consider such matters, 

including action to approve, conditionally approve, reject, or continue such item.   

 

PUBLIC HEARING 

The appellant and/or applicant will each be provided a total of ten (10) minutes to address their item.  

A portion of their allotted time may be reserved for rebuttal or a summary conclusion at the close of 

public comment.  All other speakers will be limited to a total of three continuous minutes, which 

cannot be delegated.   

 

AVAILABILITY OF AGENDA MATERIALS 

Materials related to items on this agenda are available for public inspection on the City’s website at 

www.cityofsierramadre.com, and during normal business hours at City Hall, 232 W. Sierra Madre 

Blvd. and at the Sierra Madre Public Library, 440 W. Sierra Madre Blvd. 

 

LIVE BROADCASTS 

Regular City Council meetings are broadcasted live on Cable Channel 3 and rebroadcast on 

Wednesday and Saturday at 5:30 p.m. 

 

MEETING ASSISTANCE 

If you require special assistance to participate in this meeting, please call the City Manager’s office at 

(626) 355-7135 at least 48 hours prior to the meeting. 

 

ADJOURNMENT 

The City Council will adjourn to a Regular Meeting at this same place on Tuesday, July 12, 2016 

http://www.cityofsierramadre.com/




















































Submitted June 2016

Actuarial Valuation of the Other 

City of Sierra Madre

Post-Employment Benefit Programs 

As of July 1, 2015 



    
Other Post‐Employment Benefit Programs of the City of Sierra Madre 

Actuarial Valuation as of July 1, 2015 

Table of Contents 

A.  Executive Summary ........................................................................................................................ 1 

B.  Requirements of GASB 45 .............................................................................................................. 3 

C.  Sources of OPEB Liabilities ............................................................................................................. 4 

OPEB Obligations of the City ..................................................................................................... 4 

D.  Valuation Process ........................................................................................................................... 5 

E.  Basic Valuation Results ................................................................................................................... 6 

Changes Since the Prior Valuation ............................................................................................ 6 

F.  Funding Policy ................................................................................................................................ 8 

Determination of the ARC ......................................................................................................... 8 

Decisions Affecting the Amortization Payment ........................................................................ 8 

Funding Policy Illustrated in This Report ................................................................................... 8 

Funding of the Implicit Subsidy ................................................................................................. 9 

G.  Choice of Actuarial Funding Method and Assumptions ............................................................... 10 

H.  Certification .................................................................................................................................. 11 

Table 1 .................................................................................................................................................. 12 

Table 1A ARC Calculation for FYE 2017 ................................................................................................ 13 

Table 1B Expected OPEB Disclosures for FYE 2017 .............................................................................. 14 

Table 1C ARC Calculation for FYE 2018 ................................................................................................ 15 

Table 1D Expected OPEB Disclosures for FYE 2018 ............................................................................. 16 

Table 2 Summary of Employee Data .................................................................................................... 17 

Table 3A Summary of Retiree Benefit Provisions ................................................................................ 19 

Table 3B General CalPERS Annuitant Eligibility Provisions .................................................................. 21 

Table 4 Actuarial Methods and Assumptions ...................................................................................... 22 

Table 5 Projected Benefit Payments .................................................................................................... 31 

Appendix 1 Breakout of Valuation Results by Group or Fund for FYE 2017 ........................................ 32 

Appendix 2 Expected Disclosures for Fiscal Year End June 30, 2016 .................................................. 33 

Appendix 3 General OPEB Disclosure and Required Supplementary Information .............................. 34 

Addendum 1: Bickmore Age Rating Methodology .............................................................................. 36 

Addendum 2: Bickmore Mortality Projection Methodology ............................................................... 37 

Glossary ................................................................................................................................................ 38 



    
Other Post‐Employment Benefit Programs of the City of Sierra Madre 

Actuarial Valuation as of July 1, 2015 

 

 1 

A. Executive Summary 
 
This report presents the results of the July 1, 2015 actuarial valuation of the City of Sierra Madre (the 
City) other post‐employment benefit  (OPEB) programs. The purposes of this valuation are to assess 
the  OPEB  liabilities  and  provide  disclosure  information  as  required  by  Statement  No.  45  of  the 
Governmental Accounting Standards Board (GASB 45) and to provide  information to be reported to 
the  California  Employers’  Retiree  Benefit  Trust  (CERBT).  This  report  reflects  the  valuation  of  two 
distinct types of OPEB liability. 
 

 An “explicit subsidy” exists when the employer contributes directly toward retiree healthcare 
premiums. In this program, benefits include a monthly subsidy toward medical premiums for 
eligible  retirees.  Future excise  taxes expected  to be paid  for  “high  cost”  coverage  are  also 
explicit costs and are included with explicit liabilities. 

 An “implicit subsidy” exists when the premiums charged for retiree coverage are  lower than 
the expected retiree claims for that coverage. Pre‐Medicare retirees able to continue medical 
coverage at the same premium rates as are charged for active employees creates an implicit 
benefit  subsidy  under  GASB  45.  This  is  the  first  valuation  required  to  include  the  implicit 
subsidy liability. 
 

How much  the  City  contributes  each  year  affects  the  calculation  of  liabilities.  The  City  has  been 
prefunding  its OPEB obligations by  consistently making  contributions  greater  than or  equal  to  the 
Annual Required Contribution (ARC) each year. The City has indicated its intent to shift investment of 
its CERBT  trust assets  from Asset Allocation Strategy 1  to Strategy 2. With  the City’s approval,  this 
valuation was prepared using a 6.73% discount rate; this is lower than the 7.5% rate used in the prior 
valuation and reflects a decrease  in the projected  long term return on trust assets. Please note that 
use of this rate is an assumption and not a guarantee of future investment performance. 
 

Exhibits  presented  in  this  report  reflect  our  understanding  that  the  results  of  this  July  1,  2015 
valuation will be applied in determining the City’s annual OPEB expense for its fiscal years ending June 
30, 2017 and 2018. Appendix 1 provides an updated development of  the  results  for  the  fiscal year 
ending June 30, 2016, based on the July 1, 2013 valuation and on OPEB contributions expected to be 
made prior to June 30, 2016. 
 

The Actuarial Accrued Liability and Assets as of July 1, 2015 are shown below:   

Subsidy

Discount Rate 6.73% 6.73% 6.73%

Actuarial Accrued Liability  $ 1,156,946      $ 621,007          $ 1,777,953     

Actuarial Value of Assets   1,363,276        ‐                    1,363,276     

Unfunded Actuarial Accrued Liability    (206,330)          621,007          414,677         

Funded Ratio 117.8% 0.0% 76.7%

Explicit Implicit Total

 

 

The following summarizes results for the fiscal year ending June 30, 2017: 

Subsidy

Annual Required Contribution (ARC) for FYE 2017 $ 49,335           $ 99,014           $ 148,349        

Expected employer paid benefits for retirees 57,240           ‐                  57,240          

Current year's implicit subsidy credit   ‐                 46,831             46,831          

Expected contribution to OPEB trust   (7,905)            52,183             44,278          

Expected net OPEB  obligation at June 30, 2017   (286,616)       ‐                    (286,616)       

Explicit Implicit Total

 



    
Other Post‐Employment Benefit Programs of the City of Sierra Madre 

Actuarial Valuation as of July 1, 2015 

 

 2 

Executive Summary 
(Concluded) 
 
Detailed results are shown in tables beginning on page 13.  Additional information to facilitate OPEB 
reporting in the City’s financial statements is provided in the Appendices. 
 
The liabilities shown in the report reflect assumptions regarding continued future employment, rates 
of  retirement  and  survival,  and elections by  future  retirees  to  retain  coverage  for  themselves  and 
their  dependents.  Please  note  that  this  valuation  has  been  prepared  on  a  closed  group  basis;  no 
provision is generally made for new employees until the valuation date following their employment. 
 
An exhibit comparing current valuation results to those from the prior valuation is provided on page 
7, followed by a description of changes. An actuarial valuation is, by its nature, a projection and to the 
extent that actual experience is not what we assumed, future results will be different.  Some possible 
sources of future differences may include: 

 A significant change in the number of covered or eligible plan members;  

 A  significant  increase  or  decrease  in  the  future medical  premium  rates  or  in  the  subsidy 
provided by the City toward retiree medical premiums; 

 Longer life expectancies of retirees; 

 Significant changes in expected retiree healthcare claims by age, relative to healthcare claims 
for active employees and their dependents; 

 Higher or lower returns on plan assets or contribution levels other than were assumed; and 

 Implementation of GASB 75,  the new OPEB accounting standard, which should be not  later 
than  the  City’s  fiscal  year  ending  June  30,  2018. One  key  change moves  reporting  of  the 
unfunded OPEB liability from a footnote to the balance sheet. 

 
Details of our valuation process and the various disclosures required by GASB 45 are provided on the 
succeeding pages.   The next valuation  is scheduled to be prepared as of July 1, 2017 as required for 
continued participation in CERBT. If there are any significant changes in the employee data, benefits 
provided  or  the  funding  policy,  please  contact  us  to  discuss  whether  an  earlier  valuation  is 
appropriate. 
 

Important Notices  

This  report  is  intended  to  be  used  only  to  present  the  actuarial  information  relating  to  other 
postemployment benefits  for the City’s  financial statements and to provide the annual contribution 
information with respect to the City’s current OPEB funding policy. The results of this report may not 
be  appropriate  for  other  purposes,  where  other  assumptions,  methodology  and/or  actuarial 
standards of practice may be  required or more  suitable. We note  that various  issues  in  this  report 
may  involve  legal analysis of applicable  law or regulations. The City should consult counsel on these 
matters; Bickmore does not practice  law and does not  intend anything  in  this  report  to  constitute 
legal  advice.  In  addition,  we  recommend  the  City  consult  with  their  internal  accounting  staff  or 
external auditor or accounting firm about the accounting treatment of OPEB liabilities. 

 



    
Other Post‐Employment Benefit Programs of the City of Sierra Madre 

Actuarial Valuation as of July 1, 2015 

 

 3 

B. Requirements of GASB 45 
 
The Governmental Accounting Standards Board  (GASB)  issued GASB Statement No. 45, Accounting 
and  Financial  Reporting  by  Employers  for  Postemployment  Benefits  Other  Than  Pensions.    This 
Statement  establishes  standards  for  the  measurement,  recognition,  and  display  of  OPEB 
expense/expenditures  and  related  liabilities  (assets),  note  disclosures,  and,  if  applicable,  required 
supplementary  information (RSI)  in the financial reports of state and  local governmental employers. 
The underlying intent of GASB 45 is to systematically recognize the projected cost of OPEB during the 
years employees are working, rather than over the years when the benefits would be paid.  
 
We  understand  that  the  City  implemented GASB  45  for  the  fiscal  year  ended  June  30,  2009.  For 
agencies with fewer than 200 members covered by or eligible for plan benefits, GASB 45 requires that 
a valuation be prepared no  less frequently than every three years. However, participation  in CERBT 
requires  that  valuations  be  performed  every  two  years.  GASB  45  disclosures  include  the 
determination of an annual OPEB cost. For the first year, the annual OPEB cost is equal to the annual 
required contribution (ARC) as determined by the actuary. 

 If the City’s OPEB contributions had been equal to the ARC each year, the net OPEB obligation 
would equal $0. 

 If the City’s actual contribution is less than (greater than) the ARC, then a net OPEB obligation 
(asset)  amount  is  established.  In  subsequent  years,  the  annual  OPEB  expense will  reflect 
adjustments made to the net OPEB obligation, in addition to the ARC (see Tables 1B and 1D). 

 
GASB 45 provides for recognition of payments as contributions if they are made (a) directly to retirees 
or beneficiaries, (b) to an insurer, e.g., for the payment of premiums, or (c) to an OPEB fund set aside 
toward  the  cost  of  future  benefits.  Funds  set  aside  for  future  benefits  should  be  considered 
contributions to an OPEB plan only if the vehicle established is one that is capable of building assets 
that are separate from and independent of the control of the employer and legally protected from its 
creditors. Furthermore, the sole purpose of the assets should be to provide benefits under the plan. 
These conditions generally  require  the establishment of a  legal  trust,  such as  the City’s OPEB  trust 
account with  CERBT.  Earmarked  assets  or  reserves may  be  an  important  step  in  financing  future 
benefits, but they may not be recognized as an asset for purposes of reporting under GASB 45. 
 
We  reiterate  that  GASB  45  applies  only  to  the  expense  to  be  charged  to  an  agency’s  income 
statements  and  to  providing  other  related  liability  disclosures.  While  the  Annual  Required 
Contribution  typically comprises  the majority of  the annual OPEB expense,  it  is a  theoretical, not a 
required contribution amount. The decision whether or not to prefund, and at what  level,  is at the 
discretion of the City, as are the manner and term for paying down the unfunded actuarial accrued 
liability. Once a funding policy has been established, however, the City’s auditor may have an opinion 
as to the timing and manner of any change to such policy in future years. The level of prefunding also 
affects the selection of the discount rate used for valuing the liabilities. 
 
New GASB Statement 75, issued in June 2015, will impact the liabilities and/or expenses developed in 
future valuations and require changes beginning with the City’s fiscal year end 2018 reporting. Those 
calculations are outside the scope of this report. 



    
Other Post‐Employment Benefit Programs of the City of Sierra Madre 

Actuarial Valuation as of July 1, 2015 

 

 4 

Agency portion of premium

Explicit subsidy

Covered by higher 

active premiums

Implicit subsidy

Expected retiree claims

Premium charged for retiree coverage

Retiree portion of premium

C. Sources of OPEB Liabilities 
 
General Types of OPEB 

Post‐employment  benefits  other  than  pensions  (OPEB)  comprise  a  part  of  compensation  that 
employers offer for services received. The most common OPEB are medical, prescription drug, dental, 
vision, and/or life insurance coverage. Other OPEB may include outside group legal, long‐term care, or 
disability benefits outside of a pension plan. OPEB does not generally  include COBRA, vacation, sick 
leave1 or other direct retiree payments which fall under other GASB accounting statements. 
 
A direct employer payment toward the cost of OPEB benefits is referred to as an “explicit subsidy”. In 
addition, if claims experience of employees and retirees are pooled when determining premiums, the 
retirees pay a premium based on a pool of members that, on average, are younger and healthier.  For 
some coverage, such as medical insurance, this results in an “implicit subsidy” of retiree premiums by 
active  employee  premiums  since  the  retiree  premiums  are  lower  than  they  would  have  been  if 
retirees were insured separately. Paragraph 13.a. of GASB 45 generally requires an implicit subsidy of 
retiree premium rates be valued as an OPEB liability.   
 

This  chart  shows  the 
sources  of  funds 
needed  to  cover 
expected  claims  for  
pre‐Medicare retirees.   
 
 

For actuarial valuations dated prior to March 31, 2015, an exception existed for plan employers with a 
very  small membership  in  a  large  “community‐rated”  healthcare  program.  Following  a  change  in 
Actuarial Standards of Practice, GASB no  longer offers  this exception. This change had a significant 
impact on this valuation of the City’s OPEB liability. 
 

OPEB Obligations of the City  

The City provides continuation of medical coverage to its retiring employees, which may create one or 
both of the following types OPEB liabilities:  

 Explicit subsidy liabilities: The City contributes directly to the cost of retiree medical coverage, as 
described in Table 3A. These explicit subsidy liabilities have been included in this valuation.  

 Implicit  subsidy  liabilities: Employees  are  covered by  the CalPERS medical program. The  same 
monthly premiums are charged for active employees and for pre‐Medicare retirees; CalPERS has 
confirmed  that  the claims experience of  these members  is considered  together  in setting  these 
premium rates. We determine the implicit rate subsidy for pre‐Medicare retirees as the projected 
difference between  (a) retiree medical claim costs by age and  (b) premiums charged  for retiree 
coverage. See Table 4 and Addendum 1: Bickmore Healthcare Claims Age Rating Methodology.  

Different  monthly  premiums  are  charged  for  Medicare‐eligible  members  and  CalPERS  has 
confirmed  that only  the claims experience of  these Medicare eligible members  is considered  in 
setting these premium rates. We have assumed that this premium structure is adequate to cover 
the expected claims of these retirees and believe that there is no implicit subsidy of premiums for 
these members by active employees. 

                                               
1 Unless unused sick leave credits are converted to provide or enhance a defined benefit OPEB. 



    
Other Post‐Employment Benefit Programs of the City of Sierra Madre 

Actuarial Valuation as of July 1, 2015 

 

 5 

D. Valuation Process 
 

The valuation has been based on employee census data and benefits initially submitted to us by the 
City in March 2016 and clarified in various related communications. A summary of the employee data 
is provided in Table 2 and a summary of the benefits provided under the Plan is provided in Table 3A. 
While  individual employee records have been reviewed to verify that they are reasonable  in various 
respects, the data has not been audited and we have otherwise relied on the City as to its accuracy. 
The valuation described below has been performed  in accordance with  the actuarial methods and 
assumptions described in Table 4.  
 

In projecting benefit values and liabilities, we first determine an expected premium or benefit stream 
over the employee’s future retirement. Benefits may include both direct employer payments (explicit 
subsidies) and/or an implicit subsidy, arising when retiree premiums are expected to be subsidized by 
active employee premiums. The projected benefit streams reflect assumed trends in the cost of those 
benefits  and  assumptions  as  to  the  expected  date(s)  when  benefits  will  end.  We  then  apply 
assumptions regarding: 

 The probability that each individual employee will or will not continue in service with the City 
to receive benefits. 

 To the extent assumed to retire from the City, the probability of various possible retirement 
dates for each retiree, based on current age, service and employee type; and 

 The  likelihood  that  future  retirees will  or will not  elect  retiree  coverage  (and  benefits)  for 
themselves and/or their dependents. 

 

We then calculate a present value of these benefits by discounting the value of each future expected 
benefit payment, multiplied by  the assumed expectation  that  it will be paid, back  to  the valuation 
date using the discount rate.  These benefit projections and liabilities have a very long time horizon.  
The final payments for currently active employees may not be made for 60 years or more. 
 

The resulting present value for each employee is allocated as a level percent of payroll each year over 
the employee’s career using the entry age normal cost method and the amounts for each  individual 
are then summed to get the results for the entire plan.  This creates a cost expected to increase each 
year as payroll increases. Amounts attributed to prior fiscal years form the “actuarial accrued liability” 
(AAL). The amount of future OPEB cost allocated for active employees in the current year is referred 
to  as  the  “normal  cost”.    The  remaining  active  cost  to  be  assigned  to  future  years  is  called  the 
“present value of future normal costs”.  

In summary: 

Actuarial Accrued Liability  Past Years’ Cost Allocations         Actives and Retirees 
plus Normal Cost  Current Year’s Cost Allocation     Actives only 
plus Present Value of Future Normal Costs  Future Years’ Cost Allocations     Actives only_____      

equals Present Value of Projected Benefits  Total Benefit Costs                         Actives and Retirees 
 

Where contributions have been made  to an  irrevocable OPEB  trust,  the accumulated value of  trust 
assets is applied to offset the AAL. In this valuation, we set the Actuarial Value of Assets equal to the 
market value of assets invested in in the City’s CERBT account. The market value reported as of June 
30, 2015 was $1,363,276. The portion of the AAL not covered by assets is referred to as the unfunded 
actuarial accrued liability (UAAL).  



    
Other Post‐Employment Benefit Programs of the City of Sierra Madre 

Actuarial Valuation as of July 1, 2015 

 

 6 

E. Basic Valuation Results 
 
The following chart compares the results of the July 1, 2015 valuation of OPEB liabilities to the results 
of the July 1, 2013 valuation.   

Funding Policy

Subsidy

Discount rate 7.50% 6.73% 6.73% 6.73%

Actives 60               84               83                 84              

Retirees 19               17               10                 17              

Total Participants 79               101             93                 101            

Actives $ 958,178     $ 1,166,480  $ 835,680       $ 2,002,160 

Retirees 581,175     475,392     188,105       663,497    

Total APVPB 1,539,353  1,641,872  1,023,785    2,665,657 

Actives 600,131     681,554     432,902       1,114,456 

Retirees 581,175     475,392     188,105       663,497    

Total AAL 1,181,306  1,156,946  621,007       1,777,953 

Actuarial Value of Assets 896,496       1,363,276    ‐                1,363,276   

Unfunded AAL (UAAL)     284,810       (206,330)      621,007       414,677      

Normal Cost  48,416         58,503         45,559         104,062      

Percent funded 75.9% 117.8% 0.0% 76.7%

Reported covered payroll 3,688,531  3,980,400  3,980,400    3,980,400 

UAAL as percent of payroll 7.7% ‐5.2% 15.6% 10.4%

Actuarial Accrued Liability (AAL)

Explicit Explicit Implicit Total

Number of Covered Employees

Actuarial Present Value of  Projected Benefits 

Prefunding Basis

Valuation date 7/1/2013 7/1/2015

 

Note: The explicit  subsidy AAL as of  July 1, 2015  includes about $4,000  in projected excise  tax  liability  for  retirees 
expected to be covered by “high cost” plans under the Affordable Care Act.  

 
Changes Since the Prior Valuation 

Even  if all of our previous assumptions were met exactly as projected,  liabilities generally  increase 
over time as active employees get closer to the date their benefits are expected to begin.  Given the 
uncertainties  involved  and  the  long  term  nature  of  these  projections,  our  prior  assumptions  are 
unlikely to ever be exactly realized. Nonetheless, it is helpful to review why results are different than 
we anticipated. 
 
In comparing  results  shown  in  the exhibit above, we can  see  that  the Unfunded Actuarial Accrued 
Liability  (UAAL)  increased by about $130,000,  from  roughly $285,000  to $415,000 between  July 1, 
2013  and  July  1,  2015.  During  this  period,  however,  additional  costs  were  accrued  for  active 
employees, present values were adjusted for the passage of time, significant new contributions were 
made  to  the  trust and benefits were paid  to  retirees. From  this activity, we expected  the UAAL  to 
decrease  by  $296,000,  from  $285,000  to  ($11,000).  Thus,  the  $415,000  actual  UAAL  is  $426,000 
higher than expected.  



    
Other Post‐Employment Benefit Programs of the City of Sierra Madre 

Actuarial Valuation as of July 1, 2015 

 

 7 

Basic Valuation Results 
(Concluded) 
 
The difference between actual and expected UAAL is primarily a result of the following factors: 
 

 A $621,000 increase in the AAL to begin recognizing the implicit subsidy of medical coverage 
for  current  and  future  retirees  prior  to  becoming  eligible  for Medicare;  in  developing  this 
liability, we added assumptions regarding expected claims cost by age and gender as well as 
expected future increases in medical premiums;  

 A $99,000  increase  in  the AAL due  to a change  in discount  rates used  to develop  the OPEB 
liability, from 7.5% to 6.73%; this discount rate reflects a decrease in the expected long term 
return on trust assets; 

 A $64,000 decrease  in  the AAL due  to  revised assumptions  for  future disability and  service 
retirements, based on  the  January 2014 CalPERS  retirement plan experience study covering 
City employees; we also updated our projection of  future  improvements  in  future mortality 
rates and decreased our assumption regarding the percentage of  future retirees who would 
elect to cover a spouse, from 65% to 35%, based on a review of recent plan experience; 

The remaining $230,000 decrease in the UAAL is due to a combination of these additional changes: 

‐ Revisions  to  how  retiree  benefits  are  determined  prior  to  age  65,  following  clarification  of 
current practice with the City;  

‐ Changes to the percentage of employees assumed to continue coverage  in retirement, when 
eligible only for the required PEMHCA benefits; and 

‐ Plan experience relative to prior assumptions. Plan experience includes factors such as changes 
in plan membership, retiree elections and changes in medical premiums and limits on benefits 
other than previously projected as well as the addition of new employees hired since July 2013.  
Plan  experience  also  includes  asset performance  relative  to  the expected  contributions  and 
rate of return. The return on trust assets appears to be slightly better than the expected long 
term rate of return of 7.5% per year, with the actual return closer to 7.8% per year over this 
period.  

  



    
Other Post‐Employment Benefit Programs of the City of Sierra Madre 

Actuarial Valuation as of July 1, 2015 

 

 8 

F. Funding Policy 
 
The specific calculation of the ARC and annual OPEB expense for an employer depends on how the 
employer elects to fund these benefits. The funding levels can generally be categorized as follows:  

1. Prefunding ‐ contributing an amount greater than or equal to the ARC each year. Prefunding 
generally  allows  the employer  to have  the  liability  calculated using  a higher discount  rate, 
which in turn lowers the liability. In addition, following a prefunding policy does not build up a 
net OPEB  obligation  (or  gradually  reduces  it  to  $0).  Prefunding  results  in  this  report were 
developed using a discount rate of 6.73%. 

2. Pay‐As‐You‐Go funding – contributing only the amounts needed to pay retiree benefits in the 
current year; generally requires a lower discount rate, such as 4.0%.  

3. Partial prefunding – contributing more than the current year’s retiree payments but less than 
100% of the ARC; requires that liabilities be developed using a discount rate that “blends” the 
relative portions of benefits that are prefunded and those not. 

 
Determination of the ARC  

The Annual Required Contribution (ARC) consists of two basic components, which have been adjusted 
with interest to the City’s fiscal year end: 

 The amounts attributed to service performed in the current fiscal year (the normal cost) and 
 

 Amortization of the unfunded actuarial accrued liability (UAAL). 

ARCs for the fiscal years ending June 30, 2017 and June 30, 2018 are developed in Tables 1A and 1C.  
 
Decisions Affecting the Amortization Payment  

The period and method for amortizing the AAL can significantly affect the ARC. GASB 45: 

 Prescribes  a  maximum  amortization  period  of  30  years and  requires  no  minimum 
amortization period (except 10 years for certain actuarial gains). Immediate full funding of the 
liability  is also permitted. This City opted to prefund the full AAL  (past service  liability) as of 
June 30, 2014. 

 Allows amortization payments to be determined (a) as a level percentage of payroll, designed 
to  increase  over  time  as  payroll  increases,  or  (b)  as  a  level  dollar  amount  much  like  a 
conventional mortgage,  so  that  this  component  of  the  ARC  does  not  increase  over  time. 
Where a plan is closed and has no ongoing payroll base, a level percent of payroll basis is not 
permitted. 

 Allows  the  amortization  period  to  decrease  annually  by  one  year  (closed  basis)  or  to  be 
maintained at the same number of years (open basis).   

 
Funding Policy Illustrated in This Report 

The City fully funded the  initial unfunded actuarial accrued  liability during  its fiscal year ended June 
30,  2014.  The  City  established  a  new  closed  20  year  amortization  period  to  amortize  subsequent 
changes in the UAAL, effective July 1, 2016. Amortization payments are determined on a level percent 
of pay basis. 



    
Other Post‐Employment Benefit Programs of the City of Sierra Madre 

Actuarial Valuation as of July 1, 2015 

 

 9 

Funding Policy 
(Concluded) 
 
Funding of the Implicit Subsidy 

The  implicit  subsidy  liability  created  when  expected  retiree  medical  insurance  claims  exceed  the 
retiree  premiums  was  described  earlier  in  Section  C.  In  practical  terms,  when  the  City  pays  the 
premiums  for  active  employees  each  year,  their  premiums  include  an  amount  expected  to  be 
transferred to cover the portion of the retirees’ claims not covered by their premiums. This transfer 
represents  the  current year’s  implicit  subsidy. Paragraph 13.g. of GASB 45 allows  for  recognition of 
payments to an  irrevocable trust or directly to the  insurer as an employer’s contribution to the ARC. 
We have estimated  current year’s  implicit  subsidy and  recommend netting  this amount against  the 
funding requirement for the implicit subsidy (see Tables 1B and 1D). 
 
The following hypothetical example illustrates this treatment:  
 

For Active 

Employees

For Retired 

Employees Total

Annual Agency Contribution Toward Premiums 600,000$           50,000$              650,000$       

Current Year's Implicit Subsidy Adjustment (45,000)$            45,000$              ‐$                

Adjusted contributions reported in Financial Stmts 555,000$           95,000$              650,000$       

Hypothetical Illustration 

Of Implicit Subsidy Recognition

 
 

While  total Agency contributions paid  toward active and  retired employee healthcare premiums  in 
this  example  are  the  same,  by  shifting  the  recognition  of  the  current  year's  implicit  subsidy  from 
actives to retirees, this amount may be recognized as a contribution toward the OPEB ARC. 
 
There  is a  larger question about whether or not  the City will want  to prefund  the  implicit  subsidy 
liability. Some possible options include: 

 Prefunding 100% of the ARC relating to both the explicit subsidy and implicit subsidy liabilities. 
It  is  our  understanding  that,  for  the  next  several  years  at  least,  the  City  will  follow  this 
approach. 

 Prefunding 100% of  the ARC developed  for  the explicit  subsidy  liability, but not prefund  the 
implicit  subsidy  liability. We  believe  this  approach  would  require  determining  the  implicit 
subsidy liability using a pay‐as‐you‐go discount rate (e.g., 4.0% rather than the 6.73%).  

 
We are available to review these options further with the City. 



    
Other Post‐Employment Benefit Programs of the City of Sierra Madre 

Actuarial Valuation as of July 1, 2015 

 

 10

G. Choice of Actuarial Funding Method and Assumptions 
 
The ultimate real cost of an employee benefit plan is the value of all benefits and other expenses of 
the plan over  its  lifetime. These expenditures are dependent only on the terms of the plan and the 
administrative arrangements adopted, and as such are not affected by the actuarial funding method. 
The actuarial funding method attempts to spread recognition of these expected costs on a level basis 
over the life of the plan, and as such sets the “incidence of cost”. Methods that produce higher initial 
annual  (prefunding) costs will produce  lower annual costs  later. Conversely, methods  that produce 
lower  initial  costs will  produce  higher  annual  costs  later  relative  to  the  other methods. GASB  45 
allows the use of any of six actuarial funding methods; a brief description of each is in the glossary.     
 
Factors Impacting the Selection of Funding Method 

While the goal of GASB 45 is to match recognition of retiree medical expense with the periods during 
which  the  benefit  is  earned,  the  funding methods  differ  because  they  focus  on  different  financial 
measures  in  attempting  to  level  the  incidence of  cost. Appropriate  selection of  a  funding method 
contributes  to  creating  intergenerational  equity  between  generations  of  taxpayers.  The  impact  of 
potential new employees entering the plan may also affect selection of a funding method, though this 
is not a factor in this plan. 
 
We believe it is most appropriate for the plan sponsor to adopt a theory of funding and consistently 
apply the funding method representing that theory. This valuation was prepared using the entry age 
normal  cost method with normal  cost determined on a  level percent of pay basis.   The entry age 
normal cost method often produces  initial contributions between those of the other more common 
methods and  is generally regarded by pension actuaries as the most stable of the funding methods 
and is one of the most commonly used methods for GASB 45 compliance.  
 
Factors Affecting the Selection of Assumptions 

Special considerations apply  to  the selection of actuarial  funding methods and assumptions  for  the 
City. The actuarial assumptions used in this report were chosen, for the most part, to be the same as 
the  actuarial  assumptions  used  for  the most  recent  actuarial  valuations  of  the  retirement  plans 
covering City employees. CalPERS has previously  issued a set of standardized actuarial methods and 
assumptions to be used by entities participating in CERBT and many assumptions used in this report 
for GASB 45  analysis  are  also  consistent with  that  assumption model. Other  assumptions,  such  as 
healthcare trend, age related healthcare claims, retiree participation rates and spouse coverage, were 
selected  based  on  demonstrated  plan  experience  and/or  our  best  estimate  of  expected  future 
experience.  We  will  continue  to  gather  information  and  monitor  these  assumptions  for  future 
valuations, as more experience develops. 
 
In selecting an appropriate discount rate, GASB states that the discount rate should be based on the 
expected  long‐term yield of  investments used  to  finance  the benefits. CERBT provides participating 
employers with  three possible  asset  allocation  strategies;  a maximum discount  rate  is  assigned  to 
each of these strategies, which may be rounded or reduced to include a margin for adverse deviation. 
As requested by the City and permitted by CERBT where its asset allocation Strategy #2 is employed, 
the discount rate used in this valuation is 6.73%. 
 



    
Other Post‐Employment Benefit Programs of the City of Sierra Madre 

Actuarial Valuation as of July 1, 2015 

 

 11

H. Certification 
 
This  report  presents  the  results  of  our  actuarial  valuation  of  the  other  post‐employment  benefits 
provided  by  the  City  of  Sierra Madre.  The  purpose  of  this  valuation was  to  provide  the  actuarial 
information  required  for  the City’s  reporting under Statement 45 of  the Governmental Accounting 
Standards Board. The  calculations were  focused on determining  the plan’s  funded  status as of  the 
valuation date, developing the Annual Required Contribution and projecting the Net OPEB Obligations 
for the years to which this report is expected to be applied. 
 
We certify that this report has been prepared  in accordance with our understanding of GASB 45. To 
the  best  of  our  knowledge,  the  report  is  complete  and  accurate,  based  upon  the  data  and  plan 
provisions provided to us by the City. We believe the assumptions and method used are reasonable 
and appropriate for purposes of the financial reporting required by GASB 45. The results may not be 
appropriate for other purposes.   
 
Each  of  the  undersigned  individuals  is  a  Fellow  in  the  Society  of  Actuaries  and Member  of  the 
American Academy of Actuaries who satisfies the Academy Qualification Standards for rendering this 
opinion. 
 
 
Signed:  June 9, 2016           
 
 

                     
Catherine L. MacLeod, FSA, FCA, EA, MAAA             Francis M. Schauer Jr., FSA, FCA, EA, MAAA   

 

  

 

  

 

 
 
 
 
 



    
Other Post‐Employment Benefit Programs of the City of Sierra Madre 

Actuarial Valuation as of July 1, 2015 

 

 12

Table 1 
 
Results for fiscal year ending 2016: The annual required contribution (ARC) and annual OPEB expense 
(AOE)  for  the  City’s  fiscal  year  ending  June  30,  2016  were  developed  as  part  of  the  July  2013 
valuation, but the financial statement for that period has not yet been finalized. We have illustrated 
what we anticipate will be reported  for OPEB under GASB 45 as of June 30, 2016 and  included this 
information  in Appendix 2. We use the net OPEB asset projected from this Appendix as the starting 
point for developing the net OPEB asset as of June 30, 2017, shown in Table 1B. 
 
Results  for  fiscal  years  2017  and  2018:  The  basic  results  of  our  July  1,  2015  valuation  of  OPEB 
liabilities  for  the  City  calculated  under GASB  45 were  summarized  in  Section  E.  Those  results  are 
applied to develop the ARC, AOE and the net OPEB obligation (NOO) or net OPEB asset (NOA) to be 
reported by the City for  its fiscal years ending June 30, 2017 and June 30, 2018. As noted earlier  in 
this report,  

 The  development  of  the ARC  reflects  the  assumption  that  the  City will  contribute  at  least 
100% of the total ARC each year, with contributions comprised of:  

‐ direct payments to insurers toward retiree premiums,  
‐ each current year’s implicit subsidy, and  
‐ contributions to the OPEB trust. 

If  this  understanding  is  incorrect  or  if  actual  City  contributions  differ  by  more  than  an 
immaterial amount, some of the results in this report will need to be revised. 

 GASB 75 will not necessarily impact the development of results for funding purposes but will 
change the development of the OPEB liability and expense information to be reported by the 
City  in  its financial statements for the fiscal year ending June 30, 2018. That  information will 
need to be developed at a later date and is outside the scope of this report. 

  
Employees  reflected  in  future years’  costs: The counts of active employees and  retirees  shown  in 
Tables 1A and 1C are the same as the counts of active and retired employees on the valuation date. 
While we do not adjust these counts between valuation dates, the liabilities and costs developed for 
those  years  already  anticipate  the  likelihood  that  some  active  employees may  leave  employment 
forfeiting  benefits,  some  may  retire  and  elect  benefits  and  coverage  for  some  of  the  retired 
employees may cease.  However, because this valuation has been prepared on a closed group basis, 
no  potential  future  employees  are  included. We will  incorporate  any  new  employees  in  the  next 
valuation,  in  the  same  way  we  included  new  employees  hired  after  July  2013  in  this  July  2015 
valuation. 
 

We also note that the number of active employees and retirees expected to create an implicit subsidy 
OPEB  liability are  lower than the number of those which create an explicit subsidy  liability. CalPERS 
medical premiums for those over age 65 (active or retired) and expected to be eligible for Medicare 
are  not  subsidized  by  active  employee  medical  premiums,  so  do  not  create  an  implicit  subsidy 
liability. 
 



    
Other Post‐Employment Benefit Programs of the City of Sierra Madre 

Actuarial Valuation as of July 1, 2015 

 

 13

Table 1A 
ARC Calculation for FYE 2017 

 

The  table below develops  the ARC  for  the City’s  fiscal year ending  June 30, 2017 determined on a 
prefunding  basis,  based  on  a  “roll  forward”  of  the  July  1,  2015  valuation  results.  Calculations  are 
shown separately, and in total, relating to Explicit and Implicit OPEB benefits.   
 

Funding Policy

Subsidy

For fiscal year beginning 7/1/2016 7/1/2016 7/1/2016

For fiscal year ending 6/30/2017 6/30/2017 6/30/2017

Expected long‐term return on assets 6.73% 6.73% 6.73%

Discount rate 6.73% 6.73% 6.73%

Actives 84                  83                   84                  

Retirees 18                  11                   18                  

Total Participants 102                94                   102                

Actives $ 1,240,457     $ 888,189        $ 2,128,646     

Retirees 463,128        159,225        622,353        

Total APVPB 1,703,585     1,047,414     2,750,999     

Actives 785,336        506,929        1,292,265     

Retirees 463,128        159,225        622,353        

Total AAL 1,248,464     666,154        1,914,618     

Actuarial Value of Assets 1,455,024       ‐                   1,455,024      

Unfunded AAL (UAAL)     (206,560)         666,154          459,594         

Normal Cost 60,404            47,040            107,444         

Amortization method Level % of Pay 0 0

Initial amortization period (in years) 20                  20                   20                  

Remaining period (in years) 20                  20                   20                  

UAAL $ (206,560)       $ 666,154        $ 459,594        

Factor 14.5667        14.5667        14.5667        

Payment (14,180)         45,731          31,551          

Normal Cost 60,404          47,040          107,444        

Amortization of UAAL (14,180)         45,731          31,551          

Interest to fiscal year end 3,111             6,243              9,354             

49,335            99,014            148,349         

Projected covered payroll $ 4,109,763     $ 4,109,763     $ 4,109,763     

1.5% 1.1% 2.6%

ARC as a percent of payroll 1.2% 2.4% 3.6%
ARC per active ee 587                1,193              1,766             

Normal Cost as a percent of payroll

Total ARC at fiscal year end

Prefunding Basis

Valuation date 7/1/2015

Explicit Implicit Total

Number of Covered Employees

Actuarial Present Value of  Projected Benefits 

Actuarial Accrued Liability (AAL)

Determination of Amortization Payment

Annual Required Contribution (ARC)

 



    
Other Post‐Employment Benefit Programs of the City of Sierra Madre 

Actuarial Valuation as of July 1, 2015 

 

 14

Table 1B 
Expected OPEB Disclosures for FYE 2017 

 
The following exhibit develops the annual OPEB expense, estimates the expected OPEB contributions 
and projects  the net OPEB obligation as of  June 30, 2017  reflecting  the assumed prefunding policy 
described in this report.   
 

Fiscal Year End

Subsidy

  1. Calculation of the Annual OPEB Expense

  a.  $ 49,335          $ 99,014           $ 148,349        

b.  (19,405)         ‐                  (19,405)         

c. 21,127          ‐                  21,127          

d. 51,057          99,014           150,071        

  2. Calculation of Expected Contribution

  a.  Estimated payments on behalf of retirees 57,240          ‐                  57,240          

b.  Estimated current year's implicit subsidy ‐                 46,831           46,831          

  c.  Estimated contribution to OPEB trust (7,905)           52,183           44,278          

  d. Total Expected Employer Contribution 49,335          99,014           148,349        

  3. Change in Net OPEB Obligation (1.d. minus 2.d.) 1,722             ‐                  1,722             

Net OPEB Obligation (Asset), beginning of fiscal year (288,338)         ‐                   (288,338)        

Net OPEB Obligation (Asset) at fiscal year end (286,616)         ‐                   (286,616)        

ARC for current fiscal year

Interest on Net OPEB Obligation (Asset)

Adjustment to the ARC

Annual OPEB Expense (a. + b. + c.)

Prefunding Basis

6/30/2017 6/30/2017 6/30/2017

Explicit Implicit Total

 
 
 In the table above, we assumed that the City would contribute 100% of the total ARC of $148,349.  

‐ We assumed that the City would take credit for the $46,831 current year’s implicit subsidy as 
an  OPEB  contribution  by  shifting  recognition  of  this  amount  from  an  active  healthcare 
expense to a retiree healthcare benefit expense. If so, this would reduce the City’s total cash 
outlay to fund the full ARC to $101,518. 

‐ Funding 100% of  the ARC may  require adjusting  the estimated $44,278 contribution  to  the 
trust  if  actual  retiree  benefit  payments  are  higher  or  lower  than  projected  payments  of 
$57,240 shown above.  

 

Notes on calculations above:  

 Interest  on  the  net  OPEB  obligation  (or  asset),  shown  above  in  item  1.b.  is  equal  to  the 
applicable  discount  rate  (6.73%)  multiplied  by  the  net  OPEB  obligation  (or  asset)  at  the 
beginning of the year.  

 The Adjustment to the ARC, shown above  in  item 1.c.,  is always the opposite sign of the net 
OPEB  obligation  or  asset  and  exists  to  avoid  double‐counting  of  the  amounts  previously 
expensed but  imbedded  in the current ARC. This adjustment  is calculated as the opposite of 
the net OPEB obligation (or asset) at the beginning of the year, plus interest on that amount 
(item 1.b.) with the sum then divided by the same amortization factor used to determine the 
ARC for this year (see the prior page for these factors). 



    
Other Post‐Employment Benefit Programs of the City of Sierra Madre 

Actuarial Valuation as of July 1, 2015 

 

 15

Table 1C 
ARC Calculation for FYE 2018 

 

In  the  following exhibit,  the  July 1, 2015  valuation  results have been adjusted  (rolled  forward)  two 
years based on  the underlying actuarial assumptions. These  results are used  to develop  the annual 
required contribution (ARC) for the fiscal year ending June 30, 2018.  
 

Funding Policy

Subsidy

For fiscal year beginning 7/1/2017 7/1/2017 7/1/2017

For fiscal year ending 6/30/2018 6/30/2018 6/30/2018

Expected long‐term return on assets 6.73% 6.73% 6.73%

Discount rate 6.73% 6.73% 6.73%

Actives 84                  83                   84                  

Retirees 18                  11                   18                  

Total Participants 102                94                   102                

Actives $ 1,312,569     $ 940,108        $ 2,252,677     

Retirees 448,428        130,966        579,394        

Total APVPB 1,760,997     1,071,074     2,832,071     

Actives 891,287        583,395        1,474,682     

Retirees 448,428        130,966        579,394        

Total AAL 1,339,715     714,361        2,054,076     

Actuarial Value of Assets 1,545,042       52,183            1,597,225      

Unfunded AAL (UAAL)     (205,327)         662,178          456,851         

Normal Cost 62,367            48,569            110,936         

Amortization method Level % of Pay 0 0

Initial amortization period (in years) 20                  ‐                  20                  

Remaining period (in years) 19                  19                   19                  

UAAL $ (205,327)       $ 662,178        $ 456,851        

Factor 14.0580        14.0580        14.0580        

Payment (14,606)         47,103           32,497          

Normal Cost 62,367          48,569           110,936        

Amortization of UAAL (14,606)         47,103           32,497          

Interest to fiscal year end 3,214             6,439              9,653             

50,975            102,111          153,086         

Projected covered payroll $ 4,243,330     $ 4,243,330     $ 4,243,330     

1.5% 1.1% 2.6%

ARC as a percent of payroll 1.2% 2.4% 3.6%
ARC per active ee 607                1,230              1,822             

Normal Cost as a percent of payroll

Total ARC at fiscal year end

Prefunding Basis

Valuation date 7/1/2015

Explicit Implicit Total

Number of Covered Employees

Actuarial Present Value of  Projected Benefits 

Actuarial Accrued Liability (AAL)

Determination of Amortization Payment

Annual Required Contribution (ARC)

 



    
Other Post‐Employment Benefit Programs of the City of Sierra Madre 

Actuarial Valuation as of July 1, 2015 

 

 16

Table 1D 
Expected OPEB Disclosures for FYE 2018 

 
The following exhibit develops the annual OPEB expense, estimates the expected OPEB contributions 
and projects  the net OPEB obligation as of  June 30, 2018  reflecting  the assumed prefunding policy 
described earlier in this report.   
 

Fiscal Year End

Subsidy

  1. Calculation of the Annual OPEB Expense

  a.  $ 50,975          $ 102,111        $ 153,086        

b.  (19,289)         ‐                  (19,289)         

c. 21,760          ‐                  21,760          

d. 53,446          102,111        155,557        

  2. Calculation of Expected Contribution

  a.  Estimated payments on behalf of retirees 52,959          ‐                  52,959          

b.  Estimated current year's implicit subsidy ‐                 39,172           39,172          

  c.  Estimated contribution to OPEB trust (1,984)           62,939           60,955          

  d. Total Expected Employer Contribution 50,975          102,111        153,086        

  3. Change in Net OPEB Obligation (1.d. minus 2.d.) 2,471               ‐                   2,471              

Net OPEB Obligation (Asset), beginning of fiscal year (286,616)         ‐                   (286,616)        

Net OPEB Obligation (Asset) at fiscal year end (284,145)         ‐                   (284,145)        

ARC for current fiscal year

Interest on Net OPEB Obligation (Asset)

Adjustment to the ARC

Annual OPEB Expense (a. + b. + c.)

Prefunding Basis

6/30/2018 6/30/2018 6/30/2018

Explicit Implicit Total

 
 
In the table above, we assumed that the City would contribute 100% of the total ARC of $153,086.  

‐ We assumed that the City would take credit for the $39,172 current year’s implicit subsidy as 
an  OPEB  contribution  by  shifting  recognition  of  this  amount  from  an  active  healthcare 
expense to a retiree healthcare benefit expense. If so, this would reduce the City’s total cash 
outlay to fund the full ARC to $113,914. 

‐ Funding 100% of  the ARC may  require adjusting  the estimated $60,955 contribution  to  the 
trust  if  actual  retiree  benefit  payments  are  higher  or  lower  than  projected  payments  of 
$52,959 shown above.  

 

Notes on calculations above:  

 Interest  on  the  net  OPEB  obligation  (or  asset),  shown  above  in  item  1.b.  is  equal  to  the 
applicable  discount  rate  (6.73%)  multiplied  by  the  net  OPEB  obligation  (or  asset)  at  the 
beginning of the year.  

 The Adjustment to the ARC, shown above  in  item 1.c.,  is always the opposite sign of the net 
OPEB  obligation  or  asset  and  exists  to  avoid  double‐counting  of  the  amounts  previously 
expensed but  imbedded  in the current ARC. This adjustment  is calculated as the opposite of 
the net OPEB obligation (or asset) at the beginning of the year, plus interest on that amount 
(item 1.b.) with the sum then divided by the same amortization factor used to determine the 
ARC for this year (see the prior page for these factors). 



    
Other Post‐Employment Benefit Programs of the City of Sierra Madre 

Actuarial Valuation as of July 1, 2015 

 

 17

Table 2 
Summary of Employee Data 

 
The City reported 84 active employees; of these, 34 are currently participating in the medical program 
while 50 employees were waiving coverage as of the valuation date. Age and service information for 
the reported individuals is provided below: 

 

Under 1 1 to 4 5 to 9 10 to 14 15 to 19 20 & Up

Under 25 1 2 3 4%

25 to 29 7 5 1 13 15%

30 to 34 2 2 4 8 10%

35 to 39 1 6 3 1 11 13%

40 to 44 2 3 3 1 2 11 13%

45 to 49 2 4 6 1 1 2 16 19%

50 to 54 1 2 4 1 2 10 12%

55 to 59 1 2 2 1 6 7%

60 to 64 2 1 2 1 6 7%

65 to 69 0 0%

70 & Up 0 0%

Total 16 25 25 5 7 6 84 100%

Percent 19% 30% 30% 6% 8% 7% 100%
 

July 2013 Valuation July 2015 Valuation

Annual Covered Payroll     $3,688,531

Average Attained Age for Actives   43.6 42.9

Average Years of Service  7.5 6.4

$3,980,400

Distribution of Benefits‐Eligible Active Employees

Current 

Age

Years of Service

Total Percent

 
 
 
 
There  are  also  17  retirees  and  1  surviving  spouse  currently 
receiving  benefits  under  this  program.  Their  ages  are 
summarized in the chart below. 
  

 
  

Current Age Number Percent

Below 50 1 6%

50 to 54 0 0%

55 to 59 3 17%

60 to 64 6 33%

65 to 69 3 17%

70 to 74 3 17%

75 to 79 1 6%

80 & up 1 6%

Total 18 100%

65.2
Average Attained Age  for 

Retirees:

Retirees by Age



    
Other Post‐Employment Benefit Programs of the City of Sierra Madre 

Actuarial Valuation as of July 1, 2015 

 

 18

Table 2‐ Summary of Employee Data 
(Concluded) 
 
The chart below reconciles the number of actives and retirees included in the July 1, 2013 valuation of 
the City plan with those included in the July 1, 2015 valuation:  

Covered 

Actives

Waiving 

Actives

Covered 

Retirees

Covered 

Surviving 

Spouses Total

Number reported as of July 1, 2013 58 2 19 0 79

New employees 9 12 21

Terminated employees (13) (13)

New retiree, elected coverage (2) 2 0

New retiree, waiving coverage 0

Previously covered, now waiving (3) 3 (2) (2)

Previously waiving, now covered 0

Deceased (1) (1)

Data corrections 1 17 (1) 1 18

Number reported as of July 1, 2015 50 34 17 1 102

Reconciliation of City Plan Members Between Valuation Dates

Status

 
 

Observations: 

‐ The 18 data corrections  for active employees  related  to  those who were hired prior  to  July 
2013, but who had declined medical coverage through the City. Because they may qualify for 
coverage and benefits in retirement, they were added to the data for the 2015 valuation.   

‐ There were 2 new retirees since July 2013. One qualified for higher benefits and one qualified 
only  for the PEMHCA minimum benefit. Both retirees did elect to stay on the City’s medical 
plan in retirement.  

‐ Coverage  ended  for  3  retirees  since  July  2013,  1  due  to  death  and  2  who  voluntarily 
discontinued coverage, shortly after Medicare age when their MOU benefits ended. 

 
The chart below summarizes the number of active and retired employees by group and benefit level.  
Valuation results for the two groups are developed separately in Appendix 1. 

Active 

Employees

Retirees Under 

65 receiving 

Higher Benefits

Retirees receiving 

the PEMHCA 

Minimum Benefit Total

52 5 4 61

32 4 5 41

84 9 9 102

Safety

Participants by Group and Benefit Level

Total

Miscellaneous

Group

 
 
 
 
 



    
Other Post‐Employment Benefit Programs of the City of Sierra Madre 

Actuarial Valuation as of July 1, 2015 

 

 19

Table 3A 
Summary of Retiree Benefit Provisions 

 
OPEB provided: The City reported the following OPEB: retiree medical coverage. 

Access to coverage: Medical coverage is currently provided through CalPERS as permitted under the 
Public Employees’ Medical and Hospital Care Act (PEMHCA).  This coverage requires the employee to 
satisfy  the requirements  for retirement under CalPERS, either:  (a) 5 years of State or public agency 
service  and  attainment  of  age  50  (age  52,  if  a miscellaneous  employee  new  to  PERS  on  or  after 
January 1, 2013) or (b) an approved disability retirement.  
 
If an eligible employee is not already enrolled in the medical plan, he or she may enroll within 60 days 
of  retirement  or  during  any  future  open  enrollment  period.  Coverage may  be  continued  at  the 
retiree’s option  for his or her  lifetime. A  surviving  spouse  and other eligible dependents may  also 
continue coverage. 
 
The  employee must  begin  his  or  her  retirement  benefit  (warrant) within  120  days  of  terminating 
employment  with  the  City  to  be  eligible  to  continue medical  coverage  through  the  City  and  be 
entitled to the employer subsidy described below.  
 
Benefits provided: Under PEMHCA, the City is required to contribute toward retiree premiums for the 
retiree’s lifetime (and generally for the surviving spouse’s lifetime) or until coverage is discontinued. 
For certain qualifying retirees, the City provides temporary additional benefits beyond those required 
under PEMHCA, based on employee agreements. The following is a summary of these benefits: 

 PEMHCA  required  benefits:  All  employees  who  retire  from  the  City  (including  disability 
retirement) and  continue  coverage  in  the CalPERS medical program are eligible  for  the benefit 
provided in the PEMHCA resolutions. Those resolutions provide for the City to contribute toward 
retiree premiums according to the following: 

(a) 5% times (b) the number of prior years the City has been contracted with PEMHCA times (c) 
the monthly contracted PEMHCA contribution  the employer makes  towards active employee 
health benefits, which was $122 per month in 2015 and increased to $125 per month in 2016.  

Retiree PEMHCA benefits should be equal to active employee PEMHCA benefits after each group 
has been covered under contract with CalPERS for 20 or more years. The City’s monthly PEMHCA 
contribution toward health plan benefits for retirees during 2016 are:  

 $125 for CEA (and other non‐POA) retirees, since contracted with CalPERS for over 20 years. 
 $106.25  for  POA  retirees,  calculated  as  5%  times  17  years  times  $125.  This  amount  will 

increase until becoming equal to those for active employees in 2019. 
 

 Temporary additional  retiree medical benefits:  In addition  to  the benefits described above,  the 
City  also  provides  the  following  monthly  subsidy  toward  retiree  (single  coverage)  medical 
premiums until the retiree reaches age 65: 

 For CEA (and other non‐POA) employees hired before October 15, 1995 and POA employees 
hired on or before December 22, 2011 who meet  the  requirements  for CalPERS  retirement 
(including disability retirement): 5% times the number of years worked  for the City  (up to a 
maximum of 100%) times the lowest cost premium in the Los Angeles area region.  

 



    
Other Post‐Employment Benefit Programs of the City of Sierra Madre 

Actuarial Valuation as of July 1, 2015 

 

 20

Plan Ee Only Ee & 1 Ee & 2+ Ee Only Ee & 1 Ee & 2+

Anthem HMO Traditional HMO  $     610.64  $  1,221.28  $  1,587.66 

Blue Shield Access+ HMO 566.53 1,133.06 1,472.98

Blue Shield NetValue HMO 576.46 1,152.92 1,498.80

Kaiser HMO 543.83 1,087.66 1,413.96 297.23 594.46        920.76 

UnitedHealthcare HMO 492.24 984.48 1,279.82 320.98 641.96        937.30 

PERS Choice PPO 598.75 1,197.50 1,556.75 366.38 732.76     1,092.01 

PERS Select PPO 547.55 1,095.10 1,423.63 366.38 732.76     1,061.29 

PERSCare PPO 666.91 1,333.82 1,733.97 408.04 816.08     1,216.23 

PORAC Association Plan         699.00      1,399.00      1,789.00         442.00          881.00      1,271.00 

Los Angeles Area 2016 Health Plan Rates

      Actives and Pre‐Med Retirees     Medicare Eligible Retirees

 Not Available 

 Not Available 

 Not Available 

Table 3A – Summary of Retiree Benefit Provisions 
(Concluded) 
  

  For  CEA  (and  other  non‐POA)  employees  hired  on  or  after  October  15,  1995  and  POA 
employees hired after December 22, 2011 who retire (including disability retirement) at age 
60 or older with at least 30 years of service with the City: 100% of the lowest cost premium in 
the LA area region.  

 

The lowest cost premium in the LA area region was $430.71 per month in 2015 (Health Net Salud 
y Mas), increasing to $466.11 in 2016 (also Health Net Salud y Mas).  

 
Current premium rates: The 2016 CalPERS monthly medical plan rates  in the Los Angeles Area rate 
group are shown in the table below. If different rates apply where the member resides outside of this 
area,  those  rates  are  reflected  in  the  valuation,  but  not  listed  here.    The  additional  CalPERS 
administration fee is assumed to be separately expensed each year and has not been projected as an 
OPEB liability in this valuation. 

 
 
 
 
 
 

 
 
 
 
 



    
Other Post‐Employment Benefit Programs of the City of Sierra Madre 

Actuarial Valuation as of July 1, 2015 

 

 21

Table 3B 
General CalPERS Annuitant Eligibility Provisions 

 

The content of this section has been drawn from Section C, Summary of Plan Provisions, of the State 
of California OPEB Valuation as of June 30, 2014, issued December 2014, to the State Controller from 
Gabriel Roeder &  Smith.  It  is provided here  as a brief  summary of  general  annuitant  and  survivor 
coverage. 
 
Health Care Coverage  
 
Retired Employees  

A member is eligible to enroll in a CalPERS health plan if he or she retires within 120 days of separation 
from  employment  and  receives  a  monthly  retirement  allowance.    If  the  member  meets  this 
requirement,  he  or  she may  continue  his  or  her  enrollment  at  retirement,  enroll within  60  days  of 
retirement, or enroll during any Open Enrollment period.  If a member is currently enrolled in a CalPERS 
health plan and wants to continue enrollment into retirement, the employee will notify CalPERS and the 
member’s coverage will continue into retirement.  
 
Eligibility Exceptions: Certain family members are not eligible for CalPERS health benefits:  

Coordination with Medicare  

CalPERS retired members who qualify for premium‐free Part A, either on their own or through a spouse 
(current,  former, or deceased), must sign up  for Part B as soon as they qualify  for Part A. A member 
must then enroll in a CalPERS sponsored Medicare plan.  The CalPERS‐sponsored Medicare plan will pay 
for costs not paid by Medicare, by coordinating benefits. 
 
Survivors of an Annuitant  

If a CalPERS annuitant satisfied the requirement to retire within 120 days of separation, the survivor 
may  be  eligible  to  enroll  within  60  days  of  the  annuitant’s  death  or  during  any  future  Open 
Enrollment period.   Note: A  survivor  cannot add any new dependents; only dependents  that were 
enrolled or eligible to enroll at the time of the member’s death qualify for benefits. 
 
Surviving registered domestic partners who are receiving a monthly annuity as a surviving beneficiary 
of a deceased employee or annuitant on or after January 1, 2002, are eligible to continue coverage if 
currently enrolled, enroll within 60 days of the domestic partner’s death, or enroll during any future 
Open Enrollment period. 
 
Surviving enrolled family members who do not qualify to continue their current coverage are eligible for 
continuation coverage under COBRA.  

 Children age 26 or older  

 Children’s spouses  

 Former spouses 

 Disabled children over age 26 who were 
never enrolled or were deleted from 
coverage 

 Grandparents 

 Parents 

 Children of former spouses  
 Other relatives 

 



    
Other Post‐Employment Benefit Programs of the City of Sierra Madre 

Actuarial Valuation as of July 1, 2015 

 

 22

Age Male Female

15 0.00020 0.00015

20 0.00028 0.00018

30 0.00051 0.00027

40 0.00070 0.00047

50 0.00147 0.00103

60 0.00340 0.00201

70 0.00619 0.00408
80 0.01157 0.00918

CalPERS Public Agency 

Miscellaneous Non‐

Industrial Deaths

Age Male Female

15 0.00020 0.00015

20 0.00031 0.00021

30 0.00061 0.00037

40 0.00083 0.00060

50 0.00162 0.00118

60 0.00357 0.00218

70 0.00637 0.00427
80 0.01178 0.00938

CalPERS Public Agency

Police & Fire Combined

Industrial & Non‐Industrial 

Table 4 
Actuarial Methods and Assumptions 

 

Valuation Date       July 1, 2015 
 

Funding Method      Entry Age Normal Cost, level percent of pay2 
         
Asset Valuation Method    Market value of assets 
 

Long Term Return on Assets    6.73% 
 

Discount Rate        6.73%  
 

Participants Valued  Only  current  active  employees  and  retired  participants  and 
covered  dependents  are  valued.  No  future  entrants  are 
considered in this valuation. 

 

Salary Increase  3.25% per year, used only to allocate the cost of benefits 
   between service years 

 

Assumed Wage Inflation  3.0% per year; used to determine amortization payments if 
developed on a level percent of pay basis 

 

General Inflation Rate      2.75% per year 
 

Demographic actuarial assumptions used in this valuation are based on the 2014 experience study of 
the  California  Public  Employees  Retirement  System  using  data  from  1997  to  2011,  except  for  a 
different basis used to project future mortality  improvements. Rates for selected age and service are 
shown below and on the following pages. The representative mortality rates were those published by 
CalPERS adjusted to back out 20 years of Scale BB to central year 2008 and then projected forward 6 
years using Bickmore Scale 2014 to year 2014. 

 
Mortality Before Retirement   

Mortality rates in each of these 
tables are from the CalPERS 
experience study, adjusted as 
described above.   

These rates were then adjusted on 
a generational basis by Bickmore 
Scale 2014 to anticipate future 
mortality improvement each year 
until the expected payments in any 
future year occur.          

                                               
2 The  level percent of pay aspect of the funding method refers to how the normal cost  is determined. Use of 
level percent of pay cost allocations  in the  funding method  is separate  from and has no effect on a decision 
regarding use of a level percent of pay or level dollar basis for determining amortization payments. 



    
Other Post‐Employment Benefit Programs of the City of Sierra Madre 

Actuarial Valuation as of July 1, 2015 

 

 23

Age Male Female

40 0.00103 0.00085

50 0.00475 0.00480

60 0.00785 0.00481

70 0.01541 0.01105

80 0.04556 0.03271

90 0.14423 0.10912

100 0.32349 0.29541

110 0.97827 0.97516
115 1.00000 1.00000

CalPERS Public Agency 

Miscellaneous, Police & Fire 

Post Retirement Mortality

Age Male Female

20 0.00548 0.00339

30 0.00717 0.00469

40 0.00887 0.00565

50 0.01594 0.01192

60 0.02530 0.01363

70 0.03394 0.02460

80 0.07108 0.05326
90 0.16458 0.14227

CalPERS Public Agency 

Disabled Miscellaneous 

Post‐Retirement Mortality 

From Jan 2014 Experience 

Study Report

Age Male Female

20 0.00440 0.00277

30 0.00348 0.00247

40 0.00291 0.00222

50 0.00545 0.00524

60 0.00884 0.00596

70 0.01964 0.01573

80 0.05747 0.04422
90 0.14455 0.10964

CalPERS Public Agency 

Disabled Fire Post‐ 

Retirement Mortality 

From Jan 2014 Experience 

Study Report

Age Male Female

20 0.00548 0.00339

30 0.00206 0.00162

40 0.00240 0.00193

50 0.00520 0.00508

60 0.00888 0.00598

70 0.01974 0.01579

80 0.05761 0.04431
90 0.14475 0.10997

CalPERS Public Agency 

Disabled Police Post‐

Retirement Mortality 

From Jan 2014 Experience 

Study Report

Table 4 ‐ Actuarial Methods and Assumptions  
(Continued) 

 
Mortality After Retirement   Representative mortality rates for 2014 are shown in the charts below. 

The  rates  were  then  adjusted  on  a  generational  basis  by  Bickmore 
Scale 2014 to anticipate future mortality improvement.     

                Healthy Lives        Disabled Miscellaneous 

   
 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

  Disabled Fire                            Disabled Police    
             

 

 

 

 

 

 

   

 

 
 

 
 

 

 



    
Other Post‐Employment Benefit Programs of the City of Sierra Madre 

Actuarial Valuation as of July 1, 2015 

 

 24

Attained

Age 0 3 5 10 15 20

15 0.1812 0.0000 0.0000 0.0000 0.0000 0.0000

20 0.1742 0.1193 0.0946 0.0000 0.0000 0.0000

25 0.1674 0.1125 0.0868 0.0749 0.0000 0.0000

30 0.1606 0.1055 0.0790 0.0668 0.0581 0.0000

35 0.1537 0.0987 0.0711 0.0587 0.0503 0.0450

40 0.1468 0.0919 0.0632 0.0507 0.0424 0.0370
45 0.1400 0.0849 0.0554 0.0427 0.0347 0.0290

Years of Service

Miscellaneous Employees: Sum of Vested Terminated & Refund Rates From 

CalPERS Experience Study Report Issued January 2014

Attained

Age 0 3 5 10 15 20

15 0.1013 0.0000 0.0000 0.0000 0.0000 0.0000

20 0.1013 0.0258 0.0249 0.0000 0.0000 0.0000

25 0.1013 0.0258 0.0249 0.0179 0.0000 0.0000

30 0.1013 0.0258 0.0249 0.0179 0.0109 0.0000

35 0.1013 0.0258 0.0249 0.0179 0.0109 0.0082

40 0.1013 0.0258 0.0249 0.0179 0.0109 0.0082

45 0.1013 0.0258 0.0249 0.0179 0.0109 0.0082

Years of Service

Police Safety Employees: Sum of Vested Terminated & Refund Rates From 

CalPERS Experience Study Report Issued January 2014

Attained

Age 0 3 5 10 15 20

15 0.0710 0.0000 0.0000 0.0000 0.0000 0.0000

20 0.0710 0.0242 0.0191 0.0000 0.0000 0.0000

25 0.0710 0.0242 0.0191 0.0070 0.0000 0.0000

30 0.0710 0.0242 0.0191 0.0070 0.0064 0.0000

35 0.0710 0.0242 0.0191 0.0070 0.0064 0.0058

40 0.0710 0.0242 0.0191 0.0070 0.0064 0.0058

45 0.0710 0.0242 0.0191 0.0070 0.0064 0.0058

Years of Service

Fire Safety Employees: Sum of Vested Terminated & Refund Rates From 

CalPERS Experience Study Report Issued January 2014

Table 4 ‐ Actuarial Methods and Assumptions  
(Continued) 
 
Termination Rates     

 
 
 
   
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 

 
 

  For fire safety employees hired before June 1, 2010:   

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 
 



    
Other Post‐Employment Benefit Programs of the City of Sierra Madre 

Actuarial Valuation as of July 1, 2015 

 

 25

Current Years of Service

Age 5 10 15 20 25 30

52 0.0103 0.0132 0.0160 0.0188 0.0216 0.0244

55 0.0440 0.0560 0.0680 0.0800 0.0920 0.1040

60 0.0616 0.0784 0.0952 0.1120 0.1288 0.1456

65 0.1287 0.1638 0.1989 0.2340 0.2691 0.3042

70 0.1254 0.1596 0.1938 0.2280 0.2622 0.2964
75 & over 1.0000 1.0000 1.0000 1.0000 1.0000 1.0000

Miscellaneous "PEPRA" Employees: 2% at 62 formula 

From CalPERS Experience Study Report Issued January 2014

Current Years of Service

Age 5 10 15 20 25 30

50 0.0140 0.0180 0.0210 0.0250 0.0270 0.0310

55 0.0480 0.0610 0.0740 0.0880 0.1000 0.1170

60 0.0670 0.0860 0.1030 0.1230 0.1390 0.1640

65 0.1550 0.1970 0.2380 0.2850 0.3250 0.3860

70 0.1300 0.1650 0.2000 0.2400 0.2720 0.3230
75 & over 1.0000 1.0000 1.0000 1.0000 1.0000 1.0000

Miscellaneous Employees: 2% at 55 formula 

From CalPERS Experience Study Report Issued January 2014

Table 4 ‐ Actuarial Methods and Assumptions  
(Continued) 
 
Service Retirement Rates:   The following retirement formulas apply: 

For Miscellaneous employees  
Hired prior to 1/1/2013 or Classic members:   2.5% @ 55 
Hired on or after 1/1/2013, PEPRA:         2.0% @ 62 

For Police and Fire Safety employees  
Hired prior to 1/1/2013 or Classic members:   3.0% @ 55 
Hired on or after 1/1/2013, PEPRA:         2.7% @ 57  
 

Illustrative retirement rates are shown below and on the following page  
 

   
 

 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 

 

Current Years of Service

Age 5 10 15 20 25 30

50 0.0040 0.0040 0.0040 0.0040 0.0150 0.0860

53 0.0380 0.0380 0.0380 0.0380 0.0830 0.1880

56 0.0720 0.0720 0.0720 0.0720 0.1530 0.2950

59 0.1180 0.1180 0.1180 0.1180 0.2470 0.4370

62 0.1080 0.1080 0.1080 0.1080 0.2260 0.4050
65 & over 1.0000 1.0000 1.0000 1.0000 1.0000 1.0000

Police Safety Employees: 3.0% at 55 formula 

From CalPERS Experience Study Report Issued January 2014



    
Other Post‐Employment Benefit Programs of the City of Sierra Madre 

Actuarial Valuation as of July 1, 2015 

 

 26

Current Years of Service

Age 5 10 15 20 25 30

50 0.0138 0.0138 0.0138 0.0138 0.0253 0.0451

53 0.0497 0.0497 0.0497 0.0497 0.0909 0.1621

56 0.0606 0.0606 0.0606 0.0606 0.1108 0.1975

59 0.1396 0.1396 0.1396 0.1396 0.1735 0.2544

62 0.1396 0.1396 0.1396 0.1396 0.1719 0.2506
65 & over 1.0000 1.0000 1.0000 1.0000 1.0000 1.0000

Police Safety Employees: 2.7% at 57 formula 

From CalPERS Experience Study Report Issued January 2014

Current Years of Service

Age 5 10 15 20 25 30

50 0.0065 0.0065 0.0065 0.0065 0.0101 0.0151

53 0.0065 0.0065 0.0065 0.0065 0.0101 0.0151

56 0.0442 0.0442 0.0442 0.0442 0.0680 0.1018

59 0.0740 0.0740 0.0740 0.0740 0.1140 0.1706

62 0.0729 0.0729 0.0729 0.0729 0.1123 0.1681
65 0.1136 0.1136 0.1136 0.1136 0.1749 0.2618

68 & over 1.0000 1.0000 1.0000 1.0000 1.0000 1.0000

Fire Safety Employees: 2.7% at 57 formula 

From CalPERS Experience Study Report Issued January 2014

Table 4 ‐ Actuarial Methods and Assumptions  
(Continued) 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Current Years of Service

Age 5 10 15 20 25 30

50 0.0010 0.0010 0.0010 0.0060 0.0160 0.0690

53 0.0320 0.0320 0.0320 0.0490 0.0850 0.1490

56 0.0640 0.0640 0.0640 0.0970 0.1610 0.2380

59 0.0880 0.0880 0.0880 0.1310 0.2130 0.2990

62 0.0870 0.0870 0.0870 0.1280 0.2100 0.2950
65 & over 1.0000 1.0000 1.0000 1.0000 1.0000 1.0000

Fire Safety Employees: 3.0% at 55 formula 

From CalPERS Experience Study Report Issued January 2014

 
 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 



    
Other Post‐Employment Benefit Programs of the City of Sierra Madre 

Actuarial Valuation as of July 1, 2015 

 

 27

Age Male Female

20 0.00017 0.00010

25 0.00017 0.00010

30 0.00019 0.00024

35 0.00049 0.00081

40 0.00122 0.00155

45 0.00191 0.00218

50 0.00213 0.00229

55 0.00221 0.00179
60 0.00222 0.00135

CalPERS Public Agency 

Miscellaneous Disability

From Jan 2014 Experience 

Study Report
Age Unisex

20 0.00017

25 0.00035

30 0.00084

35 0.00168

40 0.00310

45 0.00550

50 0.02821

55 0.04184
60 0.05974

CalPERS Public Agency

Fire Combined Disability

From Jan 2014

Experience Study Report
Age Unisex

20 0.00010

25 0.00175

30 0.00496

35 0.00818

40 0.01140

45 0.01461

50 0.01925

55 0.04909
60 0.06212

CalPERS Public Agency

Police Combined Disability

From Jan 2014

Experience Study Report

Table 4 ‐ Actuarial Methods and Assumptions  
(Continued) 
 
Disability Retirement Rates     

     
 
   
   
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
Healthcare Trend  Medical plan premiums and claims costs by age are assumed to 

increase  once  each  year.  The  increases  over  the  prior  year’s 
levels are assumed to be effective on the dates shown below: 

 

Effective 

January 1

Premium 

Increase

Effective 

January 1

Premium 

Increase

2016 Actual 2020 6.00%

2017 7.50% 2021 5.50%

2018 7.00% 2022 5.00%

2019 6.50% 2023 & later 4.50%  

The  PEMHCA  minimum  required  contribution  (MEC)  is 
assumed to increase annually by 4.5%. 

 
Participation Rate  Active participants: The rates at which employees are assumed 

to elect coverage in retirement vary by the level of benefit for 
which they qualify:  

(a) Those entitled to only the PEMHCA benefit are assigned a 
60%  probability  of  electing  coverage  in  retirement,  if 
currently  covered  by  a  CalPERS medical  plan,  and  30%  if 
not currently covered under a CalPERS medical plan. 

(b) 100%  of  those  entitled  to  a  benefit  in  excess  of  the 
PEMHCA benefit are assumed to continue coverage.  

  All employees are assumed to maintain the same medical plan 
election  in  retirement,  or,  if  currently  waiving  coverage,  to 
select the Kaiser LA region plan.  



    
Other Post‐Employment Benefit Programs of the City of Sierra Madre 

Actuarial Valuation as of July 1, 2015 

 

 28

2018 Thresholds Ages 55‐64 All Other Ages

Single 11,850$           10,200$           

Other than Single 30,950$           27,500$           

Table 4 ‐ Actuarial Methods and Assumptions  
(Continued) 
 
Participation rates (continued)  Retired  participants:  Existing  medical  plan  elections  are 

assumed to be continued until the retiree’s death. For current 
retirees under age 65 receiving additional MOU benefits, only 
60% are assumed to continue coverage after age 65. 

 
Spouse Coverage   Active  employees:  35%  are  assumed  to  be married  and  elect 

coverage for their spouse  in retirement. Surviving spouses are 
assumed  to  retain  coverage  until  their  death.  Husbands  are 
assumed to be 3 years older than their wives. 

Retired participants: Existing elections for spouse coverage are 
assumed  to  be  continued  until  the  spouse’s  death.  Actual 
spouse  ages  are  used,  where  known;  if  not,  husbands  are 
assumed to be 3 years older than their wives.  Spouse gender is 
assumed to be the opposite of the employee.  
 

Medicare Eligibility   Absent contrary data, all individuals are assumed to be eligible 
for Medicare Parts A and B at age 65.  

 
Excise tax on high‐cost plans  The expected value of excise taxes for high cost plan coverage 

for retirees, now expected to be effective in the year 2020, was 
included  in this valuation. Annual threshold amounts for 2018 
under the Affordable Care Act (ACA) were assumed to increase 
at the General Inflation Rate. A 40% excise tax rate was applied 
to the portion of premiums projected to exceed the threshold. 

 
 
 
 
 

Development of Age‐related 
   Medical Premiums  Actual  premium  rates  for  retirees  and  their  spouses  were 

adjusted to an age‐related basis by applying  medical claim cost 
factors  developed  from  the  data  presented  in  the  report, 
“Health Care Costs – From Birth  to Death”,  sponsored by  the 
Society of Actuaries. See Addendum 1, Bickmore’s Age Rating 
Methodology, for a description of the use of claims cost curves. 

  
Representative claims costs derived from the dataset provided 
by CalPERS  for retirees not currently covered or not expected 
to be eligible for Medicare appear on page 32.   

 

All  current and  future Medicare‐eligible  retirees are assumed 
to  be  covered  by  plans  that  are  rated  based  solely  on  the 
experience of Medicare retirees. Therefore, no implicit subsidy 
is calculated for Medicare‐eligible retirees.  



    
Other Post‐Employment Benefit Programs of the City of Sierra Madre 

Actuarial Valuation as of July 1, 2015 

 

 29

Table 4 ‐ Actuarial Methods and Assumptions  
(Continued) 
 
Changes Since the Prior Valuation: 

Discount rate        Decreased from 7.5% to 6.73% 
 

Assumed Wage Inflation  Decreased from 3.25% to 3.0% 

General Inflation Rate  Decreased from 3.0% to 2.75% 

Demographic assumptions  Assumed mortality, termination, disability and retirement rates 
were  updated  from  those  provided  in  the  CalPERS  2010 
experience study report to those provided in the CalPERS 2014 
experience  study  report.  Rates  of mortality were  updated  to 
the rates in the midpoint year of the CalPERS 2014 experience 
study  (2008),  then  projected  on  a  generational  basis  by 
Bickmore Scale 2014.  

Healthcare trend  Medical  plan  premium  rates  are  assumed  to  increase  at a 
slightly lower rate in 2025 and later years than was assumed in 
the prior valuation, the result of a change  in our methodology 
for estimating  the potential  impact of  the excise  tax  for high 
cost plans under the Affordable Care Act. 

 

 Participation Rate  The percentage of active employees entitled  to only  the MEC 
at  retirement who  are  assumed  to elect medical  coverage  in 
retirement  were  increased  to  60%,  from  50%,  for  active 
employees with medical coverage currently, and to 30%, from 
25%, for active employees currently waiving medical coverage. 
Also,  for  current  retirees  under  age  65  receiving  additional 
MOU  benefits,  only  60%  are  assumed  to  continue  coverage 
after  age  65  when  benefits  are  reduced  to  the  required 
PEMHCA benefit, instead of 100%. 

 

Spouse Coverage  The  percentage  of  active  employees who  are  assumed  to be 
married  and  to elect  coverage  for  their  spouse  in  retirement 
was decreased from 65% to 35%. 

Age‐Related Medical Premiums  We  introduced  methodology  for  developing  age‐related 
medical  premiums  based  on  updated  research  and  data 
sponsored  by  the  Society  of Actuaries. We  added  an  implicit 
subsidy  analysis  for  pre‐Medicare  retirees  covered  by  the 
CalPERS medical program. 

Excise Tax Impact  We  directly  reflected  the  potential  impact  of  the  excise  tax 
attributable  to  retirees  for  high  cost  healthcare  plans  for 
retirees, as provided by the Affordable Care Act. 



    
Other Post‐Employment Benefit Programs of the City of Sierra Madre 

Actuarial Valuation as of July 1, 2015 

 

 
30

Medical Plan 50 53 56 59 62 50 53 56 59 62

 Blue Shield Access+ Los Angeles 571$      673$      782$      896$      1,019$    707$      777$      836$      903$      996$     

 Blue Shield Access+ Other Southern California 627        739        859        984        1,119      777        853        918        992        1,094   

 Blue Shield NetValue Los Angeles 608        717        832        954        1,084      753        827        890        962        1,060   

 Kaiser Los Angeles 550        648        753        863        981         681        748        805        870        959       

 PERS Choice Los Angeles 540        637        740        848        964         669        735        791        855        942       

 PERS Choice Other Southern California 585        690        802        919        1,044      725        797        857        926        1,021   

 PERS Choice Out of State 396        467        542        622        707         491        539        580        627        691       

 PERS Select Los Angeles 586        691        803        920        1,046      726        798        859        928        1,023   

 PERSCare Los Angeles 513        605        702        805        915         636        698        751        812        895       

 PERSCare Other Southern California 544        642        745        854        971         674        741        797        861        949       

Other HMO Los Angeles 566        667        775        888        1,009      701        770        828        895        987       

Other PPO Los Angeles 543        640        744        852        969         673        739        795        859        947       

Expected Monthly Claims by Medical Plan for Selected Ages

Male Female

Table 4 ‐ Actuarial Methods and Assumptions  
(Concluded) 
 

The chart below summarizes the expected monthly claims by medical plan and gender for selected ages.  

 

 

 

 

 



    
Other Post‐Employment Benefit Programs of the City of Sierra Madre 

Actuarial Valuation as of July 1, 2015 

 

 31

Table 5 
Projected Benefit Payments 

 
The  following  is  an  estimate  of  other  post‐employment  benefits  to  be  paid  on  behalf  of  current 
retirees and current employees expected to retire from the City.  Expected annual benefits have been 
projected on the basis of the actuarial assumptions outlined in Table 4. 
 
These  projections  do  not  include  any  benefits  expected  to  be  paid  on  behalf  of  current  active 
employees prior to retirement, nor do they  include any benefits for potential future employees (i.e., 
those who might be hired in future years). 

Current 

Retirees

Future 

Retirees Total

Current 

Retirees

Future 

Retirees Total

2016 44,258$        4,527$          48,785$        41,539$        3,732$          45,271$        94,056$       

2017 45,869          11,371          57,240          38,975          7,856            46,831          104,071       

2018 34,865          18,094          52,959          26,547          12,625          39,172          92,131         

2019 36,811          26,114          62,925          31,553          17,752          49,305          112,230       

2020 38,488          34,055          72,543          34,958          23,312          58,270          130,813       

2021 34,487          44,951          79,438          24,362          33,788          58,150          137,588       

2022 35,562          56,047          91,609          28,135          46,801          74,936          166,545       

2023 28,628          59,837          88,465          5,447            49,435          54,882          143,347       

2024 29,299          70,398          99,697        ‐               64,593        64,593          164,290     

2025 29,946          81,226          111,172      ‐               78,614        78,614          189,786     

2026 30,568          87,554          118,122        ‐                 78,477          78,477          196,599       

2027 31,157          89,823          120,980      ‐               84,631        84,631          205,611     

2028 31,717          100,331        132,048      ‐               95,729        95,729          227,777     

2029 32,246          106,317        138,563      ‐               98,254        98,254          236,817     

2030 32,741          116,188        148,929      ‐               113,635      113,635        262,564     

Projected Annual Benefit Payments

Implicit Subsidy

Total

Fiscal Year 

Ending

 June 30

Explicit Subsidy

 
 

The amounts shown  in the Explicit Subsidy section reflect the expected payment by the City toward 
retiree medical premiums  in each of  the  years  shown. The  amounts  are  shown  separately,  and  in 
total,  for those retired on the valuation date  (“current retirees”) and those expected to retire after 
the valuation date (“future retirees”). 
 
The amounts shown in the Implicit Subsidy section reflect the expected excess of retiree medical (and 
prescription drug)  claims over  the premiums expected  to be  charged during  the  year  for  retirees’ 
coverage. These amounts are also  shown  separately and  in  total  for  those currently  retired on  the 
valuation date and for those expected to retire in the future. 



    
Other Post‐Employment Benefit Programs of the City of Sierra Madre 

Actuarial Valuation as of July 1, 2015 

 

 32

Appendix 1 
Breakout of Valuation Results by Group or Fund for FYE 2017 

  

The chart below breaks out the valuation results for 2 employee groups (miscellaneous and safety) for 
the fiscal year ending June 30, 2017. Amortization of the unfunded actuarial accrued liability is on the 
same basis as described in Section F. The actuarial value of assets and the beginning of year net OPEB 
asset were allocated to each group in proportion to the AAL for each group.  
 

Misc. Safety Total

Approach

Discount Rate 6.73% 6.73% 6.73%

Amortization method Level % of Pay Level % of Pay Level % of Pay

Remaining amortization period (in years) 20 20 20

Number of Covered Employees

Actives 52                          32                           84                          

Retirees 9                             9                              18                          

Total Participants 61                          41                           102                        

Actuarial Present Value of Projected Benefits

Actives 1,029,441$            1,099,205$            2,128,646$           

Retirees 301,279                321,074                 622,353                

Total APVPB 1,330,720             1,420,279             2,750,999             

Actuarial Accrued Liability    

Actives 658,627                633,638                 1,292,265             

Retirees 301,279                321,074                 622,353                

Total AAL 959,906                954,712                 1,914,618             

Actuarial Value of Assets 738,616                  716,408                  1,455,024              

Unfunded Actuarial Accrued Liability 221,290                  238,304                  459,594                 

Amortization Factor 14.5667                  14.5667                  14.5667                 

Annual Required Contribution (ARC)

Normal Cost 49,517                   57,927                    107,444                

Amortization of UAAL 15,192                   16,359                    31,551                   

Interest to 6/30 4,355                     4,999                      9,354                     

ARC at Fiscal Year End 69,064                     79,286                     148,349                 

1. Calculation of the Annual OPEB Expense

a.  69,064                   79,285                    148,349                

b. 
(9,729)                      (9,676)                      (19,405)                  

c. 10,592                   10,535                    21,127                   

d. 69,927                   80,144                    150,071                

2. Calculation of Expected Contribution

  a.  Estimated payments on behalf of retirees 28,326                   28,914                    57,240                   

b.  Estimated current year's implicit subsidy 30,731                   16,100                    46,831                   

  c.  Estimated contribution to OPEB trust 10,007                   34,271                    44,278                   

  d.  Total Expected Employer Contribution 69,064                   79,285                    148,349                

3. Change in Net OPEB Obligation (1.d. minus 2.d.) 863                          859                          1,722                      

Net OPEB Obligation (Asset), beginning of fiscal year (144,560)                 (143,778)                 (288,338)                

Net OPEB Obligation (Asset) at fiscal year end (143,697)                 (142,919)                 (286,616)                

Prefunding Basis

ARC for current fiscal year
Interest on Net OPEB Obligation (Asset)

    at beginning of year

Adjustment to the ARC

Annual OPEB Expense (a. + b. + c.)

 



    
Other Post‐Employment Benefit Programs of the City of Sierra Madre 

Actuarial Valuation as of July 1, 2015 

 

 33

Appendix 2 
Expected Disclosures for Fiscal Year End June 30, 2016 

 
The annual OPEB expense and net OPEB obligation  (asset)  for  the  fiscal year ending  June 30, 2016 
were  projected  in  the  July  1,  2013  valuation  and  reflected  Bickmore’s  understanding  of  OPEB 
contributions prior to that date. Since that valuation was prepared, the City has adjusted and updated 
its payments toward retiree premiums and contributions to CERBT through June 30, 2015.  
 
The following exhibit updates the development of the annual OPEB expense and net OPEB obligation, 
providing the information assumed to be reported in the City’s financial statement for the fiscal year 
ending June 30, 2016. 
 

Fiscal Year End

  1. Calculation of the Annual OPEB Expense

  a.  $ 52,469            

b. 

(26,913)           

c. 102,350          

d. 127,906          

  2. Calculation of Expected Contribution

  a.  Estimated payments on behalf of retirees 57,400            

b.  Estimated current year's implicit subsidy ‐                  

  c.  Estimated contribution to OPEB trust ‐                  

  d. Total Expected Employer Contribution 57,400            

  3. Change in Net OPEB Obligation (1.d. minus 2.d.) 70,506            

Net OPEB Obligation (Asset), beginning of fiscal year (358,844)        

Net OPEB Obligation (Asset) at fiscal year end (288,338)        

Annual OPEB Expense (a. + b. + c.)

ARC for current fiscal year

Interest on Net OPEB Obligation (Asset)

    at beginning of year

Adjustment to the ARC

6/30/2016

Prefunding

 
 
 
 
  



    
Other Post‐Employment Benefit Programs of the City of Sierra Madre 

Actuarial Valuation as of July 1, 2015 

 

 34

Appendix 3 
General OPEB Disclosure and Required Supplementary Information 

 
The  Information  necessary  to  complete  the  OPEB  footnote  in  the  City’s  financial  reports  is 
summarized below, or we note the location of the information contained elsewhere in this report: 

 
Summary of Plan Provisions:         See Table 3A 
 
OPEB Funding Policy:  See Section F; details are also provided in Tables 1A and 

1C 
Annual OPEB Cost and  
      Net OPEB Obligation:       See Table 1B and 1D 
 
Actuarial Methods and Assumptions:    See Table 4 
 
Funding Status and  
     Funding Progress:         See Section E – Basic Valuation Results 
 

Actuarial 

Valuation 

Date

Actuarial Value 

of Assets 

(a)

Actuarial 

Accrued 

Liability

(b)

Unfunded 

Actuarial 

Accrued 

Liability

(b‐a)

Funded Ratio

(a/b)

Covered 

Payroll 

(c)

UAAL as a 

Percentage of 

Covered 

Payroll 

((b‐a)/c)

1/1/2010 ‐$                   1,456,106$      1,456,106$      0.0% 4,641,533$      31.4%

7/1/2011 361,594$          1,162,355$      800,761$          31.1% 3,879,418$      20.6%

7/1/2013 896,496$          1,181,306$      284,810$          75.9% 3,688,531$      7.7%

7/1/2015 1,363,276$      1,777,953$      414,677$          76.7% 3,980,400$      10.4%

Schedule of Funding Progress

 

1/1/2010 7/1/2011 7/1/2013 7/1/2015
 $‐

 $200,000

 $400,000

 $600,000

 $800,000

 $1,000,000

 $1,200,000

 $1,400,000

 $1,600,000

 $1,800,000

 $2,000,000

Schedule of Funding Progress

Implicit AAL

Explicit AAL

Actuarial Value of Assets

 



    
Other Post‐Employment Benefit Programs of the City of Sierra Madre 

Actuarial Valuation as of July 1, 2015 

 

 35

Appendix 3 ‐ continued 
 
Required Supplementary Information:   History of OPEB Costs Contributed 
            See chart below: 
 

Fiscal Year 

Ended

Annual OPEB 

Cost

Employer 

OPEB 

Contributions

Percentage of 

Annual OPEB 

Cost 

Contributed

Net OPEB 

Obligation 

(Asset)

6/30/2010 168,070$          354,500$        210.9% 113,570$    

6/30/2011 181,897$          399,697$        219.7% (104,230)$   

6/30/2012 172,391$          279,535$        162.2% (211,374)$   

6/30/2013 194,820$          327,073$        167.9% (296,796)$   

6/30/2014 216,235$          342,019$        158.2% (422,580)$   

6/30/2015 120,073$          56,337$           46.9% (358,844)$   

6/30/2016 127,906$         57,400$          44.9% (288,338)$  

6/30/2017 150,071$         148,349$        98.9% (286,616)$  

6/30/2018 155,557$         153,086$        98.4% (284,145)$  

OPEB Cost Contributed

 
 

Italicized values above are estimates which may change if contributions are other than projected. 
 

46.9%

210.9%

219.7%

162.2% 167.9%

158.2%

44.9%

98.9%
98.4%

 $‐

 $50,000

 $100,000

 $150,000

 $200,000

 $250,000

 $300,000

 $350,000

 $400,000

 $450,000

6/30/2010 6/30/2011 6/30/2012 6/30/2013 6/30/2014 6/30/2015 6/30/2016 6/30/2017 6/30/2018

Percent of Annual OPEB Cost Contributed

Explicit Retiree Benefit Payments OPEB Trust Contributions Implicit Retiree Benefits

 

To see these values separately for explicit and implicit subsidy liabilities, please refer to Section E of 
the report or to Tables 1B and 1D. 



    
Other Post‐Employment Benefit Programs of the City of Sierra Madre 

Actuarial Valuation as of July 1, 2015 

 

 36

Addendum 1: Bickmore Age Rating Methodology 

 
Both  accounting  standards  (e.g. GASB  45)  and  actuarial  standards  (e.g. ASOP  6)  require  that  expected 
retiree  claims, not  just premiums  paid, be  reflected  in most  situations where  an  actuary  is  calculating 
retiree healthcare  liabilities.   Unfortunately  the actuary  is often  required  to perform  these  calculations 
without any underlying claims information.  In most situations, the information is not available, but even 
when available, the information may not be credible due to the size of the group being considered. 
 
Actuaries have developed methodologies to approximate healthcare claims from the premiums being paid 
by the plan sponsor.  Any methodology requires adopting certain assumptions and using general studies of 
healthcare  costs as  substitutes when  there  is a  lack of  credible  claims  information  for  the  specific plan 
being reviewed.   
 
Premiums paid by sponsors are often uniform for all employee and retiree ages and genders, with a drop 
in premiums for those participants who are Medicare‐eligible. While the total premiums are expected to 
pay for the total claims for the insured group, on average, the premiums charged would not be sufficient 
to pay for the claims of older insureds, and would be expected to exceed the expected claims of younger 
insureds.   An age‐rating methodology  takes  the  typically uniform premiums paid by plan  sponsors and 
spreads  the  total  premium  dollars  to  each  age  and  gender  intended  to  better  approximate what  the 
insurer might be expecting in actual claims costs at each age and gender. 
 
The process of translating premiums  into expected claims by age and gender generally follows the steps 
below.  

1. Obtain  or Develop  Relative Medical  Claims  Costs  by  Age, Gender,  or  other  categories  that  are 
deemed significant.  For example, a claims cost curve might show that, if a 50 year old male has $1 
in claims, then on average a 50 year old female has claims of $1.25, a 30 year male has claims of 
$0.40, and an 8 year old female has claims of $0.20.   The claims cost curve provides such relative 
costs for each age, gender, or any other significant factor the curve might have been developed to 
reflect.    Table  4  provides  the  source  of  information  used  to  develop  such  a  curve  and  shows 
sample relative claims costs developed for the plan under consideration.  

2. Obtain a census of participants, their chosen medical coverage, and the premium charged for their 
coverage.   An attempt  is made  to  find  the group of participants  that  the  insurer  considered  in 
setting  the  premiums  they  charge  for  coverage.  That  group  includes  the  participant  and  any 
covered spouses and children.   When  information about dependents  is unavailable, assumptions 
must  be  made  about  spouse  age  and  the  number  and  age  of  children  represented  in  the 
population. These assumptions are provided in Table 4.  

3. Spread  the total premium paid by  the group to each covered participant or dependent based on 
expected claims.   The medical claims cost curve  is used to spread the total premium dollars paid 
by the group to each participant reflecting their age, gender, or other relevant category.  After this 
step, the actuary has a schedule of expected claims costs for each age and gender for the current 
premium year.  It is these claims costs that are projected into the future by medical cost inflation 
assumptions when valuing expected future retiree claims. 

 
The methodology described above  is dependent on the data and methodologies used  in whatever study 
might  be  used  to  develop  claims  cost  curves  for  any  given  plan  sponsor.    These methodologies  and 
assumptions can be found in the referenced paper cited as a source in the valuation report.   

 



    
Other Post‐Employment Benefit Programs of the City of Sierra Madre 

Actuarial Valuation as of July 1, 2015 

 

 37

Addendum 2: Bickmore Mortality Projection Methodology 
 

Actuarial  standards  of  practice  (e.g.,  ASOP  35,  Selection  of  Demographic  and  Other  Noneconomic 
Assumptions  for  Measuring  Pension  Obligations,  and  ASOP  6,  Measuring  Retiree  Group  Benefits 
Obligations)  indicate that the actuary should reflect the effect of mortality  improvement (i.e.,  longer  life 
expectancies  in  the  future), both before and after  the measurement date. The development of credible 
mortality  improvement  rates  requires  the analysis of  large quantities of data over  long periods of  time. 
Because  it would  be  extremely  difficult  for  an  individual  actuary  or  firm  to  acquire  and  process  such 
extensive amounts of data, actuaries typically rely on large studies published periodically by organizations 
such as the Society of Actuaries or Social Security Administration.  
 
As noted  in  a  recent actuarial  study on mortality  improvement,  key principals  in developing a  credible 
mortality improvement model would include the following:  

(1) Short‐term mortality improvement rates should be based on recent experience.  

(2) Long‐term mortality improvement rates should be based on expert opinion.  

(3)  Short‐term mortality  improvement  rates  should blend  smoothly  into  the  assumed  long‐term 
rates over an appropriate transition period. 

 
The  Bickmore  Scale  2014  was  developed  from  a  blending  of  data  and methodologies  found  in  two 
published sources: (1) the Society of Actuaries Mortality Improvement Scale MP‐2014 Report, published in 
October  2014  and  (2)  the  demographic  assumptions  used  in  the  2015 Annual  Report  of  the  Board  of 
Trustees  of  the  Federal Old‐Age  and  Survivors  Insurance  and  Federal Disability  Insurance  Trust  Funds, 
published July 2015. 
  
Bickmore Scale 2014  is a  two‐dimensional mortality  improvement  scale  reflecting both age and year of 
mortality  improvement.    The  underlying  base  scale  is  Scale MP‐2014  which  has  two  segments  –  (1)  
historical  improvement  rates  for  the period 1951‐2007 and  (2) Scale MP‐2014’s best estimate of  future 
mortality  improvement  for years 2008 and  thereafter.   The Bickmore scale uses  the same  improvement 
rates as the MP‐2014 scale during the historical period 1951‐2007.    In addition, the Bickmore scale uses 
Scale MP‐2014’s best estimate of future mortality improvement for years 2008‐2010.  The Bickmore scale 
then  transitions  from  the  last  used  MP‐2014  improvement  rate  in  2010  to  the  Social  Security 
Administration (SSA) Intermediate Scale.  This transition to the SSA Intermediate Scale occurs linearly over 
the 10 year period 2011‐2020.  After this transition period, the Bickmore Scale uses the constant mortality 
improvement rate from the SSA  Intermediate Scale  from 2020‐2038. The SSA’s  Intermediate Scale has a 
final step down in 2039 which is reflected in the Bickmore scale for years 2039 and thereafter.  Over the 
ages 100 to 115, the SSA improvement rate is graded to zero. 
 
Scale MP‐2014 can be found at the SOA website and the projection scales used in the 2015 Social Security 
Administrations Trustees Report at the Social Security Administration website. 

 

 
 
 
 
 
 



    
Other Post‐Employment Benefit Programs of the City of Sierra Madre 

Actuarial Valuation as of July 1, 2015 

 

 38

Glossary 
 

Actuarial  Accrued  Liability  (AAL)  –  Total  dollars  required  to  fund  all  plan  benefits  attributable  to 
service rendered as of the valuation date for current plan members and vested prior plan members; 
see “Actuarial Present Value” 
 
Actuarial Funding Method – A procedure which calculates the actuarial present value of plan benefits 
and  expenses,  and  allocates  these  expenses  to  time  periods,  typically  as  a  normal  cost  and  an 
actuarial accrued liability 
 
Actuarial  Present  Value  Projected  Benefits  (APVPB)  –  The  amount  presently  required  to  fund  all 
projected  plan  benefits  in  the  future,  it  is  determined  by  discounting  the  future  payments  by  an 
appropriate interest rate and the probability of nonpayment. 
 
Actuarial Value of Assets –The actuarial value of assets is the value used by the actuary to offset the 
AAL for valuation purposes. The actuarial value of assets may be the market value of assets or may be 
based on a methodology designed to smooth out short‐term fluctuations in market values. 
 
Aggregate – An actuarial  funding method under which  the excess of  the actuarial present value of 
projected benefits over the actuarial accrued liability is levelly spread over the earnings or service of 
the  group  forward  from  the  valuation  date  to  the  assumed  exit  date,  based  not  on  individual 
characteristics but rather on the characteristics of the group as a whole  
 
Annual  Required  Contribution  (ARC)  –  The  amount  the  employer  would  contribute  to  a  defined 
benefit OPEB plan for a given year, it is the sum of the normal cost and some amortization (typically 
30 years) of the unfunded actuarial accrued liability 
 
Annual OPEB  Expense –  The OPEB expense  reported  in  the Agency’s  financial  statement, which  is 
comprised of  three elements:  the ARC,  interest on  the net OPEB obligation at  the beginning of  the 
year and an ARC adjustment. 
 
Attained Age Normal Cost (AANC) – An actuarial funding method where, for each plan member, the 
excess of the actuarial present value of benefits over the actuarial accrued liability (determined under 
the unit credit method)  is  levelly spread over the  individual’s projected earnings or service  forward 
from the valuation date to the assumed exit date 
 
CalPERS – Many  state governments maintain a public employee  retirement  system; CalPERS  is  the 
California program, covering all eligible state government employees as well as other employees of 
other governments within California who have elected to join the system 
 
Defined Benefit  (DB) – A pension or OPEB plan which defines  the monthly  income or other benefit 
which the plan member receives at or after separation from employment 
 
Defined Contribution (DC) – A pension or OPEB plan which establishes an individual account for each 
member and specifies how contributions to each active member’s account are determined and the 
terms of distribution of the account after separation from employment 
 



    
Other Post‐Employment Benefit Programs of the City of Sierra Madre 

Actuarial Valuation as of July 1, 2015 

 

 39

Glossary (Continued) 
  
Discount Rate – The rate of return that could be earned on an investment in the financial markets; for 
GASB 45 purposes, the discount rate should be based on the expected long‐term yield of investments 
used to finance the benefits. The discount rate  is used to adjust the dollar value of future projected 
benefits into a present value equivalent as of the valuation date.  
 
Entry Age Normal Cost (EANC) – An actuarial funding method where, for each individual, the actuarial 
present  value of benefits  is  levelly  spread over  the  individual’s projected earnings or  service  from 
entry age to the last age at which benefits can be paid 
 
Excise Tax – The Affordable Care Act created a 40% excise tax on the value of “employer sponsored 
coverage” that exceeds certain thresholds.  The tax is first effective is 2020. 
 
Explicit Subsidy – The projected dollar value of  future  retiree healthcare costs expected  to be paid 
directly  by  the  Employer,  e.g.,  the  Employer’s  payment  of  all  or  a  portion  of  the monthly  retiree 
premium billed by the insurer for the retiree’s coverage 
 

Frozen Attained Age Normal Cost (FAANC) – An actuarial funding method under which the excess of 
the  actuarial  present  value  of  projected  benefits  over  the  actuarial  accrued  liability  (determined 
under the unit credit method) is levelly spread over the earnings or service of the group forward from 
the valuation date to the assumed exit date, based not on individual characteristics but rather on the 
characteristics of the group as a whole  
 

Frozen Entry Age Normal Cost (FEANC) – An actuarial funding method under which the excess of the 
actuarial present value of projected benefits over  the actuarial accrued  liability  (determined under 
the entry age normal cost method) is levelly spread over the earnings or service of the group forward 
from the valuation date to the assumed exit date, based not on  individual characteristics but rather 
on the characteristics of the group as a whole  
 

Financial Accounting  Standards Board  (FASB) – A private, not‐for‐profit organization designated by 
the Securities and Exchange Commission  (SEC)  to develop generally accepted accounting principles 
(GAAP) for U.S. public corporations 
 

Government  Accounting  Standards  Board  (GASB)  –  A  private,  not‐for‐profit  organization  which 
develops generally accepted accounting principles  (GAAP) for U.S. state and  local governments;  like 
FASB,  it  is  part  of  the  Financial  Accounting  Foundation  (FAF), which  funds  each  organization  and 
selects the members of each board 
 

Health Care Trend – The assumed rate(s) of increase in future dollar values of premiums or healthcare 
claims,  attributable  to  increases  in  the  cost  of  healthcare;  contributing  factors  include  medical 
inflation, frequency or extent of utilization of services and technological developments.      
 
Implicit Subsidy – The projected difference between  future  retiree  claims and  the premiums  to be 
charged for retiree coverage; this difference results when the claims experience of active and retired 
employees are pooled together and a ‘blended’ group premium rate  is charged for both actives and 
retirees; a portion of the active employee premiums subsidizes the retiree premiums.   

 



    
Other Post‐Employment Benefit Programs of the City of Sierra Madre 

Actuarial Valuation as of July 1, 2015 

 

 40

Glossary (Concluded)  
 
Net OPEB Obligation (Asset) ‐ The net OPEB obligation (NOO) represents the accumulated shortfall of 
OPEB funding since GASB 45 was implemented. If cumulative contributions have exceeded the sum of 
the prior years’ annual OPEB expenses, then a net OPEB asset results. 
 

Non‐Industrial  Disability  (NID)  –  Unless  specifically  contracted  by  the  individual  Agency,  PAM 
employees are assumed to be subject to only non‐industrial disabilities. 
 

Normal Cost – Total dollar value of benefits expected to be earned by plan members  in the current 
year, as assigned by the chosen funding method; also called current service cost 
 

Other Post‐Employment Benefits  (OPEB) – Post‐employment benefits other  than pension benefits, 
most  commonly healthcare benefits but also  including  life  insurance  if provided  separately  from a 
pension plan 
 

Pay‐As‐You‐Go (PAYGO) – Contributions to the plan are made at about the same time and  in about 
the same amount as benefit payments and expenses coming due 
 

PEMHCA  –  The  Public  Employees’  Medical  and  Hospital  Care  Act,  established  by  the  California 
legislature  in  1961,  provides  community‐rated medical  benefits  to  participating  public  employers. 
Among  its extensive  regulations are  the  requirements  that a contracting Agency contribute  toward 
medical  insurance premiums  for  retired annuitants and  that a contracting Agency  file a  resolution, 
adopted by its governing body, with the CalPERS Board establishing any new contribution. 
 
Plan Assets – The value of cash and investments considered as ‘belonging’ to the plan and permitted 
to be used to offset the AAL for valuation purposes. To be considered a plan asset, GASB 45 requires 
(a)  the  assets  to  be  segregated  and  restricted  in  a  trust  or  similar  arrangement,  (b)  employer 
contributions  to  the  trust  to  be  irrevocable,  (c)  the  assets  be  dedicated  to  providing  benefits  to 
retirees  and  their  beneficiaries,  and  (d)  that  the  assets  be  legally  protected  from  creditors  of  the 
employer and/or plan administrator. See also “Actuarial Value of Assets” 
 
Projected Unit Credit (PUC) – An actuarial funding method where, for each  individual, the projected 
plan benefit is allocated by a consistent formula from entry date to assumed exit date 
 
Public Agency Miscellaneous (PAM) – Non‐safety public employees. 
 
Select and Ultimate – Actuarial assumptions which  contemplate  rates which differ by  year  initially 
(the select period) and then stabilize at a constant long‐term rate (the ultimate rate) 
 
Unfunded Actuarial Accrued Liability  (UAAL) – The excess of  the actuarial accrued  liability over  the 
actuarial value of plan assets 
 
Unit  Credit  (UC)  ‐‐  An  actuarial  funding method where,  for  each  individual,  the  unprojected  plan 
benefit is allocated by a consistent formula from entry date to assumed exit date 
 
Vesting – As defined by the plan, requirements which when met make a plan benefit nonforfeitable 
on separation of service before retirement eligibility 



































































































































































































































LOS ANGELES COUNTYWIDE COMPREHENSIVE 
PARKS & RECREATION NEEDS ASSESSMENT

MAY 3, 2016

Los Angeles County
Department of Parks & Recreation



TECHNICAL ADVISORY 
COMMITTEE

»» Javier Aguilar
»» Lee Butterfield
»» Nick Franchino
»» Mark Greninger
»» Su Jin Lee
»» Weimin Li
»» Douglas Morales
»» Viktor Patiño

»» Patricia Pendleton

INCORPORATED CITIES OF 
LOS ANGELES COUNTY

»» Over 175 staff members in 86 cities

RESIDENTS OF LOS 
ANGELES COUNTY

»» Thousands of County residents shared 
their thoughts about parks in Los 
Angeles County

CONSULTANT TEAM
»»
»» GreenInfo Network
»» DakeLuna Consultants
»» David Taussig & Associates
»» MIG
»» Prevention Institute

ACKNOWLEDGMENTS
Many individuals and organizations contributed to the successful completion of the Los Angeles Countywide Parks and Recreation Needs Assessment. The efforts of those noted below are 
especially appreciated; please refer to the main report for more detailed acknowledgments. 

LOS ANGELES COUNTY 
BOARD OF SUPERVISORS

»» Hilda L. Solis, 1st District
»» Mark Ridley-Thomas, 2nd District
»» Sheila Kuehl, 3rd District
»» Don Knabe, 4th District

»» Michael D. Antonovich, 5th District

SUPERVISORIAL DISTRICT 
STAFF

»» Javier Hernandez, 1st District
»» Teresa Villegas, 1st District
»» Lacey Johnson, 2nd District 
»» Karly Katona, 2nd District
»» Maria Chong-Castillo, 3rd District
»» Erin Stibal, 4th District
»» Sussy Nemer, 5th District 

»» David Perry, 5th District

LOS ANGELES COUNTY 
PARKS AND RECREATION 
COMMISSION

»» Ed P. Reyes, 1st District
»» Mayisha Akbar, 2nd District
»» Bettina Duval, 3rd District
»» John Hsu, 4th District

»» William J. Korek, 5th District 

LOS ANGELES COUNTY 
DEPARTMENT OF PARKS 
AND RECREATION STAFF

»» John Wicker,  Director of Parks and 
Recreation

»» Norma E. Garcia, Deputy Director, 
Planning and Development Agency

»» Rita Robinson, Project Director 
»» Clement Lau, Departmental Facilities 

Planner ll 
»» Sheela Kleinknecht, Park Planner 

»» Over 100 staff members 

LOS ANGELES COUNTY 
REGIONAL PARK AND 
OPEN SPACE DISTRICT

»» Jane Beesley, District Administrator
»» Warren Ontiveros, Administration 

Section Manager

STEERING COMMITTEE
In memoriam: Steering Committee member 
Mary Kaufman, avid trail supporter and 
enthusiast.  

»» Greg Alaniz
»» Jane I. Beesley
»» Alina Bokde
»» Brad Bolger
»» William Warren Brien
»» John Bwarie
»» Scott Chan
»» Maria Chong-Castillo

»» Kimel Conway
»» Cheryl Davis
»» Reyna Diaz
»» Bettina Duval
»» Belinda V. Faustinos
»» Norma E. Garcia
»» Phil Hester
»» Michael Hughes
»» Lacey Johnson
»» John Jones
»» Amy Lethbridge
»» James Lott
»» Linda Lowry
»» Michael McCaa
»» Sandra McNeill
»» Martha Molina-Aviles
»» Veronica Padilla
»» Ronda Perez
»» David Perry
»» Adriana Pinedo
»» Jennifer Pippard
»» Ed P. Reyes
»» Barbara Romero
»» Jeff Rubin
»» Bruce Saito
»» Harry Saltzgaver
»» Dr. Paul Simon, MD
»» Keri Smith
»» Christopher Solek
»» Erin Stibal
»» Teresa Villegas



3

EXECUTIVE SUMMARY
In March 2015, the Los Angeles County Board of Supervisors approved a 
motion to initiate the Countywide Comprehensive Parks and Recreation Needs 
Assessment.  This represents an unprecedented effort to document existing 
parks and recreation facilities in cities and unincorporated communities and to 
use these data to determine the scope, scale, and location of park need in Los 
Angeles County.

The Parks Needs Assessment will help local officials, park agencies, and 
residents understand the future steps that need to be taken to ensure all 
communities have adequate access to thriving parks. 

Park projects in Los Angeles County are currently funded in part by Proposition 
A, the Safe Neighborhoods Park Tax that is set to expire in 2019. Once this 
tax sunsets, funding for park projects will be greatly reduced. The results of 
the Parks Needs Assessment will help inform planning and decision-making 
regarding future funding.

In initiating the Parks Needs Assessment, the Board of Supervisors has 
affirmed the importance of parks as essential infrastructure in the County.  
Healthy, safe communities have thriving parks that contribute to public health 
and well-being, create a sense of place, increase community cohesion, 
improve the environment, and boost the economy.

A NEW PARADIGM
The Parks Needs Assessment proposes a new way to understand 
 and think about parks, recreation, and open space by:

Considering parks as key infrastructure needed to maintain and 
improve the quality of life for all County residents  

Using a new series of metrics to determine park need  

Supporting a need-based allocation of funding for parks and 
recreation

Emphasizing both community priorities and deferred 
maintenance projects

PU
B

LI
C 

HEALTH & WELL-BEIN
G

CO
M

MUNITY COHESION

EC
ON

OMIC DEVELOPM
EN

T

SENSE OF PLACE

PARKS

ENVIRONMENT



4

INITIATION 
The Board of Supervisors launched the Parks Needs Assessment in March 2015, giving the County Department of 
Parks and Recreation 16 months to complete the task. The work was guided by both a Steering Committee and a 
Technical Advisory Committee (TAC). The Steering Committee’s 40 members were appointed by the Board offices 
and included representatives from cities, advocacy groups, and community-based organizations; subject matter 
experts; and community members at large. The Steering Committee provided insight on key issues, including 
dividing the County into Study Areas, and the 188 approved Study Areas were used for many of the analyses. The 
TAC provided review of GIS and mapping methodology at key points of the project.

INVENTORY 
Accurate data about the size and location of all existing parks in the county were 
critical to completing the Parks Needs Assessment. These data were not available in 
a single database; therefore, the Department of Parks and Recreation collaborated 
with 86 cities to complete the first ever Countywide inventory of existing parks.

3,023
PARKS INVENTORIED

9,472
AMENITIES INVENTORIED



5

PARKS & OPEN SPACE INVENTORY
Four types of parks and open spaces were identified as means to categorize the facilities inventoried during the Parks 
Needs Assessment. This uniform categorization system ensured an “apples to apples” comparison among facilities 
and Study Areas.  The four categories are specific to the Parks Needs Assessment, and differ from the categories 
used in cities and by other agencies in the County. For the inventory, specialized facilities serving the entire County 
or specific sub-regions, such as arboreta, amphitheaters, and wilderness parks were included in the category that 
covered their specific characteristics, and only if they were part of a park or open space area. 

LOCAL PARKS are under 100 acres and contain active amenities such as athletic courts and fields, 
playgrounds, and swimming pools. Local parks identified in the inventory are sometimes called 
community parks or regional parks by the agencies that operate them. These parks are included in the 
analysis of all park metrics. 1,602 INVENTORIED

REGIONAL RECREATION PARKS are over 100 acres and contain active amenities such as athletic courts 
and fields, playgrounds, and swimming pools. Locally-administered “regional parks” under 100 acres  in 
size are not included in this category, and are included as local parks in the inventory instead.  Regional 
Recreation Parks are included in the analysis of all park metrics, and were subject to a separate facility 
review process due to their large size and regional importance. 17 INVENTORIED

REGIONAL OPEN SPACE includes facilities that are more than 5 acres and generally contain only 
passive amenities such as visitor centers, trails, picnic shelters, or restrooms. These facilities are not 
included in the analysis of any individual park metric, but are included in the analysis of park need.  
329 INVENTORIED

NATURAL AREAS are generally larger than 100 acres and contain no reported amenities. These facilities 
are not included in any of the needs analyses of the Parks Needs Assessment.  1,075 INVENTORIED

367 
Unique 
Amenities*

* Unique amenities include equestrian 
arenas, volleyball courts, amphitheaters, 
community gardens, concession stands, 
gazebos, etc.

940
Basketball Courts

1,022
Tennis Courts

1,068
Baseball Fields

424 
Soccer Fields

510 
Multipurpose Fields

1,251 
Picnic Shelters

1,190
Restrooms

187 
Gymnasiums

373
Fitness Zones

96 
Skate Parks

1,452 
Playgrounds

218 
Swimming Pools

90 
Community Rec 
Centers

518 
Senior Centers

51 
Dog Parks

82
Splash Pads

LOCAL PARKS
15,723 acres

REGIONAL RECREATION PARKS
18,248 acres

REGIONAL OPEN SPACE
98,977 acres

NATURAL AREAS
768,699 acres



6

PARK METRICS
Park need is traditionally measured with a single metric, such as the number of acres of park land available to residents, or the 
percentage of residents living within walking distance of a park. Measuring only a single aspect of need provides a one-dimensional 
understanding of park need. The Steering Committee recognized that park need is affected by many variables and approved a suite 
of five metrics that produce a robust understanding of physical park needs in each Study Area and in the County:

3.3 acres
Local & Regional Recreation Park per 1,000 persons

of population Countywide
lives within 1/2 mile of a park 

of population Countywide
lives beyond 1/2 mile of a park 49% 51%

Tennis Courts 
11 per 100,000 residents
National Average: 46 per 100,000

Basketball Courts 
10 per 100,000 residents
National Average: 63.1 per 100,000

Baseball Fields 
11 per 100,000 residents
National Average: 14.6 per 100,000

Soccer Fields 
4 per 100,000 residents
National Average: 16.7 per 100,000

Multipurpose Fields 
5 per 100,000 residents
National Average: 50 per 100,000

Restrooms 
13 per 100,000 residents
National Average: 64.5 per 100,000

Picnic Shelters 
15 per 100,000 residents
National Average: 100 per 100,000

Gymnasiums 
2 per 100,000 residents
National Average: no data

Senior Centers 
15 per 100,000 residents
National Average: 10.3 per 100,000

Community Rec Centers 
5 per 100,000 residents
National Average: 10.3 per 100,000

Fitness Zones 
4 per 100,000 residents
National Average: no data

Skate Parks
1 per 100,000 residents
National Average: 1.9 per 100,000

Playgrounds 
15 per 100,000 residents
National Average: 45 per 100,000

Dog Parks 
1 per 100,000 residents
National Average: 3.6 per 100,000

Splash Pads 
1 per 100,000 residents
National Average: no data

Swimming Pools 
2 per 100,000 residents
National Average: 5.6 per 100,000

15.1%

28.6%

42.7% 51.1%

42.2%
18.1%

2.2% not reported

GOOD
                          FAIR            

    
   

   
  

  
  

  
  

  
 P

O
O

R

PARK 
INFRASTRUCTURE

G
O

O
D

                              F
AIR

   
   

  
  

  
  

  
  

  
   

POOR

PARK
AMENITIES

Low park 
pressure at

 20%  
of parks in  
the County  

High park 
pressure at  

80%  
of parks in 
 the County

M
or

e 
tha

n 3.3                                                    Less than 3.3

ACRES PER 
1,000

Park
Land

Park
Pressure

Park
Condition

Park
Access

Park
Amenities

� How much of the population has access to parks?

� What is the condition of the parks in the County?

� How much park land is in the County? � What park amenities are available in the County?� How much land is available to residents 
in the area around each park?



7

PARK NEED
The results of the analysis of the five park 
metrics were combined to determine an overall 
park need level for each Study Area. This 
approach creates a framework for assessing park 
need from a Countywide perspective.

Very 
High

3.3
County 

Average

0.7

High

1.6

Moderate

11.5

Low

12.5

Very 
Low

52.0

� Population in Each Need Category*

� Average Acres per 1,000 
Residents in Each Need Category

26.2%
Moderate

4.6%
Very Low

20.4%
High

16.5%
Low

32.2%
Very High

*0.1% Not Participating

POPULATION



8

COMMUNITY PROFILE
A community profile summarizing demographic, health, and environmental information was completed in each Study Area to supplement park metrics. 
*Data sources for demographic information:  2014 Los Angles County Age/Race/Gender Population Estimates; US EPA Smart Location Database; Los Angeles County Poverty Estimates, 2013; and the US Census American Community Survey 5 Year Estimates, 2013

48%
Latino

14%
Asian

9%
African-

American

28%
Caucasian

0.2%
Native American

0.2%
Pacific Islander

POPULATION

� Population by Race/Ethnicity*

*Total is less than 100% due to rounding

� Population Distribution by Age

� Population at or below 200% Poverty Level

4% 81%

40% COUNTYWIDE AVERAGE

Lowest percentage reported 
in a single Study Area

Highest percentage reported 
in a single Study Area

0–9 yrs 10–17 yrs 18–24 yrs 25–54 yrs 55–65 yrs 65+ yrs

13% 10%

8% 41% 16% 12%

0% 87%

10% COUNTYWIDE AVERAGE

� Population without Vehicle Access

1% 56%

26% COUNTYWIDE AVERAGE

� Population in Linguistic Isolation



9

OZONE
Varying levels of ozone concentration 
throughout the County. 
*Data source: CalEnviroScreen 2.0, 2013.

PM 2.5
Concentration of particulate matter 2.5 
micrometers or less in diameter (PM 2.5) 
throughout the County. 
*Data source: CalEnviroScreen 2.0, 2013.

OBESITY
Percentage of obese fifth graders 
throughout the County. 
*Data source: Los Angeles County Department of Public 
Health, 2015.

ASTHMA
Number of emergency room visits for 
asthma treatments per 10,000 people per 
year.  
*Data source: CalEnviroScreen 2.0, 2013.

DIESEL EMISSIONS
Rates of diesel particulate matter emissions 
in Los Angeles County.
*Data source: CalEnviroScreen 2.0, 2013.

DIABETES
Diabetes death rate per 100,000 residents 
in the County.
*Data source: CalEnviroScreen 2.0, 2013.

POLLUTION BURDEN
Pollution scores, based on 12 pollution 
burden indicators. 
*Data source: CalEnviroScreen 2.0, 2013.

BICYCLE/PED. COLLISIONS
All collisions between automobiles/bicycles 
and automobiles/pedestrians. 
*Data source: Transportation Injury Mapping System SWITRS 
Collision Raw Data, 2003–2012



10

30K+ views
Project Website

1.1 million+ 
Social Media

2.5 million+ 
Traditional Media

23 de enero, 2016
2:00 PM

La Ciudad de El Monte Departamento de Parques, Recreación y Servicios Comunitarios

Este taller es patrocinado por la Evaluación Integral de las Necesidades de Parques y El Condado de Los Angeles.

Centro Comunitario de El Monte
3130 Tyler Avenue, El Monte

Asista a nuestra reunión en El Monte. 
Juntos crearemos una lista de prioridades para guiar los fondos del 

Condado destinados a parques durante la próxima década.

Para mayor informes:
El Departamento de Parques y Recreación
(626)580-2261 o (626) 580-2200

Serviremos almuerzo entre la
1:00 PM - 1:45 PM

 UNASE a nosotros y

participe en la CREACION
del FUTURO de

NUESTROS PARQUES!

!

COMMUNITY ENGAGEMENT
A Countywide education and awareness effort informed residents about the Parks Needs Assessment and 
encouraged them to attend a community workshop in their Study Area. The effort included a robust media 
component, informational meetings, and a dedicated online presence.  

The lead agency in each Study Area was responsible for advertising its local workshop and was eligible 
for a $2,500 stipend to cover workshop costs. Each lead agency submitted a community engagement plan 
describing the efforts they would make to attract participants to its workshop and was given resources such 
as flyers, logos, and social media hashtags to assist. 

Translations of workshop and outreach materials were available in Spanish, Chinese, Korean, and Armenian 
and were strongly recommended for use in all Study Areas where 15% or more of the population is 
linguistically isolated. These four languages were selected because they are the dominant languages spoken 
by the linguistically isolated populations within the Study Areas meeting that criteria. 

COMMUNITY 
WORKSHOPS
Workshop facilitators attended an intensive 
training session and received a 50–page 
Facilitator Toolkit with Study Area–specific 
results of the analysis of the five park metrics, 
community profile information, templates, and 
other resources needed to host a successful 
workshop. 

Community Engagement Workshops were held 
for 178 Study Areas between December 2015 and 
February 2016.* At each workshop, participants 
reviewed their Study Area’s specific park metrics, 
generated a list of potential park projects, and 
prioritized those projects.
*Ten cities, comprising ten Study Areas, elected not to hold 
a workshop.

� Population reached via media � Number of Study Areas  
meeting criteria for translation 
recommendation

78
12

2

1

Study Areas 
in Spanish

Study Areas 
in Chinese

Study Areas 
in Armenian

Study Area 
in Korean



11

Review existing 
parks and metrics.

Develop 
comprehensive list of 
potential projects.

Prioritize top ten park 
projects.

PRIORITIZED 
PROJECTS 
Community members at all workshops identified 
the top ten local park projects in their Study 
Area. Prioritized projects included repairing or 
replacing amenities in existing parks, adding new 
amenities to existing parks, and constructing new 
parks. Additional projects were prioritized by the 
managing agencies of regional recreation parks, 
regional specialty facilities, and open space/
nature centers. 

COST ESTIMATE 
Cost estimates were developed for the prioritized projects from 
each community workshop and for all deferred maintenance projects 
using a standardized set of costs developed with input from several 
agencies and cost estimators with extensive experience throughout 
Los Angeles County. Costs for deferred maintenance projects 
prioritized by local communities are included in the cost of prioritized 
projects, and not in the costs for deferred maintenance. Cost 
estimates for prioritized projects in regional recreation parks (included 
in the prioritized projects cost) and specialized facilities were 
furnished by each managing agency. All cost estimates were summed 
to provide a rough order-of-magnitude estimate of the cost needed to 
implement prioritized projects and catch up on deferred maintenance. 

� Community Workshops Flow Chart

$21.5
 billion

$8.8 
billion $0.7  

billion 

Specialized 
Facilities

$12  
billion 

Deferred 
Maintenance

Prioritized 
Projects



12

WHERE DO WE GO FROM HERE?
The Parks Needs Assessment lays the groundwork for making important planning and funding 
decisions in Los Angeles County. Most importantly, it provides the County, its jurisdictions, and all 
residents of Los Angeles County with a wealth of parks-related information and opportunities.

VALUABLE DATA
The data in the Parks Needs Assessment provide a clear picture of the current scope, scale, and 
location of park need in Los Angeles County.  For the first time, a single source provides information 
regarding parks and park infrastructure across the entire County. This information helps us to 
understand the challenges facing our communities and may be used to seek funding and support 
for parks, inform staffing and programming decisions, and focus outreach efforts.

ONGOING UPDATES
The County will seek to keep data in the Parks Needs Assessment up to date, in order to continue 
identifying new needs and to track progress toward addressing already-identified needs.  

 FUNDING DECISIONS 
With comprehensive information regarding existing parks and the need for new parks, amenities, 
and repairs, the County is well prepared to develop a funding measure for park and open space 
projects that will provide funding streams for improvements in the short, medium, and long term.  
Local, state, and federal funds can also be leveraged to enhance park and open space funding.

EQUITABLE ALLOCATION
The comprehensive data in the Parks Needs Assessment can be used to allocate funds to meet 
identified needs in ways that emphasize areas with high to very high park need while also 
addressing the specific needs of every jurisdiction and community in the County.

A NATIONAL MODEL
The Parks Needs Assessment serves as a model for a clear, replicable process that other 
jurisdictions across the country can use when they assess their regionwide park facilities and 
needs.. 

NEW SOLUTIONS TO PROVIDE NEEDED PARKS
The Parks Needs Assessment shows that there are many areas in the County with high park need 
and a lack of vacant land for new traditional parks. Local agencies will need to find innovative 
solutions to provide essential park infrastructure by using underutilized land, utility corridors, 
alleys, and other public lands.  Additionally, creative partnerships, such as joint use and reuse 
with schools, hospitals, libraries, and other facilities, should be considered in order to expand park 
opportunities and meet recreational needs.









CONSERVATION FINANCE FEASIBILITY STUDY, JANUARY 2016 

LOS ANGELES COUNTY, CALIFORNIA 

Attachment #1





 
 

LOS ANGELES COUNTY :: CONSERVATION FINANCE FEASIBILITY STUDY :: JANUARY 2016                                                  

 
 

 

       

 TRUST FOR PUBLIC LAND :: RESEARCH DEPARTMENT 

 

1 

TABLE OF CONTENTS   
 

 

Executive Summary 2 

Introduction 3 

Parcel Tax Options 4 

Recommendation and Next Steps 6 

Appendices 8 

District Overview 8 

Elections 9 

Parcel tax summary 11 

Local Public Finance in California 12 

Uniformity and exemptions – legal challenge 16 

 

 

  



 
 
LOS ANGELES COUNTY  :: CONSERVATION FINANCE FEASIBILITY STUDY :: JANUARY 2016 
                                                  

 
 

     TRUST FOR PUBLIC LAND :: RESEARCH DEPARTMENT 2 

EXECUTIVE SUMMARY 
• The Trust for Public Land (TPL) is a national nonprofit with expertise on public finance 

measures for parks and open space. TPL has been involved in close to 500 successful 
ballot measures throughout the country, raising over $57 billion in much needed funds for 
park priorities and land conservation. 

• The Los Angeles County Board of Supervisors directed the Regional Parks and Open 
Space District to research potential funding mechanisms to fund the park priorities that 
will result from the Countywide Comprehensive Park and Recreation Needs Assessment 
Report. The two types of funding under consideration are a “uniform amount flat rate” 
parcel tax and a “uniform amount square footage” parcel tax. 

• These two options are both legally and politically feasible. Either option can include a 
provision for the Board of Supervisors to change the rate on a yearly basis based on 
changes in the Consumer Price Index.  While a uniform amount flat rate tax is more 
common, communities within Los Angeles County have used both of these funding 
options including various school district flat rate parcel taxes and the countywide square 
footage based “Trauma Tax”. 

• A tax based on square footage is more similar to the District’s existing and expired 
assessments than the flat per parcel tax, as larger parcels pay a higher percentage of the 
overall revenue.  

• Funding levels have not increased since 1996, while the population and park assets have 
increased, leading to significant challenges. A parcel tax based on square footage can come 
closer to accommodating the urgent needs for increasing park access and maintaining safe 
and clean existing parks.   

• In addition a parcel tax based on square footage means that multi-unit properties (with 
more residents using parks and recreational services) are paying more than single family 
homes of a similar per unit size. Larger businesses with more employees who benefit from 
the increased access to parks will pay a higher share than a single family home as well. 

• Initial polling shows robust support for a uniform amount square footage parcel tax. 
• The Trust for Public Land recommends moving forward with preparing to place a 

uniform amount square footage parcel tax on the ballot for voter consideration.  
• We also recommend that, once the Needs Assessment Report is complete, the Board 

conduct further public opinion research to test assumptions related to the willingness to 
pay, refine ballot language and understand how voters view the priorities identified by the 
Needs Assessment Report. 
 

  



 
 

LOS ANGELES COUNTY :: CONSERVATION FINANCE FEASIBILITY STUDY :: JANUARY 2016                                                  

 
 

 

       

 TRUST FOR PUBLIC LAND :: RESEARCH DEPARTMENT 

 

3 

INTRODUCTION 
The Trust for Public Land (TPL) is a national nonprofit organization dedicated to conserving land 
for people to enjoy as parks, gardens, and natural areas. Since 1996, TPL has been involved in 
nearly 500 successful ballot measures and twenty successful legislative campaigns that have created 
more than $57 billion in new funding for land conservation. Voters have approved 81 percent of 
the ballot measures supported by The Trust for Public Land.    
 
Overall, voter support of local conservation finance measures in California has been mixed. 
Roughly 61 percent of local conservation finance measures (53 of 87) on the ballot in California 
between 1990 and 2014 were approved. Success at the ballot is hampered in the state by the high 
approval threshold (2/3rds of the vote) required for local bond and special tax measures. The 
Trust for Public Land and its affiliate The Conservation Campaign1 have supported 19 local 
conservation finance measures in California, 15 of which were approved (78 percent).   

This brief report examines several mechanisms for generating and dedicating local revenue for 
parks in Los Angeles County.2 As these options require voter approval, the report also contains a 
summary of the pathways to the ballot. This research provides a stand-alone, fact-based reference 
document that can be used to evaluate available financing mechanisms from an objective vantage 
point. Combined with public opinion research testing ballot language, tax tolerance, and program 
priorities, this report provides Los Angeles County with a recommended option for moving 
forward. 

In August 2015, the Los Angeles County Board of Supervisors directed the Department of Parks 
and Recreation through the Regional Parks and Open Space District (the District) to research 
potential funding mechanisms to support parks creation and operations the county. The District 
has primarily been funded by two benefit assessments which generated approximately $80 million 
annually. The 1992 assessment expired in FY 2014-15, and the 1996 assessment will end in FY 
2018-19, leading to an urgent need for funding to provide safe, well-maintained parks for the 
growing population of Los Angeles County. The Countywide Comprehensive Park and Recreation 
Needs Assessment Report (Needs Assessment Report) currently underway will provide essential 
details regarding funding needs, to help make a final decision on the potential measure’s amount. 
The options are summarized briefly below and in the appendices. 

Funding Options under consideration: Los Angeles County is considering two different 
models for a special per-parcel tax to support parks and open space acquisition and operations. 
For information on other funding mechanisms and why they are not appropriate for this effort 
please see Appendix D.  

The two types of parcel taxes under consideration are “uniform amount flat rate” and “uniform 
amount square footage” parcel taxes. In Los Angeles County, a flat $34 per parcel tax levied on 
all property countywide would generate approximately $80 million in annual revenue – roughly 
equivalent to the total 2014 annual revenues from the District’s two benefit assessments – an 

                                                 
1 The Conservation Campaign (TCC) is a non-profit 501(c)(4) organization affiliated with TPL.  
2 The contents of the report are based on information available at the time of research and drafting (Fall 2015). 



 
 
LOS ANGELES COUNTY  :: CONSERVATION FINANCE FEASIBILITY STUDY :: JANUARY 2016 
                                                  

 
 

     TRUST FOR PUBLIC LAND :: RESEARCH DEPARTMENT 4 

amount that has not increased in 20 years, while costs have continued to rise. A tax of 3 cents per 
square foot (0.03) would generate approximately $191 million and would cost the average single-
family homeowner about $45 per year. A summary of these options can be found in Appendix C.  

A tax based on square footage more closely resembles the District’s existing and expired 
assessments than the flat per parcel tax in that it imposes higher taxes on larger parcels. This 
structure is less commonly used in California. However, Los Angeles County successfully 
implemented a square footage tax as its “Trauma Tax”, passed by voters in 2002.This report 
provides more detail on the differences and benefits of each of these models and recommends a 
preferred model based on the information available.  

 

 

PARCEL TAX – TWO OPTIONS 
A parcel tax is a type of excise tax that is based on either a flat per-parcel rate or a rate that is 
based upon the use, size, and/or number of units on each parcel. The two most common types of 
parcel taxes are “uniform amount flat rate” and “uniform amount square footage” parcel taxes. 
Generally, state law requires that special district parcel taxes apply uniformly to all types of 
property. Some jurisdictions also include exemptions for parcels owned by seniors, low income 
households, and taxpayers with disabilities.3  However, due to the lack of clarity in the enabling 
legislation for special districts, we would not recommend proposing exemptions at this time. More 
information on the legal questions around exemptions can be found in Appendix E. 

A parcel tax must be adopted as a special tax, requiring 2/3rds voter approval.4 Parcel taxes are 
used to provide various local government and school services. Since 1990, nine communities have 
passed a parcel tax for land conservation and open space purposes. Most recently, voters in the 
Santa Clara County Open Space Authority approved a $24 per parcel tax for 15 years to improve 
parks, open spaces and trails and to protect land, water quality and wildlife habitat. In 2012, the 
Santa Monica Mountains Recreation and Conservation Authority and the Woodland Hills, Encino, 
and Tarzan Mountains Recreation and Conservation Authority asked voters to approve a parcel 
tax of $24/year and $19/year, respectively. 

Most parcel taxes are uniform amount flat rate taxes –that is, the same regardless of the parcel’s 
size or use. From 2002 to 2012, flat rate taxes represented 86 percent of the 389 parcel taxes 
proposed by school districts, 51 percent of those proposed by cities, and 75 percent of those 
proposed by special districts. The median rate was $96 per parcel. Among cities that enacted flat-
rate parcel taxes during this period, the median was $60 per parcel.  
 

                                                 
3 California Taxpayers Association. March 2013. “The Other Property Tax: an Overview of Parcel Taxes in California.”    
http://www.caltax.org/ParcelTaxPolicyBrief.pdf 
4 Sonstelle, Jon. Parcel Taxes as a Local Revenue Source in California. Public Policy Institute of California. April 2015, 4. 
http://www.ppic.org/content/pubs/report/R_415JSR.pdf. 
In 1988, the California Court of Appeals ruled that any general tax on property must be based on the value of property and thus fall 
under the Proposition 13 limit. A special tax need not be based on value, however. Therefore, all parcel taxes are special taxes, requiring 
a two-thirds vote, a ruling codified by Proposition 218 in 1996. 



 
 

LOS ANGELES COUNTY :: CONSERVATION FINANCE FEASIBILITY STUDY :: JANUARY 2016                                                  

 
 

 

       

 TRUST FOR PUBLIC LAND :: RESEARCH DEPARTMENT 

 

5 

From 2003 through 2012, special districts placed 238 parcel tax proposals on the ballot. Among 
the 193 proposals from special districts for which tax rate information was available, 142 proposed 
a flat rate for all parcels, 44 proposed to tax different land uses at different rates, and 7 proposed a 
tax on square footage. The median flat rate was $68 per parcel.5 Local governments are not 
required to include a sunset date for parcel taxes. About one-third of parcel taxes are imposed in 
perpetuity.6  

  

                                                 
5 Sonstelle, Jon. Parcel Taxes as a Local Revenue Source in California. Public Policy Institute of California. April 2015, 4.  
6 California Tax Foundation, September 2014. “Piecing Together California’s Parcel Taxes.”  



 
 
LOS ANGELES COUNTY  :: CONSERVATION FINANCE FEASIBILITY STUDY :: JANUARY 2016 
                                                  

 
 

     TRUST FOR PUBLIC LAND :: RESEARCH DEPARTMENT 6 

A Los Angeles County Example - the Trauma Tax 
The Los Angeles County Trauma Tax is a special tax, also 
known as Measure B, approved by voters on November 5, 
2002 by a 73 percent margin, beginning in fiscal year 2003-
2004. Measure B, initially levied at a rate of 3 cents per 
square foot of structural improvements, provides funding 
for the countywide system of trauma centers, emergency 
medical services, and bioterrorism response. The Board of 
Supervisors may, by majority vote, increase or decrease the 
tax rate. Increases to the tax rate are limited to the 
cumulative increases, if any, in the medical component of 
the Consumer Price index (CPI). For Fiscal Year 2015-2016, 
it is set at 4.24 cents per square foot of structural 
improvements on the property. For example, for a property 
with a 1,500 square feet house on it, 1,500 would be 
multiplied by $0.0424 resulting in an assessment of $63.60. 
Improvements used for parking are exempted from the 
assessment.7 The tax generated roughly $271 million in 
Fiscal Year 2014.8 It will continue in perpetuity. 

 
Options for Los Angeles County Parks 
Flat per-parcel tax 
Based on the number of taxable parcels in Los 
Angeles County (2,346,578), Los Angeles County 
would need to levy a flat $34 per parcel tax to 
generate roughly $80 million in annual revenue – 
roughly equivalent to the total 2014 annual revenues 
from the District’s two benefit assessments.9  In 
2014, Los Angeles County placed parcel tax measure 
on the November ballot to support development, 
acquisition, improvement, restoration and 
maintenance of parks, recreational, cultural and 
community facilities, and open space lands within the 
County. Proposition P authorized a $23 per parcel 
tax to replace the expiring (1992) assessment. The measure received 62 percent voter support but 
failed to meet the 2/3rds approval requirement. Based on this result, if the County wishes to place 
a similar flat tax on the ballot, more extensive public opinion research, including varying the 
amount of the tax, can provide insight into what voters are willing to support.  

  

                                                 
7 Los Angeles County Health Services website: Trauma Emergency Bioterrorism Response Assessment FAQs.  
8 County of Los Angeles 2014 Comprehensive Annual Financial Report, p. 145. 
9 Note, these figures are estimates. 

Estimated Revenue & Costs of Parcel Tax 
Revenue 

Generated* 
Total #               

of Parcels 
Annual Cost     
per Parcel 

$60,000,000  2,346,578 $26  

$80,000,000  2,346,578 $34  

$100,000,000  2,346,578 $42  

$120,000,000  2,346,578 $50  
2014 assessments totaled approximately $19.28 per 

single family residence (SFR) parcel and generated $78 
M per year. The 1992 (expired) assessment ($12.50 per 

SFR) generated roughly $50 M  

Ballot Language for Los Angeles 
County’s Measure B of the 
November 5, 2002, Election 
PRESERVATION OF TRAUMA 
CENTERS AND EMERGENCY 
MEDICAL SERVICES; 
BIOTERRORISM RESPONSE.  
To avoid the life‑threatening shutdown 
of Los Angeles County’s trauma 
network, maintain and expand the 
trauma network countywide, ensure 
more timely response to critical and 
urgent medical emergencies and 
respond effectively to biological or 
chemical terrorism, shall all property 
owners pay an annual tax of three 
cents per square foot of improvements 
(buildings) on developed property? 
Approved:  73% Yes 
Source: County of Los Angeles Official 
Sample Ballot and Voter Information booklet 
for the November 5, 2002, general election. 

 



 
 

LOS ANGELES COUNTY :: CONSERVATION FINANCE FEASIBILITY STUDY :: JANUARY 2016                                                  

 
 

 

       

 TRUST FOR PUBLIC LAND :: RESEARCH DEPARTMENT 

 

7 

Square-footage tax 
Alternatively, a special parcel tax could 
be levied as a uniform amount per 
square footage similar to the trauma 
tax. For example, a tax of 3 cents per 
square foot (0.03) would generate 
approximately $191 million annually 
and would cost the average single-
family homeowner about $45 per year.  

A tax based on square footage is more 
similar to the District’s existing and 
expired assessments than the flat per 
parcel tax as larger parcels pay a higher percentage of the overall revenue. Additionally, public 
opinion research conducted by LA County in December 2015 shows robust support for a measure 
of 3 cents per square foot. While the Needs Assessment Report has not been completed at this 
time, the population of Los Angeles County and costs related to building and maintaining the park 
infrastructure needed by the cities and communities have grown substantially as well since the 
original assessments were adopted, but there has been no corresponding increase in funding. 
Therefore a higher amount of revenue will need to be generated to reach the goal of the Board of 
Supervisors to fully fund the urgent needs identified by the Needs Assessment Report. 

 

Considerations for a Parcel Tax 
There are considerations with regard to equity for each of these parcel tax structures. A flat per-
parcel tax is the most common type of tax and straightforward for voters. This structure means 
that every property owner equally contributes to the benefits enjoyed by all of increased access to 
parks and open space. However that does mean that all property owners pay the same amount 
regardless of ability to pay. For example, with a flat per parcel tax, two parcels located within the 
boundaries of the same district would pay the same uniform-rate amount, regardless of whether 
the parcel includes a single family home or an apartment building with dozens of families. 

A tax based on square footage places a higher cost on large parcels, more closely approximating 
the ability to pay of the owner, within the limits of the law. This would also mean that multi-unit 
properties are paying more than single family homes of a similar per unit size. Larger businesses 
with more employees who also benefit from the increased access to parks will pay a higher rate 
than a single family home as well. However, because parcel taxes are prohibited by law charging 
variable rates based on value, this method is only a rough approximation of ability to pay.  

Proposing a tax with a relatively low annual cost, as described here, will help to minimize any 
potential hardship while providing essential funding to enhance local parks and recreation 
opportunities for residents of the communities throughout Los Angeles County.  

Estimated Revenue & Costs of Parcel Tax 

Revenue 
Generated* 

Total Square 
Footage 

Rate     
Cents/Sq.Ft. 

Annual Cost     
Avg. SFR* 

$95,527,500  6,368,500,000 1.5 $22.50  

$191,055,000  6,368,500,000 3 $45.00  

$222,897,500  6,368,500,000 3.5 $52.50  

$254,740,000  6,368,500,000 4 $60.00  
*Based on 1,500 square feet for a single family residence. According to the 

National Association of Home Builders' analysis of census data, the 
median size of single family residences in the Western U.S is 1,680 sq. ft.                  



 
 
LOS ANGELES COUNTY  :: CONSERVATION FINANCE FEASIBILITY STUDY :: JANUARY 2016 
                                                  

 
 

     TRUST FOR PUBLIC LAND :: RESEARCH DEPARTMENT 8 

RECOMMENDATIONS & NEXT STEPS 
This feasibility report is meant to inform the Los Angeles County Board of Supervisors and the 
Los Angeles County Regional Park and Open Space District in their consideration of new funding 
for parks and recreation opportunities by identifying potential funding mechanisms and 
determining the fiscal capacity and legal requirements of various approaches.  

Both models under consideration, a uniform amount flat rate parcel tax and a uniform amount 
square footage parcel tax, are feasible, would provide significant funding to the district, and are 
within the authority of the County to place on the ballot.  

Based on the analysis of this report, as well as initial polling results, our recommended option is 
the square footage parcel tax. This mechanism provides a more equitable method of raising funds 
within the limits of the law. Initial polling shows it is politically viable and that this mechanism is 
likely to more effectively meet the urgent funding needs identified by the Needs Assessment 
Report. Additionally, data gathered in a post-election survey of voters after the unsuccessful ballot 
measure in 2014 found that the flat-tax structure of Proposition P was a factor in deciding voting 
against the measure for around 3% of voters – a small number but close to the number needed to 
reach the 2/3 threshold. Alternatively, the Board could ask voters to approve a flat parcel tax. 

We recommend further public opinion research, once the Needs Assessment Report is complete 
for a more detailed assessment of willingness to pay, as well as to understand voter preferences for 
the priorities that arise from that assessment and to refine ballot language. 

Next steps should include: 

• Crafting an appropriate model for using the County’s taxing authority to place a measure 
on the ballot that will create a pass through funding source to the District. Consider 
amending the District’s authorizing legislation in the future to allow it to utilize additional 
finance mechanisms and allow for specific exemptions (e.g. seniors).  

• Identifying the total need for funding based on the park Needs Assessment Report being 
currently carried out by the County. 

• Identifying a preferred funding mechanism. 
• Conducting further public opinion research to assess the level of the recommended 

funding mechanism, test assumptions related to the willingness to pay, refine ballot 
language and test the priorities that come out of the Needs Assessment Report with 
voters. 

• Finalize the project priorities for the measure based on the most urgent needs and the 
amount voters are willing to support. 

• Finalize the ballot resolution including the funding mechanism and amount and the 75-
word ballot question. 

  



 
 

LOS ANGELES COUNTY :: CONSERVATION FINANCE FEASIBILITY STUDY :: JANUARY 2016                                                  

 
 

 

       

 TRUST FOR PUBLIC LAND :: RESEARCH DEPARTMENT 

 

9 

APPENDICES 
Appendix A 
District Overview 
Los Angeles Regional Park and Open Space District Formation 
The Los Angeles County Regional Park and Open Space District (District) was formed pursuant 
to the California Public Resources Code and the Landscaping and Lighting Act of 1972. The 
voters of Los Angeles County created the District when they approved Proposition A in the 
November 3, 1992, General Election. Proposition A authorized an annual assessment on nearly all 
of the 2.30 million parcels of real property in the county. The measure provided $540 million for 
the acquisition, restoration or rehabilitation of real property for parks and park safety, senior 
recreation facilities, gang prevention, beaches, recreation, community or cultural facilities, trails, 
wildlife habitats, or natural lands, and maintenance and servicing of those projects.  

On November 5, 1996, the county’s voters approved another Proposition A to fund an additional 
$319 million of parks and recreation projects and additional funds for maintenance and servicing 
of those projects.  

The District is governed by the County of Los Angeles Board of Supervisors with the District’s 
day-to-day operations administered by the County Department of Parks and Recreation. 

Revenue 
The District’s primary revenue source has been the assessments. Annual assessment revenue was 
approximately $80.5 million in 2014. The 1992 measure levied an assessment of approximately 
$12.50 per single family home10 and generated roughly 65 percent of the annual assessment 
income (about $50 million). The assessments rates are “static” and do not include any provision 
for cost-of-living or inflation increases. The District does not receive any funding from the Los 
Angeles County general fund. The 1992 assessment expired in FY 2014-15, and the 1996 
assessment will end in FY 2018-19. Total revenue through the end of both assessments is 
estimated at $1.72 billion. 

Los Angeles County Regional Park and Open Space District 
Proposition Per HH % of total Est. Revenue Expiration 

1992 Assessment $12.50 65% $52,297,000.00  FY2014-15 

1996 Assessment $6.78 35% $28,737,000.00  FY2018-19 

  $19.28   $81,034,000.00    

Revenue forecast through end of assessments: $1.725 billion 

                                                 
10 Actual rates are benefit assessments for each property based on a complex formula that includes property type, lot size and proximity 
to parks among other factors.  



 
 
LOS ANGELES COUNTY  :: CONSERVATION FINANCE FEASIBILITY STUDY :: JANUARY 2016 
                                                  

 
 

     TRUST FOR PUBLIC LAND :: RESEARCH DEPARTMENT 10 

Appendix B 
Elections  
As mentioned earlier in this report, roughly 60 percent of local conservation finance measures (52 
of 86) on the ballot in California between 1990 and 2014 were approved. 

 

Source: Trust for Public Land, LandVote database. Includes only measures with some funding for land acquisition. 

Jurisdiction Name Date Description
Finance 

Mechanism
Total Funds 
Approved

Conservation 
Funds Approved

% Yes

Midpeninsula Regional Open 
Space District

Jun-14
Bond for open space preservation and habitat 
restoration

Bond $174,000,000 $174,000,000 68%

Novato Apr-14 Bond to protect meadow from development Bond $600,000 $600,000 95%
California Nov-14 Bond to protect water quality, supply and infrastructuBond $1,500,000,000 $1,500,000,000 67%

San Luis Obispo Nov-14
8-year, .5 percent sales tax extension for essential 
services including open space acquisition and 
maintenance

Sales tax $2,600,000 $2,600,000 70%

Santa Clara County Open Space 
Authority

Nov-14
15-year. $24 parcel tax for open space, wildlife habitat, 
farmland and other natural areas

Other $43,500,000 $43,500,000 68%

Marin County Nov-12
9-year, .25 cent sales tax increase to fund parks, open 
space and farmland acquisitions

Sales tax $30,000,000 $30,000,000 74%

Mountains Recreation and 
Conservation Authority

Nov-12
10-year, $24 parcel tax for the protection of open 
space, habitat, and water quality in the east Santa 
Monica Mountains

Other $1,702,500 $1,702,500 76%

Mountains Recreation and 
Conservation Authority

Nov-12
10-year, $19 parcel tax for the protection of open 
space, habitat, and water quality in the west Santa 
Monica Mountains

Other $762,500 $762,500 69%

San Francisco Nov-12 Bond for park improvements and additions Bond $7,500,000 $7,500,000 72%

Portola Valley Nov-09
4-year, 2 percent utility tax renewal for open space 
purchases

Other $984,000 $984,000 66%

East Bay Regional Park District Nov-08
Bond for the purchase of parkland, trails, and other 
recreational land

Bond $500,000,000 $375,000,000 72%

Pasadena Oct-08
Creation of Annandale Canyon Open Space Benefit 
Assessment District

Benefit 
Assessme
nt

$1,364,090 $1,364,090 60%

San Francisco Feb-08 Bond for city park improvements Bond $185,000,000 $5,000,000 71%
San Juan Capistrano Nov-08 Bond for the purchase of open space Bond $30,000,000 $30,000,000 70%

Santa Clarita Jul-07
30-year, $25 assessment on property owners for the 
creation of the City of Santa Clarita Open Space and 
Parkland Preservation District

Benefit 
Assessme
nt

$46,683,000 $46,683,000 63%

California Nov-06
Prop 84, Parks and water bond to improve drinking 
water, flood control, protection of coastlines, and state 
parks

Bond $5,388,000,000 $2,253,000,000 54%

California Nov-06
Prop. 1C, Housing bonds which include funding for 
public park acquisition

Bond $2,850,000,000 $400,000,000 58%

California Nov-06
Proposition 1E, Bond for disaster preparedness and 
flood prevention which includes the acquisition of land

Bond $4,090,000,000 $290,000,000 64%

Claremont Nov-06 Bond for the purchase of Johnson's Pasture Bond $12,500,000 $12,500,000 71%

Orange County Nov-06

Measure M, 30-year extension of .5 cent sales tax for 
transportation purposes which includes funding for 
the preservation of areas of high ecological value 
including habitat

Sales tax $11,800,000,000 $244,000,000 70%

San Luis Obispo Nov-06
10-year, .5 cent local sales tax increase for essential 
services including the protection of open space

Sales tax $45,000,000 $11,250,000 65%

Santa Clara County Jun-06
12-year continuation of dedication of the equivalent of 
.01425 per $100 property tax for land acquisition, 
development, and maintenance of parkland

Other $368,400,000 $73,680,000 71%

Santa Monica Nov-06
$84 per single residential family unit parcel tax to 
implement the Watershed Management Plan

Parcel tax $47,000,000 $11,750,000 67%

Sonoma County Agricultural 
Preservation and Open Space 
District

Nov-06
20-year, continuation of a quarter-cent sales tax for 
open space, clean water, and farmland protection

Sales tax $340,000,000 $340,000,000 76%

Marinwood Community Services 
District

Mar-05
Measure D, $75 dollar increase to $150 on each land 
parcel for parks, open space, and street landscape 
maintenance

Parcel tax $5,200,000 $1,800,000 71%

Portola Valley Nov-05
4-year, extension of 2% utility tax to acquire and 
preserve open space

Other $800,000 $800,000 58%

California Conservation Finance Measures Approved by Voters - 2005 - 2015



 
 

LOS ANGELES COUNTY :: CONSERVATION FINANCE FEASIBILITY STUDY :: JANUARY 2016                                                  

 
 

 

       

 TRUST FOR PUBLIC LAND :: RESEARCH DEPARTMENT 

 

11 

 
Voter Registration  
Los Angeles County has 4,843,670 registered voters.  

Timing 

The established election dates in each year are as follows: 
- The second Tuesday of April in each even-numbered year, 
- The first Tuesday after the first Monday in March of each odd-numbered year, 
- The first Tuesday after the first Monday in June of each year, 
- The first Tuesday after the first Monday in November of each year. 

 
At least 88 days prior to the date of the election, the governing board must call for an election and 
set forth the exact form of any question, proposition, or office to be voted upon at the election, as 
it is to appear on the ballot.11 Deadlines for the November 2016 election are described in the table 
below. 

  
 
The November 2016 California ballot could be one of the most crowded in the past decade. Six 
statewide ballot propositions are currently eligible or qualified for the general election, but political 
strategists have identified at least 15 additional measures that are likely to go before voters next 
fall. 

 

                                                 
11 California Elections Code 10403 

Title Subject Description

Medi-Cal Hospital 
Reimbursement Initiative

Healthcare
Requires voter approval of changes to the hospital fee 
program

Multilingual Education Act Education
Repeals Prop 227 of 1998, thus allowing for bilingual 
education in public schools

Plastic Bag Ban Referendum Business
Ratifies SB 270, thus prohibiting plastic single-use 
carryout bags

Public Vote on Bonds Initiative
Elections and 
campaigns

Requires voter approval for projects that cost more 
than $2 billion funded by revenue bonds

Public Education Facilities 
Bond Initiative

Education
Authorizes issuance and sale of $9 billion in bonds for 
education and schools

Condoms in Pornographic 
Films Initiative

Adult entertainment
Requires the use of condoms in all pornographic films 
produced in California

Sources: Ballotpedia and California Secretary of State websites.

Qualified/Eligible Statewide Ballot Measures - California November 2016 Election

Date Action Taken CA Statute

August 12 Deadline to deliver resolution calling ballot measure election. (E-88) EC 10403

September 29 - October 18 Counties mail sample ballots and voter pamplet (E-40 to E-21) EC 13303-04; 13306

November 8 Election day EC 1000

November 2016 Election Dates



 
 
LOS ANGELES COUNTY  :: CONSERVATION FINANCE FEASIBILITY STUDY :: JANUARY 2016 
                                                  

 
 

     TRUST FOR PUBLIC LAND :: RESEARCH DEPARTMENT 12 

 
Appendix C:  Parcel Tax Summary  

Option Description and Generating Potential Process Considerations 

Special Tax 
(per parcel) 

 

 

 Flat per 
parcel tax 

Flat per-
square-
footage tax 

A parcel tax is a type of excise tax that usually is based on 
either a flat per-parcel rate or a rate that is based upon 
the size and/or number of units on each parcel. A parcel 
tax must be adopted as a special tax, and may be utilized by 
counties and special districts with the capacity to levy special 
taxes. 

In Los Angeles County, a flat $34 per parcel tax levied on all 
property countywide would generate roughly $80 million in 
annual revenue.  

A tax of 3 cents per square foot (0.03) would generate 
approximately $191 million and would cost the average 
single-family homeowner about $45 per year.  

These figures are only intended for illustration, county 
officials, assessors, and financial advisors would determine 
the exact structure and any exemptions for the tax. 

Requires 2/3rd approval 
by the Board of 
Supervisors and 2/3rd 
approval by county or 
district voters. 

 

Would create a dedicated 
funding source for parks and 
open space that could be used 
for acquisition as well as 
development and maintenance 
purposes. 

A flat tax is easier to 
understand – annual impact is 
known. Could raise equity 
concerns. 

A square-footage tax is more 
similar to the current 
assessments, it is less common 
and is modeled on the County’s 
Trauma Tax. 

State law is unclear as to 
exemptions. 

 



 
 

LOS ANGELES COUNTY :: CONSERVATION FINANCE FEASIBILITY STUDY :: JANUARY 2016                                                  

 
 

 

       

 TRUST FOR PUBLIC LAND :: RESEARCH DEPARTMENT 

 

13 

0

5

10

15

20

25

30

Bond Parcel Tax Benefit
Assmt

Sales Tax Other* Charter
Amdmnt

Conservation Finance Mechanisms in California

# Failed

# Passed

Mechanism # Passed # Failed % Passed

Bond 16 11 59%

Parcel Tax 9 12 43%

Benefit Assmt 12 3 80%

Sales Tax 7 5 58%

Other* 5 3 63%

Charter Amdmnt 3 0 100%

 *primarily utility taxes & occupancy taxes

Summary of local ballot measures from 1990 - 2014

Conservation Finance Mechanisms in California

Source: TPL's LandVote database.

Appendix D:  Other funding options  
Local Public Finance in California 
All taxes imposed by local governments in California are either general taxes or special taxes.12  
General taxes may be imposed only by local governments for general government purposes and 
not by special purpose districts, such as school districts. An imposition, extension or increase of 
any general tax requires the approval of a majority of voters at a regularly scheduled general 
election for members of the governing body. Revenues from general taxes are deposited into the 
General Fund. Special taxes are imposed for specific purposes by counties, cities and special 
districts, and any imposition; extension or increase of a special tax must be approved by a two-
thirds vote of the electorate.13 Special districts may not impose general taxes. Taxes imposed by 
special districts are special taxes. Revenues from special taxes are deposited into segregated 
accounts restricted to the use for which they were imposed and collected. 

The State of California authorizes communities to use various revenue sources for parks and 
recreation purposes including property-related taxes, sales and use taxes, general obligation bonds, 
the creation of financing districts that serve as financing mechanisms, and the creation of special 
districts.  Each of these funding mechanisms requires approval by the electorate (or landowners in 
the case of special districts). 

Roughly 60 percent of local conservation finance measures (52 of 86) on the ballot in California 
between 1990 and 2014 were approved. Success at the ballot is hampered somewhat in the state by 
the high approval threshold (2/3rds vote) required for local bond and special tax measures. For a 
list of successful land conservation measures, see Appendix A to this report.  

The legislation authorizing the Los Angeles Park and Open Space District (Section 5506.9 of the 
California Public Resources Code) clearly contemplates that the district would be funded by a 
countywide benefit assessment. Renewal or extension of the current District assessment is not 
feasible due to the Santa Clara County court decision.   
 

                                                 
12 Cal. Const. Art. XIIIC, Sect. 2 (Proposition 218, “the Right to Vote on Taxes Act,” 1996); Cal. Government Code §§53720-53730. 
13 See Cal. Government Code §§50075-50077.5 (containing additional requirements for voter-approved special taxes).  



 
 
LOS ANGELES COUNTY  :: CONSERVATION FINANCE FEASIBILITY STUDY :: JANUARY 2016 
                                                  

 
 

     TRUST FOR PUBLIC LAND :: RESEARCH DEPARTMENT 14 

Other finance mechanisms, such as special taxes and bonds, are authorized to regional park and 
open space districts under general law.  Specifically, Public Resources Code section 5566 states: “It 
is the intent of the Legislature to provide a district with the authority to impose special taxes.” 
However, the enabling legislation of the Los Angeles County Regional Park and Open Space 
District does not clearly delegate taxing authority to the District. Therefore, in the future, the 
County should consider an amendment to the enabling legislation to clarify the authority of the 
District to utilize other funding sources. In addition there are requirements for spending a certain 
portion of assessment revenue in the first 20 years (min. of 80 percent) on capital outlay projects, 
etc. The ballot resolution adopted by the Board of Supervisors authorizing a vote on any new 
funding stream will need to clearly outline spending allocations requires for a revenue that does 
not come from an assessment.  

 
Given that the District does not have explicit legal authority to levy its own tax, Los Angeles 
County is authorized to levy special taxes and may transfer revenues to the District provided that 
the ballot language for the tax and resolution are clear to that purpose. 
 
Counties have various mechanisms it can use for funding local priorities. Along with the two 
parcel tax options discussed in this report, other counties have used sales taxes and bonds to fund 
parks as well. Below is a summary of those alternatives and why they are not being considered for 
Los Angeles at this time. 

Sales and Use Tax  
In California, the state sales tax is currently 6.50 percent which provides revenues for the general 
fund, the local revenue fund, and the local public safety fund.14  In addition, counties and cities 
impose a uniform local 1.0 percent sales and use tax for a combined statewide rate of 7.50 
percent.15 Many of California’s cities, counties, towns, and communities have special taxing 
jurisdictions (districts), which may impose a transactions (sales) and use tax. These districts 
increase the tax rate in a particular area by adding the district tax to the statewide rate. The rates 
for these districts range from 0.10 percent to 1.00 percent per district. More than one district tax 
may be in effect in a given location.16   

In particular, local districts including counties may levy, increase or extend a transactions and use 
tax in increments of 0.125 percent. The ordinance authorizing the tax must be approved by 2/3rds 
of the governing body and either a majority or 2/3rds of voters depending upon whether revenues 
from the tax will be used for general or special purposes.17 A county tax may be levied in the entire 
county or in the unincorporated area of the county.18  

The total aggregate transactions and use taxes for all taxing districts in a county may not exceed 
two percent (for a total of 9.50 percent).19  The proceeds of the transactions and use tax for 

                                                 
14 Cal. Revenue and Taxation Code §6051, §6201; Cal. Const. Art. XIII, Sec. 35. 
15 Cal. Revenue and Taxation Code §7202(a), §7203 (“the Bradley-Burns Uniform Local Sales and Use Tax Law”). 
16 Cal. Revenue and Taxation Code §7202(a), §7203 Food for home consumption and utilities are exempted from sales and use taxes.. 
17 Cal. Revenue and Taxation Code §7285. 
18 Cal. Revenue and Taxation Code §7285. 
19 Id. at §7251.1. And http://info.sen.ca.gov/pub/bill/sen/sb_0551-0600/sb_566_cfa_20030910_013808_asm_floor.html. Prior to the 
passage of SB566 in 2003, cities had to first receive legislative approval to impose an additional sales tax.  

http://info.sen.ca.gov/pub/bill/sen/sb_0551-0600/sb_566_cfa_20030910_013808_asm_floor.html


 
 

LOS ANGELES COUNTY :: CONSERVATION FINANCE FEASIBILITY STUDY :: JANUARY 2016                                                  

 
 

 

       

 TRUST FOR PUBLIC LAND :: RESEARCH DEPARTMENT 

 

15 

specific purposes may be used to finance capital outlay expenditures through the issuance of 
bonds called limited tax bonds, which are explained in more detail later in this report.   

Currently there are 164 approved transactions and use tax rates in 142 jurisdictions imposed for 
uses including libraries, transportation, hospitals, road, and capital improvements.20 For example, 
Sonoma County imposes a 0.25 percent transaction and use tax to fund its agricultural 
preservation and open space authority. In 2012, voters in Marin County approved a 0.25 percent 
sales tax to support regional community parks projects and programs, and further farmland 
preservation. 

The sales tax in Los Angeles County 
The District does not have the authority to impose a sales tax, however the county has limited 
capacity to levy an additional transactions and use tax and spend the funds for parks and open 
space. Three cities21 are currently at the 2 percent aggregate tax limit; as such a countywide tax is 
not permissible. However, the county could seek approval from the legislature for authorization to 
levy a tax outside of the 2 percent maximum transaction and use tax limit. 

 
Using the sales tax for parks and open space 
There is a total sales tax capacity of 1.0 percent remaining in Los Angeles County in the 
unincorporated area under the 2.0 
percent limit. Therefore, the county 
could levy an additional transactions 
and use tax outside of the city 
boundaries and spend the funds for 
parks and open space. In order to 
dedicate the entire tax for this purpose 
the county would have to impose a 
special tax requiring a 2/3rds vote. 
The county could transfer revenue 
from the tax to the District.22  
 
Based on 2013 estimates of total 
taxable transactions ($20.7 billion),23 a 
1/4th cent (0.25 percent) transactions 
and use tax increase levied in the 
unincorporated county for parks and open space would generate an estimated $52 million annually 
at a cost to the average household of $47 each year. If the tax were levied countywide, with 
authorization from the Legislature, a 1/8th cent would generate $175 million. The minimum tax 
increment currently allowed under state law is 1/8th- cent. However, the county could seek 
approval from the legislature for a different increment. For example, a 1/16th cent (0.0625 percent) 

                                                 
20 From CaliforniaCityFinance.com, The Rise of Local Add On Taxes (Transaction and Use) in California, September 2013.. 
21 La Mirada, Pica Rivera, and South Gate, California Board of Equalization, BOE-105 REV. 4 (7-15) District Taxes and Effective Dates. 
22 Alternatively, a change in state law would be needed in order for the District to put a sales tax on the ballot as a special tax. 
23 California Board of Equalization, http://www.boe.ca.gov. 

 Sales Annual Household Spending on Annual Cost/

 Tax Revenue* Taxable Goods** Household

0.0625% $12,962,015 $19,000 $11.88

0.125% $25,924,030 $19,000 $23.75

0.250% $51,848,060 $19,000 $47.50

 Sales Annual Household Spending on Annual Cost/

 Tax Revenue* Taxable Goods** Household

0.0625% $87,549,818 $19,000 $11.88

0.125% $175,099,635 $19,000 $23.75

0.250% $350,199,270 $19,000 $47.50

**Average household spending on taxable items. LA County Econ. Dev. Corp. 
***Average household spending multiplied by est. # of households in the county (3.3 M).

Estimated Revenue and Cost of Transactions and Use Tax

*Estimates based on 2013 CA DOR total annual taxable sales of $20.7 billion unicorporated,

Unicorporated County

Countywide

 and $140 billion countywide. 



 
 
LOS ANGELES COUNTY  :: CONSERVATION FINANCE FEASIBILITY STUDY :: JANUARY 2016 
                                                  

 
 

     TRUST FOR PUBLIC LAND :: RESEARCH DEPARTMENT 16 

tax, if made permissible, would generate $88 million at a cost to the average household of $12 per 
year.   
 
Implementation process  
As with other California taxes, a transactions and use tax must obtain a majority vote if for general 
purposes and 2/3rds voter approval if for specific purposes.24 The California Board of 
Equalization recommends that any county or district contemplating a transactions and use tax 
should begin by contacting its Local Revenue Allocation Section. Staff will assist with the 
preparatory functions for placing a proposal on the ballot to ensure the tax ordinance complies 
with law.  

Bonds 
To raise funds for capital improvements, such as land acquisition or building construction, 
counties, cities and districts may issue bonds.25  In California, there are three types of bonds: (1) 
general obligation (“GO”) bonds, which are guaranteed by the local taxing authority; (2) revenue 
bonds that are paid by project-generated revenue or a dedicated revenue stream such as a 
particular tax or fee, and (3) limited tax bonds, which are paid by voter-approved transactions and 
use tax revenue. Generally, bond proceeds are limited to capital projects and may not be used for 
operations and maintenance purposes.26  As such, this report will not examine bonding in further 
detail. 

  

                                                 
24 In addition, all transaction and use tax proposals require 2.3rds approval by the governing body. CalifonriaCityFinance.com 
25 Cal. Public Resources Code §5305.  
26 Federal government rules governing the issuance of tax-exempt bonds limit the use of proceeds to capital purposes such that only a 
small fraction of bond funds may be used for maintenance or operations of facilities. State and local laws may further limit the use of 
bond proceeds.  



 
 

LOS ANGELES COUNTY :: CONSERVATION FINANCE FEASIBILITY STUDY :: JANUARY 2016                                                  

 
 

 

       

 TRUST FOR PUBLIC LAND :: RESEARCH DEPARTMENT 

 

17 

Appendix E 
 
Uniformity and Exemptions – Legal Challenge 
Borikas v. Alameda Unified School District is a legal decision reached by the California Court of 
Appeals in 2012 with potentially far-reaching consequences for parcel tax levies throughout the 
state. The lawsuit arose as a result of a June 3, 2008 vote on a parcel tax measure (Measure H) in 
the Alameda Unified School District. The measure narrowly passed but it was challenged by a local 
businessman, and several others, who objected to the different rates charged homeowners and 
commercial property owners. Measure H charged residential property owners $120 each per 
parcel, while charging large commercial property owners $0.15 cents per square foot up to a cap of 
$9,500. The court concluded that state law requires “uniformity” in a parcel tax, i.e., a tax that will 
“apply uniformly to all taxpayers or all real property within the district.” 

The Borikas v. Alameda Unified School District opinion could be read broadly to apply to all types 
of countywide or district parcel taxes or narrowly to just school districts but the decision definitely 
has increased the risk of a legal challenge to a countywide or districtwide parcel tax.  

On a similar note, California Government Code Section 5079 explicitly provides for exemptions to 
seniors and disabled for school district measures. While Section 5789.1 provides that recreation 
and park district “special taxes shall be applied uniformly to all taxpayers or all real property within 
the district, except that unimproved property may be taxed at a lower rate than improved parcels.” 
As such, it appears that the County or the District may not include an exemption for seniors in a 
new special tax measure.  

Research indicates that LA County imposes its special taxes on all property unless otherwise 
exempted by state or federal law.  Generally, properties that fall under this exemption are owned 
by other governmental agencies (local, federal and state) including school districts, cities, counties, 
airport authorities, etc. 
 
Legally, however, parcel tax exemptions are specifically authorized only for school districts 
(seniors and disabled) and parks (improved/unimproved land). However, numerous counties and 
special districts have placed on ballots approved by voters measures that contain additional 
exemptions. For example, East Bay Regional Park District (Alameda and Contra Costa Counties) 
parcel tax measures provide exemptions for (a) owners of real property that is unimproved and 
provides, (b) any occupant of any property who, for any reason, is legally exempt, and (c) a 
modified senior exemption of a 50% discount for an occupant who is a senior citizen (age 65 and 
over) whose annual income is below the State-defined poverty level.  
 
Because statutes authorizing parcel taxes by non-school districts do not provide specifically for 
exemptions other than for improved/unimproved properties, there is risk of challenge that the tax 
is not uniformly levied if other exemptions have been authorized. The challenge has been 
somewhat tempered by ballot language drafting that requires the tax to be levied uniformly on all 
properties and allows certain owners of parcels to apply annually for an exemption (seniors and 
disabled). In addition, many ordinances have provided that said “annual” exemptions are available 
only to the “fullest extent permitted by law.” 



 
 
LOS ANGELES COUNTY  :: CONSERVATION FINANCE FEASIBILITY STUDY :: JANUARY 2016 
                                                  

 
 

     TRUST FOR PUBLIC LAND :: RESEARCH DEPARTMENT 18 

 
Due to legal questions, no exemptions are recommended for this measure. However exemptions 
found in numerous parcel tax measures include: 
 
Senior Exemption. Properties owned and occupied by people age 65 years or older. Can be written 
so that it only applies to those who live on the property; meaning if a senior citizen owns a 
property that the parcel tax applies to, but does not live on that parcel, that senior citizen would 
still have to pay the tax. 
 
Disability Exemption. Properties owned and occupied by people who receive Supplemental 
Security Income for a disability, regardless of age, often may obtain an exemption from parcel 
taxes. Other parcel tax ordinances/resolutions may offer an exemption for properties owned and 
occupied by those who receive Social Security Disability Insurance benefits, regardless of age, as 
long as the person’s annual income does not exceed a certain threshold.  
 
Contiguous Parcel Exemption. Multiple parcels that are contiguous, and are owned by one owner, 
may receive an exemption in which the contiguous parcels are treated as one for tax purposes. 
Some local governments apply the contiguous rule only to parcels owned by homeowners, and 
only if the homeowner lives on the property. Property owners may have to apply annually for 
exemptions by submitting forms to the city, county, special district, or other entity administering 
the tax. Some local governments that offer exemptions automatically grant an exemption to 
property owners who previously submitted an application. Applications for an exemption typically 
are available on a local government’s website, where finance information is maintained. 
 

 

 
 

 
 
 
 

 
  



 
 

LOS ANGELES COUNTY :: CONSERVATION FINANCE FEASIBILITY STUDY :: JANUARY 2016                                                  

 
 

 

       

 TRUST FOR PUBLIC LAND :: RESEARCH DEPARTMENT 

 

19 

For any questions or more information please contact: 
 

Amanda Brown-Stevens 
Associate Conservation Strategies Director – West 
The Trust for Public Land 
Cell: 510-816-2978 
Office: 415-800-5287  
Amanda.BrownStevens@tpl.org 
   

Wendy Muzzy 
Director of Feasibility Research 
The Trust for Public Land 
Office:  206-274-2914 
wendy.muzzy@tpl.org 

 

mailto:wendy.muzzy@tpl.org


12100 Wilshire Boulevard,  Suite 350 1999 Harrison Street Suite 2020 
Los Angeles, CA  90025 Oakland, CA   94612 
Phone: (310) 828-1183 Phone: (510) 451-9521 
Fax:     (310) 453-6562 Fax: (510) 451-0384 

TO: Interested Parties 

FROM:  Fairbank, Maslin, Maullin, Metz & Associates (FM3) 

RE: Los Angeles County Parks and Open Space Baseline Survey 
Summary of Key Results  

DATE: December 24, 2015 

 A recent surveyi of 1,010 likely November 2016 Los Angeles County voters shows that a
majority (69 percent) would definitely, probably or lean toward voting yes in favor of a ballot
measure establishing a three-cent per square foot of improvement property tax to fund
neighborhood parks, recreation areas, beaches, rivers, and other natural areas, while about
25 percent would vote no to oppose the measure if the election were held today.  A further six
percent are initially undecided.  However, once voters are provided with additional
information, support for the measure increases by about 6 percent, from 69 to 75 percent,
with slightly more than two-thirds saying definitely or probably yes.  Opposition decreases to 20
percent and an additional 5 percent remain undecided.

FIGURE 1:  Initial Vote and Vote after Education on the L.A. County 
Park and Open Space Measure 

Attachment #2



Page 2 

 

 Both measures – the Los Angeles County Parks and Transportation Measures – appear 
viable when on the same ballot (Figure 2).  Each measure initially starts with at least two-thirds 
support from voters who said they would definitely, probably or lean toward voting yes.  Strong 
support for each measure persists regardless of whether voters hear one measure first or second 
(Figure 2).   

 
FIGURE 2:  Vote for LA County Parks and Open Space and Transportation Measures 

 

 
 
 Respondents rated in high percentages (70 percent or more), a number of features and 

provisions they consider extremely or very important to be included in the measure.  Those 
with the highest percentages include protecting clean water supplies, including rivers and creeks; 
helping to reduce gang activity; ensuring safe places to play; removing asbestos, mold and lead 
paint from aging recreation centers; and protecting and preserving parks and natural areas, as well 
as clean and safe beaches (Table 1). 

 
 

TABLE 1:  Potential Provisions and Features to be Included in the Measure 
 

Potential Provisions/Features to be Included in the Measure % Ext/Very Important 
Protect clean water supplies including rivers and creeks 89% 
Protect clean drinking water sources 89% 
Help reduce gang activity 88% 
Ensure safe places to play 81% 
Remove asbestos, mold and lead paint from aging recreation centers 79% 
Protecting and preserving parks and natural areas 79% 
Protect clean and safe beaches 78% 
Improve park accessibility for the disabled 75% 
Improve the safety of recreation areas for children and seniors 75% 
Protect and preserve open space, natural areas, and waterways 75% 
Replace deteriorating water, sewer and gas lines at parks and recreation 
centers 

75% 

 
  



Page 3 

 

TABLE 1:  Potential Provisions and Features to be Included in the Measure (Continued) 
 

Potential Provisions/Features to be Included in the Measure % Ext/Very Important 
Reduce and prevent flooding during heavy rains 73% 
Renew expiring, dedicated, local funding for neighborhood parks, 
rivers, beaches, and natural areas 

73% 

Protect wildlife areas 73% 
Ensure space for after-school programs 73% 
Ensure space for senior programs 73% 
Exempt low income seniors from having to pay the annual tax 71% 
Maintain and improve safe walking and biking paths and trails 71% 
Upgrade security lighting and fencing 70% 
Make existing state and federal matching funds available to our local 
parks that would otherwise go elsewhere 

70% 

 
 Voters were more inclined to support the measure after hearing a series of educational 

statements.  Specifically, the following messages had the greatest effect, prompting more than 
three-quarters of voters to say that they would be more inclined to vote yes in favor of the measure: 
 
 This measure will keep our kids, seniors, and other residents safe by providing funding 

for necessary safety repairs and upgrades to outdated and/or unsafe playground equipment, 
park and recreation centers, senior centers, and restrooms (80 percent much/somewhat 
more inclined to vote yes). 
 

 This measure will help protect and preserve LA County’s remaining undeveloped open 
spaces and natural areas so we and future generations can enjoy them rather than lose 
them for good (78 percent). 

 
 This measure will help keep kids off the streets and out of trouble by providing safe 

places for them to play and participate in after-school programs (77 percent). 
 
 This measure will help fund water conservation efforts such as the increased use of 

drought-tolerant plants, recycled water for ball fields, and capturing and cleaning more 
rainwater.  These efforts to reduce the amount of water wasted will save money 
and help to protect and increase our local drinking water supplies (76 percent). 

 
 In general, more than 7 in 10 voters (73 percent) perceive great or some need for additional funding 

for neighborhood, city and county parks in Los Angeles County. 
 
 

 
 

i Between December 3rd – 9th, 2015, Fairbank, Maslin, Maullin, Metz & Associates (FM3) conducted a telephone 
survey of 1,010 voters in the County of Los Angeles who are likely to vote in the 2016 General Election.  The margin 
of error for the full sample is +/- 3.3% and for half the sample it is +/- 4.7%; margins of error for subgroups will be 
higher. 

                                                 



1	

			RESOLUTION	OF	THE	BOARD	OF	SUPERVISORS	OF	THE	
COUNTY	OF	LOS	ANGELES	PROVIDING	FOR	AND	GIVING	
NOTICE	OF	A	SPECIAL	TAX	ELECTION	TO	BE	HELD	IN	THE	
COUNTY	OF	LOS	ANGELES	ON	NOVEMBER	8,	2016,	AND	
CONSOLIDATING	THE	SPECIAL	TAX	ELECTION	WITH	THE	
CALIFORNIA	STATEWIDE	GENERAL	ELECTION	TO	BE	HELD	

ON	
NOVEMBER	8,	2016	

WHEREAS,	every	year,	more	than	70	million	people	
visit	the	over	3,000	parks	in	the	County	of	Los	Angeles	(the	
‘County’)	and	its	cities,	including	their	neighborhood	parks,	
and	participate	in	park‐sponsored	recreational	programs.	
Parks	are	important	to	families,	as	millions	of	children	and	
youth	use	park	facilities	for	after‐school,	weekend,	and	
summer	programs,	and	millions	of	seniors	attend	programs	
at	nearby	senior	centers;	and	

WHEREAS,	parks,	open	space,	beaches,	and	natural	
water	resources	contribute	to	the	health	and	vitality	of	our	
citizens	in	the	County.	These	natural	areas	help	make	our	
community	a	wonderful	place	to	live	and	protect	our	quality	
of	life;	and	

WHEREAS,	County	citizens	spend	a	great	deal	of	time	
working	indoors	and	commuting	in	cars,	making	our	parks	

Attachment #3



	

2	

	

and	natural	resources	essential	to	protecting	and	enhancing	
our	quality	of	life;	and		

WHEREAS,	the	County	and	its	cities	have	a	long	history	
of	making	significant	investments	in	parks	and	recreation,	
beaches,	open	spaces,	and	natural	areas;	and	

	 WHEREAS,	the	Los	Angeles	County	Regional	Park	and	
Open	Space	District	(the	“District”)	has	awarded	more	than	
1,500	development,	acquisition,	improvement,	restoration,	
and	rehabilitation	grant	projects	for	parks,	recreational,	
cultural,	and	community	facilities,	as	well	as	beaches	and	
open	space	lands	throughout	Los	Angeles	County;	and	

WHEREAS,	for	over	20	years	the	County	has	relied	on	
local	voter‐approved	funding	to	protect	and	maintain	our	
local	neighborhood,	city	and	county	parks,	outdoor	areas,	
beaches,	rivers,	watersheds,	and	local	water	resources.		This	
funding	is	expiring	and	we	face	the	loss	of	the	only	source	of	
dedicated	local	funding	for	our	neighborhood	parks;	and		

WHEREAS,	dedicated	local	funding	from	the	District	has	
served	as	matching	funds	for	State,	Federal,	and	
philanthropic	funding,	and	in	this	way	is	essential	for	our	
communities	to	receive	their	fair	share	of	available	
resources;	and	

WHEREAS,	while	many	of	the	over	3,000	parks,	
beaches,	and	open	space	areas	and	over	9,000	recreational	



	

3	

	

amenities	throughout	the	County	have	received	District	
funding	since	1992,	heavy	usage	by	the	public	year‐round	
result	in	a	continuous	need	for	resources	to	repair	and	
replace	amenities;	and	

WHEREAS,	the	County	has	undertaken	an	inventory,	
analysis,	and	community	engagement	process	that	
culminated	in	the	2016	Los	Angeles	Countywide	
Comprehensive	Park	and	Recreation	Needs	Assessment	
Final	Report	(the	“2016	Countywide	Park	Needs	
Assessment”),	which	allowed	the	County	to	document	and	
analyze	the	needs	of	all	the	communities	within	its	
jurisdiction;	and	

WHEREAS,	the	2016	Countywide	Park	Needs	
Assessment	was	a	16‐month	outreach	process	to	study	188	
sub‐regions	of	the	County	(the	“Study	Areas”)	to	identify	
community	park	needs	and	priorities;	and		

	 WHEREAS,	the	2016	Countywide	Park	Needs	
Assessment	shows	that	there	is	a	serious	need	for	tens	of	
billions	of	dollars	in	investments	in	safe	neighborhood	
parks;	clean	water	and	protection	of	local	water	resources;	
protection	of	rivers,	streams,	lakes,	beaches	and	watersheds;	
safe	and	healthy	communities;	urban	greening;	
sustainability	and	energy	efficiency;	senior	centers,	
community	and	facility	rehabilitation	and	maintenance;	at‐
risk	youth	job	training	and	placement,	gang	violence	



	

4	

	

prevention;	and	improved	community	access,	connectivity	
and	trails	to	these	facilities;	protection	of	local	water	
resources;	protection	of	rivers,	streams,	lakes,	beaches	and	
watersheds;	safe	and	health	communities;	and	

WHEREAS,	the	Board	of	Supervisors	of	the	County	(the	
"Board")	finds	and	determines	that	the	continued	
development,	acquisition,	improvement,	restoration	and	
maintenance	of	parks,	recreational,	cultural	and	community	
facilities,	beaches,	and	open	space	lands	within	the	County	
confer	documented	health,	social,	environmental	and	
economic	benefits	throughout	the	County	resulting	in	
increased	opportunities	for	physical	activity,	improved	
safety	and	social	cohesion,	sustainability	and	maintained	or	
enhanced	property	values;	and	

WHEREAS,	the	Board	further	finds	and	determines	that	
the	public	interest	and	convenience	require,	and	that	it	is	in	
the	best	interest	of	the	County,	that	local	funding	be	secured	
within	the	County,	to	fund	projects	consistent	with	the	plan	
of	expenditure	hereinafter	set	forth;	and	

WHEREAS,	the	collection	and	expenditure	of	all	funds	
under	this	measure	will	continue	to	be	transparent	to	the	
voters	through	annual	independent	financial	audits	and	a	
public	oversight	committee,	and	all	communities	throughout	
the	County	will	receive	a	share	of	the	funding.		To	the	extent	
feasible,	funds	generated	by	this	measure	shall	be	spent	on	



	

5	

	

priorities	in	high‐need	and	very	high‐need	areas	pursuant	to	
the	2016	Countywide	Park	Needs	Assessment;	and		

WHEREAS,	the	acquisition,	construction,	rehabilitation	
and	maintenance	of	parks	and	recreation	facilities,	beaches,	
and	open	space	lands	under	this	measure	will	aid	in	the	
development	of	safe	places	and	facilities	for	local	children,	
youth	and	families,	thereby	creating	healthy	places	for	
children	and	youth	to	play,	learn	and	interact	with	other	
children.		These	alternatives	keep	children	and	youth	off	the	
streets	and	limit	exposure	to	gangs,	drugs	and	vandalism	
while	providing	positive	incentives	for	healthy	living;	and	 	

WHEREAS,	the	Board	further	finds	and	determines	that	
it	is	necessary	to	provide	a	voter‐approved	funding	source	to	
ensure	all	parks	and	recreation	centers	throughout	Los	
Angeles	County	and	its	cities	are	continuously	serviced,	
maintained	and	upgraded,	and	that	new	parks	and	facilities	
are	established	and	open	space	lands	preserved;	and	

WHEREAS,	the	protection	and	restoration	of	our	last	
open	spaces	and	natural	areas	of	scenic	beauty	located	next	
to	rivers,	creeks,	streams	and	lakes	is	necessary	for	the	
purposes	of	conserving	native	and	endangered	species,	
biological	diversity,	protecting	the	health	of	the	County's	
environment,	and	for	the	enjoyment	of	this	and	future	
generations;	and	



	

6	

	

WHEREAS,	improving	non‐motorized	or	active	
transportation	methods	to	reach	the	network	of	park	
facilities,	beaches,	and	multi‐use	trails,	including	regional	
bike	paths,	is	important	to	our	health	and	provides	for	
greater	accessibility	for	our	citizens;	and		

WHEREAS,	the	District	intends	to	use	the	2016	
Countywide	Park	Needs	Assessment	as	a	guide	to	direct	
funding	to	all	communities	within	the	County	to	ensure	local	
high‐need	and	very	high‐need	priorities	are	met;	and	

WHEREAS,	the	District	intends	to	continue	the	
community	and	stakeholder	engagement	processes	and	
make	periodic	updates	to	the	2016	Countywide	Park	Needs	
Assessment;	and	

WHEREAS,	a	public	hearing	on	the	matters	set	forth	in	
this	resolution	was	called	and	held	on	Xxxx	XX	2016,	and	this	
resolution	shall	not	take	effect	unless	and	until	the	question	
of	approval	of	the	matters	set	forth	herein	shall	have	been	
submitted	to	the	electorate	of	the	County	and	approved	by	a	
supermajority	of	voters	voting	on	the	question;	and	

WHEREAS,	the	Board	deems	it	necessary	and	essential	
to	submit	the	question	of	a	special	tax	to	the	qualified	voters	
within	the	County	at	a	special	tax	election	to	be	held	on	
November	8,	2016,	and	to	consolidate	such	election	with	the	
Statewide	General	Election	to	be	held	on	that	date;	



	

7	

	

NOW,	THEREFORE,	BE	IT	RESOLVED	by	the	Board	of	
Supervisors	of	the	County	of	Los	Angeles,	as	follows:	

	

Section	1.	 	

A	special	tax	election	shall	be	held	and	the	same	is	hereby	
called	and	ordered	to	be	held	in	the	County	on	the	8th	day	of	
November,	2016,	for	the	purpose	of	submitting	to	the	voters	
of	the	County	the	question	of	a	special	tax	to	be	levied	by	the	
County	in	the	amounts	and	for	the	purposes	hereinafter	set	
forth	and	to	be	administered	by	the	District.		The	special	
election	called	by	this	resolution	shall	be	consolidated	with	
the	Statewide	General	Elections	conducted	by	and	in	the	
County	of	Los	Angeles	on	November	8,	2016,	and	the	
Proposition	shall	be	placed	on	the	same	ballot	and	the	same	
precincts,	polling	places,	election	officers,	and	facilities	shall	
be	used	for	this	special	election.	

Commencing	with	Fiscal	Year	2017‐2018,	an	annual	special	
tax	to	raise	revenue	to	continue	funding	for	programs	
pursuant	to	the	plan	of	expenditure	contained	herein	is	
hereby	imposed	upon	all	improved	parcels	located	within	
the	County	of	Los	Angeles.		The	Special	Tax	shall	be	levied	on	
all	improved	parcels	in	the	County	at	a	rate	of	___	cents	per	
square	foot	of	structural	improvements,	excluding	the	
square	footage	of	improvements	used	for	parking.	For	each	



	

8	

	

fiscal	year	after	2017‐2018,	the	Board	of	Supervisors	shall	
by	a	majority	vote	set	the	rate	of	the	tax;	however,	in	any	
fiscal	year	the	rate	may	be	set	no	higher	than	the	amount	of	
__	cents	per	square	foot,	as	adjusted	by	the	cumulative	
increases,	if	any,	to	the	Western	Urban	Consumer	Price	
Index	from	July	1,	2017,	as	established	by	the	United	States	
Bureau	of	Labor	Statistics.	If	for	any	fiscal	year	the	Board	
fails	to	set	the	rate,	the	tax	shall	continue	at	the	same	rate	as	
the	preceding	year.		

(c)	All	laws	and	procedures	regarding	exemptions,	due	
dates,	installment	payments,	corrections,	cancellations,	
refunds,	late	payments,	liens	and	collections	for	the	secured	
roll	ad	valorem	property	taxes	shall	be	applicable	to	the	
collection	of	the	Special	Tax.		The	secured	roll	tax	bills	shall	
be	the	only	notices	required	for	the	levying	of	the	Special	
Tax.		The	Auditor‐Controller	of	the	County	shall	place	the	
Special	Tax	on	the	secured	tax	roll	for	the	initial	Fiscal	Year	
2017‐2018,	and	for	subsequent	fiscal	years.	The	Treasurer	
and	Tax	Collector	of	the	County	shall	collect	the	Special	Tax	
for	the	initial	Fiscal	Year	2017‐2018,	and	for	subsequent	
fiscal	years,	on	the	tax	roll	at	the	same	time	and	in	the	same	
manner,	and	subject	to	the	same	penalties	as	the	ad	valorem	
property	taxes	fixed	and	collected	by	or	on	behalf	of	the	
County.		The	Los	Angeles	County	Regional	Park	and	Open	
Space	District	shall	establish	and	administer	an	appeals	



	

9	

	

process	to	address	and	correct	potential	errors	in	the	levy	of	
the	Special	Tax.	

(d)	Properties	owned	by	public	agencies,	will	not	be	
assessed	except	when	such	property	is	not	devoted	to	a	
public	use,	consistent	with	the	statutes	applying	to	
possessory	interests.		The	Special	Tax	shall	be	levied	on	
possessory	interests	based	on	the	amount	of	privately‐held	
structural	improvements.	

(e)	Based	upon	all	of	the	facts	before	it	on	this	matter,	the	
Board	finds	that	the	submission	of	this	question	of	a	Special	
Tax	to	the	voters	is	not	subject	to,	or	is	exempt	from,	the	
California	Environmental	Quality	Act	(CEQA)	because	it	is	
not	a	project	as	defined	by	California	Code	of	Regulations	
Section	15378(b)(4)	relating	to	the	creation	of	government	
funding	mechanisms,	which	do	not	involve	commitment	to	
any	specific	project	which	may	result	in	a	potentially	
significant	physical	impact	on	the	environment.	
	

Section	2.	 	

The	Proposition	for	levying	said	special	tax	shall	appear	
upon	the	ballot	substantially	as	follows:	

Los	Angeles	County	Safe	Neighborhood	Parks,	Healthy	
Communities,	and	Local	Water	Resources	Measure	



	

10	

	

To	renew	expiring,	dedicated,	local	funding	for	
neighborhood/city	parks,	recreational	areas,	
rivers/beaches;	protect	local	water	resources;	including	
rivers/creeks;	reduce	gang	activity;	ensure	safe	play	areas;	
shall	an	annual	___¢	tax	per	square	foot	of	improvements	be	
levied	on	developed	property	in	Los	Angeles	County,	
generating	$__________	annually,	for	35	years;	exempting	low‐
income	seniors;	requiring	citizen	oversight,	independent	
audits,	and	local	control?	

The	Board	of	Supervisors	does	hereby	submit	to	the	
qualified	voters	of	the	County,	at	said	special	County	
election,	this	proposition.		The	Chair	and	Clerk	of	the	Board	
of	Supervisors	are	hereby	authorized	and	directed	to	publish	
notice	of	said	special	election	in	accordance	with	the	
California	Elections	Code.		Analysis	and	review	of	this	
resolution	shall	be	carried	out	pursuant	to	Section	9160	of	
the	California	Elections	Code.	

	

Section	3.	 	

As	used	in	this	resolution,	the	following	terms	have	the	
indicated	meanings:	

“1992	and	1996	Propositions”	means	the	Safe	
Neighborhood	Parks	Propositions	approved	by	voters	on	
November	3,	1992	and	November	5,	1996,	respectively.	



	

11	

	

“2016	Countywide	Parks	Needs	Assessment”	means	the	
2016	Los	Angeles	Countywide	Comprehensive	Park	and	
Recreation	Needs	Assessment	Final	Report	and	any	
supplementary	material	adopted,	and	as	subsequently	
updated,	by	the	District.	

	“Assessor”	means	the	County	of	Los	Angeles	Office	of	
the	Assessor.	

“Beaches”	means	a	public	beach	or	shoreline	area	
bordering	the	Pacific	Ocean	owned,	controlled,	or	managed	
by	a	public	agency,	within	the	County	of	Los	Angeles.	

"Board"	means	the	County	of	Los	Angeles	Board	of	
Supervisors.	

	
“Community	Development”	means	the	feasibility,	

planning,	design,	permitting	and	construction	of	recreational	
infrastructure	and	amenities.	

"County"	is	used	as	defined	in	the	recitals	to	this	
resolution.	

	
“Director”	means	the	Director	of	the	Los	Angeles	County	

Regional	Park	and	Open	Space	District.		
	
"District"	means	the	Los	Angeles	County	Regional	Park	

and	Open	Space	District.	



	

12	

	

	
“Eligible	project”	means	pre‐project	assistance	and	

feasibility,	planning,	acquisition,	construction,	development,	
improvement,	restoration,	rehabilitation,	maintenance,	
program	oversight,	public	safety	and	security	or	any	
combination	thereof,	for	any	park	or	recreation	project	or	
improvement.		

	
“Greenway”	means	a	project	that	incorporates	elements	

of	water	conservation	and	reclamation,	urban	greening,	or	
public	safety	in	a	linear	park,	urban	trail	and/or	active	
transportation	corridor	such	as	a	Class‐I	or	Class‐IV	bike	
path.	

	
“High‐Need	and	Very‐High	Need”	means	areas	

designated	as	such	in	the	Parks	Needs	Framework	as	
identified	the	2016	Countywide	Park	Needs	Assessment.	

	
“Joint‐use”	means	shared	management	of	facilities,	land,	

utilities,	programs,	or	other	common	elements	between	two	
or	more	parties.		

	
“Local	jurisdiction”	means	a	city,	county,	special	district	

or	local	agency.		
	
“Multi‐benefit	project”	means	a	project	that	maximizes	

or	enhances	recreation	opportunities,	protection	or	



	

13	

	

enhancement	of	the	natural	environment,	stormwater	
capture	that	improves	infiltration,	water	and	air	quality	
improvements,	greenhouse	gas	(GHG)	reductions,	carbon	
sequestration,	heat‐island	reductions;	habitat	protection	and	
biodiversity,	community	health	improvements,	or	any	
combination	thereof.	

	
"Natural	Lands"	means	an	area	of	relatively	

undeveloped	land	which	has	substantially	retained	its	
characteristics	as	provided	by	nature	or	has	been	
substantially	restored,	or	which	can	be	feasibly	restored	to	a	
near‐natural	condition	and	which	derives	outstanding	value	
from	its	wildlife,	scenic,	open	space,	parkland	or	recreational	
characteristics,	or	any	combination	thereof.	

"Nonprofit	Organization"	means	any	charitable	
organization	described	in	Section	501(c)(3)	of	the	Internal	
Revenue	Code	of	1986,	as	amended,	which	has	among	its	
purposes	the	provision	of	park,	recreation	or	community	
services	or	facilities,	gang	prevention	and	intervention,	
conservation	corps,	environmental	education	and	
interpretation,	tree‐planting,	or	the	conservation	and	
preservation	of	wetlands	or	of	lands	predominantly	in	their	
natural,	scenic,	historical,	forested	or	open‐space	condition,	
or	restoration	of	lands	to	a	natural,	scenic,	historical,	
forested	or	open‐space	condition.	



	

14	

	

"Open	space,	foothill,	mountain,	trail,	river,	wetlands	
and	stream	projects"	include	any	of	the	following:		
preservation	of	natural	lands,	scenic	vistas	and	wildlife	
habitat,	wildlife	corridors,	development	and	restoration	of	
mountain	and	other	open	space	hiking,	biking,	walking	and	
equestrian	trails,	especially	those	maintained	by	the	County	
Public	Works	and	Parks	and	Recreation	Departments,	
restoration	of	natural	vegetation	and	habitat,	habitat	and	
recreation	facilities	in	and	adjacent	to	riparian	and	flood	
control	channels,	and	the	provision	of	recreational	
opportunities	and	public	access	in	mountain,	foothill,	river,	
stream	and	wetland	areas.	

"Parcel"	means	any	unit	of	real	property	that	receives	
an	annual	secured	property	tax	bill	from	the	Los	Angeles	
County	Treasurer	and	Tax	Collector.		

"Park"	means	a	tract	of	land	with	scenic,	natural,	open‐
space	or	recreational	values,	set	apart	to	conserve	natural,	
scenic,	wildlife,	cultural,	historical	or	ecological	resources	for	
present	and	future	generations,	and	to	be	used	by	the	public	
as	a	place	for	respite,	rest,	recreation,	education,	exercise,	
inspiration	or	enjoyment.			

“Parks	Fund”	means	the	Los	Angeles	County	Regional	
Park	and	Open	Space	District	Park	Fund.			



	

15	

	

“Per	Capita	and	Structural	Improvements”	refers	to	
each	Study	Area’s	respective	percentage	of	total	Countywide	
1)	population	as	of	the	2010	Census,	and	2)	structural	
improvements	on	parcels	on	the	secured	property	tax	rolls	
according	to	the	Assessor’s	records	as	of	January	1,	2017.		

“Per	Capita	and	Structural	Improvements	Formula”	
means	the	formula	established	by	the	District	to	determine	
how	allocations	of	certain	funding	programs	under	this	
proposition	shall	be	distributed.		Each	Study	Area’s	
allocation	percentage	of	the	applicable	funding	programs	
shall	be	the	arithmetic	mean	of	Per	Capita	and	Structural	
Improvements,	where	Per	Capita	is	weighted	two‐thirds	and	
Structural	Improvements	are	weighted	one‐third,	and	shall	
be	calculated	as	follows:	Allocation	Percentage	=	[(Per	Capita	
+	Per	Capita	+	Structural	Improvements)/3].	

“Pre‐Project	Assistance”	means	the	planning,	design,	
feasibility	and	studies	necessary	to	define	and	articulate	1)	a	
park	project	on	land	that	was	developed	for	uses	other	than	
parkland,	or	2)	a	project	to	acquire	and/or	restore	parks	and	
natural	lands.	

"Public	Agency"	means	any	governmental	agency,	
special	district,	or	joint	power	authority,	established	
pursuant	to	the	laws	of	the	State	that	is	authorized	to	
acquire,	develop,	improve	and	restore	real	property	for	
beach,	wildlife,	park,	recreation,	community,	cultural,	open	



	

16	

	

space,	water	quality,	flood	control,	or	gang	prevention	and	
intervention	purposes.		

"Regional	Recreational	Parks"	means	facilities	with	
unique,	countywide	significance	that	are	publicly	owned,	
consist	of	at	least	100	contiguous	acres	and	have	three	or	
more	active	recreational	amenities.	

"Special	Tax"	is	the	Tax	levied	on	all	improved	parcels	
in	the	County	at	a	rate	of	__	cents	per	square	foot	of	
structural	improvements,	excluding	the	square	footage	of	
improvements	used	for	parking,	within	the	County	pursuant	
to	this	resolution.	

	
"State"	means	the	State	of	California.	

"State	Lands	Commission"	means	the	Lands	
Commission	of	the	State	of	California.	

“Study	Areas”	is	used	as	defined	in	the	recitals	to	this	
resolution.	

	“Urban	area”	means	an	urban	place,	as	that	term	is	
defined	by	the	United	States	Department	of	Commerce,	of	
2,500	or	more	persons.		

“Urban	Forest”	means	those	native	or	introduced	trees	
and	related	vegetation	in	an	urban	area,	including,	but	not	
limited	to,	urban	watersheds,	soils	and	related	habitats,	



	

17	

	

street	trees,	park	trees,	natural	riparian	habitats,	and	trees	
on	other	private	and	public	properties.		Where	feasible,	
introduced	trees	and	plants	shall	be	native	species	selected	
and	planted	in	accordance	with	best	management	practices.		
No	plants	or	trees	identified	on	the	California	Invasive	
Species	list	maintained	by	the	California	Invasive	Plant	
Council,	or	other	appropriate	sources,	shall	be	planted.			

“Urban	Forestry”	means	the	cultivation	and	
management	of	trees	in	an	urban	area	for	their	present	and	
potential	contribution	to	the	economic,	physiological,	
sociological,	and	ecological	well‐being	of	urban	society.	

“Urban	Park”	means	a	park	in	an	urban	area	that	offers	
respite,	rest,	recreation,	education,	exercise,	inspiration	or	
enjoyment	to	residents	of,	and	visitors	to,	that	urban	area.	

“Veterans”	means	any	person	who	served	in	the	United	
States	armed	forces	as	defined	by	Title	38	of	the	Code	of	
Federal	Regulations.	

“Youth	and	Veterans	Career	Development	and	Job	
Training”	means	a	program	that	provides	job	training,	career	
development,	or	both,	to	young	adults	aged	18‐24	and	
veterans,	including	education	and/or	certification	for	jobs	
within	the	conservation	and	parks	and	recreation	fields.	

	
Section	4.		



	

18	

	

	
It	is	the	intent	of	this	proposition	to	provide	funds	to	benefit	
property	and	improve	the	quality	of	life	throughout	the	
District	by	preserving	and	protecting	parks,	safe	places	to	
play,	community	recreation	facilities,	beaches,	rivers,	open	
spaces,	water	resources,	youth	and	veteran	career	
development,	and	the	urban	tree	canopy.		Funds	will	be	
disbursed	by	the	District	consistent	with	the	2016	
Countywide	Park	Needs	Assessment	to	ensure	all	
communities	within	the	County	can	fund	local	priorities.	
	
	
Section	5.		
	
Expenditure	Plan	
	

(a)	 The	Board	shall	allocate	proceeds	of	the	Special	
Tax	to	the	District	to	develop	and	implement	grant	programs	
that	invest	in	eligible	projects	consistent	with	the	2016	Park	
Needs	Assessment,	including,	but	not	limited	to,	the	
following:	
	

(1) Protecting	and	developing	parks,	safe	places	to	play,	
beaches,	open	space	lands,	and	natural	areas,	

(2) Promoting	Healthy	Communities,	



	

19	

	

(3) Increasing	investments	in	high‐need	and	very	high‐need	
regions	identified	in	the	Countywide	Park	Needs	
Assessment,	

(4) Protecting	clean	local	water	resources,	including	lakes,	
rivers	and	creeks,	

(5) Developing	and	improving	local	and	regional	
recreational	facilities,	including	general	infrastructure	
improvements,	sustainability	improvements,	and	
removal	of	asbestos,	mold,	and	lead	paint	from	existing	
facilities,	

(6) Helping	reduce	gang	activity	by	maintaining	safe	and	
healthy	parks	to	encourage	use	by	the	community	

(7) Ensuring	local	drinking	water	continues	to	be	safe	and	
accessible	at	park	and	recreation	centers,		

(8) Providing	safe	places	to	play	and	afterschool	programs	
for	children	and	youth,	

(9) Protecting,	enhancing,	and	preserving	open	space,	
natural	areas,	and	waterways,	

(10) Providing	youth	and	veteran	career	development	and	
job	training,	

(11) Improving	park	safety	and	universal	accessibility,	
including	for	seniors	and	those	with	disabilities,	



	

20	

	

(12) Protecting	and	enhancing	clean	and	safe	beaches,		

(13) Improving	water	quality	and	implementing	
stormwater	capture	on	park	and	open	space	lands,	

(14) Developing	and	enhancing	urban	gardens,	pocket	
parks,	and	other	small‐scale	greening	projects,	
including	education	and	food	health	programs,	

(15) Facilitating	community	education,	engagement,	
natural	and	cultural	resource	interpretation,	and	other	
innovative	projects	that	engage	the	community	
regarding	park	facilities	funded	by	the	District.	

(16) Developing	and	enhancing	senior	citizen,	youth,	multi‐
generational,	and	other	neighborhood	and	community	
recreation	facilities,		

(17) Developing	and	enhancing	public	equestrian	facilities,	
especially	to	promote	sustainable	practices,			

(18) Developing,	restoring	and	maintaining	museums	and	
cultural	facilities,		

(19) 	Protecting	and	preserving	the	urban	canopy	and	
promoting	tree	health.	

	(b)	 The	funds	allocated	pursuant	to	subsection	(a)	
shall	be	expended	according	to	the	following	schedule:	



	

21	

	

(1)	Community‐Based	Park	Investment	Program.	

(A)	Thirty‐five	percent	(35%),	on	an	annual	basis,	for	
eligible	projects	located	in	each	study	area,	to	all	
incorporated	cities	and	unincorporated	areas	of	the	
County	located	within	the	District.		To	ensure	that	each	
community	throughout	the	County	will	benefit	from	
improvements	as	identified	in	the	2016	Countywide	
Park	Needs	Assessment	Report,	funds	will	be	allocated	
to	each	study	area	based	on	the	Per	Capita	and	
Structural	Improvements	Formula.		The	District	shall	
prioritize	projects	located	in	high‐need,	and	very	high‐
need,	portions	of	each	study	area	as	identified	in	the	
2016	Countywide	Park	Needs	Assessment.	

	
(2)	Safe	Parks,	Repairs	and	Upgrades,	Healthy	Communities	
and	Urban	Greening	Program.		

(A)	Twenty	percent	(20%),	on	an	annual	basis,	for	the	
acquisition	of	real	property,	and	the	construction	and	
rehabilitation	of	parks	and	recreation	facilities	that	
provide	safe	places	and	facilities	for	after‐school,	
weekend	and	holiday	programs	for	local	children,	youth	
and	families,	provide	opportunities	for	healthy	living	in	
all	our	neighborhoods,	improve	the	quantity	and	quality	
of	green	spaces	in	the	county,	or	improve	local	water	
capture	and	infiltration.	The	District	shall	prioritize	



	

22	

	

projects	in	high‐need,	and	very	high‐need,	study	areas,	
as	identified	in	the	2016	Countywide	Park	Needs	
Assessment,	based	on	the	Per	Capita	and	Structural	
Improvements	Formula,	including,	but	not	limited	to,	
the	following:	
	
(i) community	and	local	parks,	including	pocket	

parks,	playgrounds,	playground	equipment,	dog	
parks,	and	picnic	areas,	especially	those	that	
connect	and	restore	underutilized	spaces;	

(ii) community	and	senior	recreational	centers;	
(iii) park	safety,	graffiti	removal,	facility	safety	

lighting,	safe	routes	to	schools,	and	other	safety	
improvements;	

(iv) greenspace	and	greenway	development;	
										gardens,	including	garden	and	nutrition	

education;	
(v) urban	canopy	development	to	reduce	the	heat	

island	effect,	especially	in	heavily	urbanized,	
tree‐poor	areas	of	the	County;	

(vi) active	transportation	and	physical	activity	
programming	that	promotes	recreation	and	
accessibility	to	recreational	facilities,		



	

23	

	

(vii) interpretation,	education	and	communication	
about	parks,	local	environmental	issues	and	
recreational	activities	

(viii) water	quality,	stormwater	capture,	and	water	
use	efficiency	projects	on	park	and	open	space	
lands;	

	
(3)	Protecting	Open	Spaces,	Local	Water	Sources,	Beaches	
and	Watershed	Program.		
	

(A)	Twenty	percent	(20%),	on	an	annual	basis,	for	
planning,	acquisition,	development,	improvement,	and	
restoration,	of	multi‐benefit	park	projects	that	promote,	
improve,	or	protect	clean	local	water	supplies,	habitat	
improvements,	park	space,	recreation,	public	access,	
watershed	health,	and	open	space,	including			
improvements	or	restoration	of	areas	that	buffer	our	
rivers,	streams,	and	their	tributaries	along	with	the	
lakes	and	beaches	throughout	the	County,	including	but	
not	limited	to,	the	following:	
	
(i) riparian	corridor	improvements;	
(ii) river	and	stream	parkway	development;	
(iii) river	and	stream	clean	up,	access	and	community	

development;	



	

24	

	

(iv) lake	clean	up,	access	and	community	
development;	

(v) beach	and	coastal	watersheds	clean‐up,	access	
and	community	development;	

(vi) fishing	and	boating	facilities;	
(vii) natural	lands,	wildlife	corridors,	and	watershed	

protection;	
(viii) recreational	facilities,	public	property	and	rights	

of	way,	flood	control	infrastructure,	and	other	
easements;	

(ix) natural	and	cultural	resource	interpretive	
programs	and	nature	education	activities.	

	
(B)	Of	the	funds	allocated	to	this	paragraph,	multi‐
benefit	projects	should	seek	to	leverage	public	and	
private	funding	from	water	conservation	and	supply;	
water	and	air	quality	improvements;	flood	risk	
management;	climate	pollution	reduction	or	adaptation;	
carbon	sequestration;	heat‐island	reduction;	habitat	
protection	and	biodiversity;	public	health;	and	
environmental	justice	benefit	programs.	
	
(C)	The	District	shall	prioritize	projects	that	offer	the	
greatest	regional	benefits,	or	serve	the	greatest	regional	
need.		

	



	

25	

	

(4)	Regional	Recreational	Facilities,	Multi‐use	Trails	and	
Accessibility	Program.			
	

(A)	Twenty	percent	(20%),	on	an	annual	basis,	for	
acquisition,	development,	improvement,	restoration,	or	
rehabilitation	projects,	including	but	not	limited	to,	the	
following:		

	
(i) regional	parks,	regional	facilities,	museum,	

environmental	education	and	other	cultural	
facilities;	

(ii) multi‐use	sports	facilities	and	other	community	
recreational	facilities;	

(iii) multi‐use	trail		connectivity	for	existing	and	
future	park	facilities,	including	connection	to	
Public	Works‐maintained	Class	I	bike	path	
facilities;	

(iv) multi‐use	trail	and	path	projects,	with	special	
emphasis	being	placed	on	those	multi‐use	trails	
that	provide	hiking,	equestrian,	bicycle	and	
opportunities	for	ADA	and	universal	access,	
especially	in	urban	communities.		

(v) regional,	ecological,	zoological,	geological,	
archeological,	anthropological,	paleontological,	
and	cultural	sites	of	countywide	significance	



	

26	

	

	
(B)	Trail	and	accessibility	projects	funded	under	this	
paragraph	that	connect	river,	mountain,	and	urban	
areas,	especially	to	the	County	Parks,	State	Parks,	the	
National	Forest,	the	National	Recreation	Area	and	the	
National	Monument,	and	link	other	canyons	and	
regional	and	local	parks	throughout	the	County	will	be	
given	higher	priority.		

	
(5)	Youth	and	Veteran	Job	Training	and	Placement	
Opportunities	Program.		

(A)	Five	percent	(5%),	on	an	annual	basis	for:	
	
(i) 		Organizations	within	the	county,	including	

certified	conservation	corps,	that	provide	
education,	skills	training,	and	career	pathway	
development	to	young	adults,	aged	18	to	25,	or	
veterans,	to	implement	park	projects,	and	
	

(ii) Organizations	within	the	county	that	provide	
certifications	and	placement	services,	or	
apprenticeship	opportunities,	for	young	adults,	
aged	18‐25,	or	veterans,	for	jobs	and	careers	in	
the	Parks	and	Recreation	field.	

	



	

27	

	

(iii) The	District	shall	prioritize	grants	to	
organizations	that	provide	services	to,	or	recruit	
a	majority	of	their	participants	from,	the	areas	of	
high‐need,	and	very	high‐need,	as	identified	in	
the	2016	Countywide	Park	Needs	Assessment	
Report.		The	District	shall	grant	no	less	than	
eighty	percent	(80%)	of	funds	from	this	
paragraph	pursuant	to	sub‐paragraph	(A)(i).	

	
	
Section	6.		
	
Implementation	
	
	 (a)	 Authority	to	award	and	administer	grants	pursuant	
to	Section	5	shall	be	delegated	by	the	Board	to	the	Director	
for	projects	consistent	with	this	resolution.		
	

(b)	 Of	the	funds	allocated	pursuant	to	Section	5,	
eligible	project	applicants	include	Public	Agencies	and	
Nonprofit	Organizations.			
	

(c)	 To	the	extent	feasible,	priority	may	be	given	to	
multi‐benefit	projects	that	maximize	climate	pollution	
reduction	and	adaptation,	carbon	sequestration,	heat‐island	
reduction,	stormwater	capture	that	increase	infiltration,	
habitat	protection	and	biodiversity,	community	health	



	

28	

	

improvements,	promote	innovative	public‐private	
partnerships,	or	a	combination	thereof.		
	

(d)	 Of	the	funds	allocated	pursuant	to	Section	5(b)(2)	
through	Section	5(b)(5),	the	District	may	periodically	
dedicate	a	portion	of	funds	to:	

	
(1)	Competitive	grant	solicitations	accessible	to	eligible	
Public	Agencies	and	Nonprofit	Organizations	for	projects	
consistent	with	the	goals	of	this	paragraph.	
	
(2) Grant	solicitations	designed	to	leverage	federal,	or	state,	
park,	conservation,	water,	or	climate	funding	programs.	
	

(e)	 Notwithstanding	Section	5(a),	in	each	of	the	years	
after	the	date	the	special	tax	is	levied	and	collected,	the	
schedule	of	expenditure	of	all	proceeds	of	the	special	tax	
shall	conform	to	the	following:	

(1)	Up	to	seventy‐seven	percent	(77%)	shall	be	used	for	
grant	projects,	including	but	not	limited	to,	pre‐project	
assistance,	planning,	acquisition,	development,	
improvement,	restoration,	rehabilitation,	technical	
assistance,	and	program	oversight.	For	purposes	of	this	
resolution,	grant	projects	include	the	servicing	of	bonds,	
notes	or	other	evidences	of	indebtedness	issued	by	the	
District/County.	



	

29	

	

(2)	Up	to	fifteen	percent	(15%)	shall	be	set	aside	and	
designated	as	the	maintenance	and	servicing	amount,	and	
shall	be	used	only	to	maintain	and	service,	including	
resource	protection	activities	for	the	capital	outlay	projects	
funded	by	the	District,	inclusive	of	projects	funded	by	1992	
and	1996	Propositions.	These	funds	shall	be	administered	
separately	from	the	District’s	grant	program	and	shall	be	
held	in	trust	by	the	District	until	a	request	from	an	eligible	
entity	is	made	pursuant	to	rules	established	by	the	District.	
To	ensure	that	every	community	maintains	park	and	
recreation	facilities	and	park	safety	improvements	as	
identified	in	the	2016	Countywide	Park	Needs	Assessment,	
funds	granted	pursuant	this	paragraph	will	be	allocated	
based	on	the	Per	Capita	and	Structural	Improvements	
Formula.		The	District	shall	grant	funds,	pursuant	to	this	
paragraph,	for	projects	identified	in	the	188	study	areas,	as	
well	as	the	associated	addenda,	as	contained	in	the	
report.		For	projects	identified	in	the	188	study	areas,	the	
District	shall	prioritize	funds	for	high‐need,	and	very	high‐
need,	areas	as	identified	in	the	report,	as	well	as	projects	
that	provide	public	access.	The	maintenance	and	servicing	
amount	shall	be	allocated	each	year	as	follows:		

(A)	fifty	point	eighty‐five	percent	(50.85%)	to	cities;	ten	
point	ninety‐four	percent	(10.94%)	to	the	Department	
of	Beaches	and	Harbors;	fifteen	percent	(15%)	to	the	
Department	of	Parks	and	Recreation;	three	point	forty‐



	

30	

	

six	percent	(3.46%)	to	the	Department	of	Public	Works;	
one	percent	(1.0%)	to	the	Baldwin	Hills	Recreation	and	
Conservation	Authority;	one	percent	(1.0%)	to	the	
Desert	and	Mountains	Conservation	Authority;	point	
five	percent	(0.5%)	to	the	Los	Cerritos	Wetlands	
Authority;	six	percent	(6.0%)	to	the	Mountains		
Recreation	and	Conservation	Authority;	one	percent	
(1.0%)	to	the	Newhall	Ranch	High	Country	Recreation	
and	Conservation	Authority;	two	percent	(2.0%)	to	the	
Puente	Hills	Habitat	Preservation	Authority;	one	
percent	(1.0%)	to	the	Santa	Clarita	Watershed	
Recreation	and	Conservation	Authority;	point	five	
percent	(0.5%)	to	the	San	Gabriel	River	Discovery	
Center	Authority;	two	percent	(2.0%)	to	the	Watershed	
Conservation	Authority;	and,	five	percent	(5.0%)	
unallocated	for	eligible	nonprofit	organizations	that	
own,	operate,	or	both,	parklands	consistent	with	this	
resolution.	

(i)	Any	additional	local	agencies	created	for	park	
purposes	after	January	1st,	2017,	may	receive	funding	
made	available	pursuant	to	(d)(2)(C)	according	to	a	
determination	made	by	the	District.		

(3)	Eight	percent	(8%)	shall	be	made	available	for	strategic	
planning,	updates	to	the	2016	Countywide	Park	Needs	
Assessment,	and	the	District	for	operations,	management,	



	

31	

	

technical	assistance,	outreach,	and	oversight,	including	
personnel,	to	administer	programs	pursuant	to	this	
resolution.	
	

(f)	 Notwithstanding	Section	6(d),	starting	in	2026,	and	
each	year	thereafter,	the	District	may	increase	funds	made	
available	pursuant	to	provision	(d)(2)	up	to	2%,	annually,	
and	corresponding	decrease	funds	made	available	pursuant	
to	(d)(1),	until	funding	made	available	pursuant	to	provision	
(d)(1)	and	(d)(2)	both	equal	46%.	

(g)	 Funds	for	maintenance	and	servicing	as	described	
in	this	section	shall	be	allocated	annually	to	each	recipient	
within	the	District.	Allocations	shall	be	made	only	to	those	
entities	which	certify	that:	(1)	such	funds	shall	be	used	only	
to	maintain	and	service	projects	funded	by	the	District,	
inclusive	of	grants	issued	pursuant	to	the	1992	and	1996	
Propositions	and	this	resolution,	and	(2)	such	funds	shall	be	
used	to	supplement	existing	levels	of	service	and	not	to	fund	
existing	levels	of	service.	

(h)	 Except	for	those	funds	allocated	to	cities,	the	
Director	may,	on	an	annual	basis,	adjust	the	allocations	
pursuant	to	(d)(2)(A)	through	(d)(2)(C).	

	 (i)	 The	District	shall	promote	sustainability,	energy	
efficiency,	stormwater	capture,	and	technology	innovation	



	

32	

	

through	the	implementation	of	this	program,	including	but	
not	limited	to	the	following:	
	
(1)	Development	of	projects	that	include	as	many	of	the	
following	elements	as	possible:	
	

(A)	Sustainability,		
(B)	Cost‐saving	energy	efficiency,			
(C)	Weatherization,		
(D)	Water	efficiency,	including	irrigation	efficiency,		
(E)	Use	of	reclaimed	water	or	stormwater,	and	
(F)	Use	of	climate	and	site	appropriate	native	California	
tree	and	plant	materials.	

	
(2)	Investment	in	enhanced	electronic	communications	and	
other	forms	of	technology	innovation	that	benefits	the	
public’s	interactions	with	individual	parks	or	the	park	
system,	including	internet	connectivity;	electronic	or	mobile	
reservation,	scheduling,	and	fee	systems;	regional	websites;	
or	other	systems	deemed	necessary	by	the	District.	
	

(j)	 (1)	The	Director	may	provide	advanced	payment	for	
up	 to	50	percent	of	 the	grant	award	 for	 those	projects	 that	
satisfy	both	of	the	following	criteria:	

	
(A)	The	 project	 proponent	 is	 a	 nonprofit	 organization	 and	
would	require	advanced	payment	to	implement	the	project.	



	

33	

	

	
(B)	The	grant	award	for	the	project	is	less	than	five	hundred	
thousand	dollars	($500,000).	
	
(2)	The	Director	may	 establish	 rules	 to	 determine	 how	 the	
funds	will	be	managed	and	administered.	
	
(3)	If	funds	are	not	expended,	the	unused	portion	of	the	grant	
shall	 be	 returned	 to	 the	 department	 within	 60	 days	 after	
project	 completion	 or	 the	 end	 of	 the	 grant	 performance	
period,	whichever	is	earlier.	

	
	
(k)			Notwithstanding	Sections	4,	5	and	6	of	this	

resolution,	of	the	funds	available	from	the	special	tax,	the	
District’s	Board	may,	on	an	annual	basis,	allocate	up	to	2%	of	
the	funds	for	eligible	projects.	

	
(l)	 As	a	California	Special	District	established	pursuant	

to	Section	5500	of	the	Public	Resource	Code,	officers	and	
employees	of	the	County	may	act	ex	officio	as	the	officers	
and	employees	of	the	District.		However,	in	order	to	maintain	
transparency	and	accountability	to	the	public	and	fairness	to	
its	various	grant	recipients,	the	District	shall	hereby	operate	
as	an	independent	agency	of	the	County,	with	the	District	
Administrator	reporting	directly	to	the	Director	of	Parks	and	
Recreation	with	clear	separation	from	its	grant	recipients	in	



	

34	

	

all	aspects	of	District	administration	including,	but	not	
limited	to,	personnel,	fiscal,	budget,	and	audit	functions.	

	
(m)	 An	exemption	from	the	special	tax,	to	be	claimed	

under	procedures	established	by	the	County,	shall	be	
available	for	any	parcel	that,	as	of	January	1	of	each	year,	is	
owned	by,	and	upon	which	is	located	the	principal	residence	
of,	a	person	or	persons	65	years	of	age	or	older	whose	
household	income	does	not	exceed	80	percent	of	the	median	
income	for	the	County	as	defined	by	the	United	States	
Department	of	Housing	and	Urban	Development.	
	
	
Section	7.	
	
Community	Oversight	and	Accountability	
	

(a)	 The	Citizens	Oversight	Advisory	Board	is	hereby	
created.	
	
(1)	The	Citizens	Oversight	Advisory	Board	shall	be	
composed	of	five	members	appointed	by	the	Board.	Each	
appointing	office	shall	appoint	one	member	who	meets	each	
of	the	following	criteria:	

	
(A)	An	accountant,	economist,	or	other	professional	
with	knowledge	and	expertise	in	evaluating	financial	



	

35	

	

transactions	and	program	cost‐effectiveness,	or	an	
appointed	member	of	the	Park	Needs	Assessment	
Steering	Committee;	

	
(B)	A	community	member	from	one	of	the	five	
Supervisorial	Districts.	

					
	(2)	The	Citizens	Oversight	Advisory	Board	shall	do	all	of	the	
following:	
	

(A)	Tri‐annual	(3	times	per	year)	review	of	all	
expenditures	from	the	special	tax;	

								 	 	
(B)	Ensure	that	this	program	is	integrated	in	the	annual	
independent	audit	of	the	District;	

	
(C)	Publish	a	complete	accounting	of	all	allocations	each	
year,	posting	the	information	on	the	District’s	publicly	
accessible	Internet	Web	site;	

	
(D)	Submit	periodic	evaluations	of	the	program	to	the	
County	identifying	any	changes	needed	to	meet	the	
objectives	of	this	resolution.	
	

(3)	(A)	Members	of	the	Citizens	Advisory	Board	shall	serve	a	
term	of	four	years	at	the	pleasure	of	the	Board,	and	no	
member	may	serve	more	than	two	consecutive	four‐year	



	

36	

	

terms.	The	Board	may,	by	order,	extend	this	length	of	service	
or	waive	this	limit	for	individuals	or	the	Citizens	Oversight	
Advisory	Board	as	a	whole.		A	member's	position	shall	
become	vacant	upon	his	or	her	death,	resignation,	or	
removal	by	the	Board.	In	the	case	of	such	a	vacancy,	the	
Board	shall	appoint	a	successor	to	fill	the	unexpired	term.	
 

(B)	Members	of	the	board	shall	not	be	compensated	for	their	
service,	but	may	be	reimbursed	for	actual	and	necessary	
expenses	incurred	in	the	performance	of	their	duties.	
	
Section	8.	
	
Eligibility	
	

(a)	 No	funds	authorized	pursuant	to	Section	5	may	be	
disbursed	to	any	recipient	unless	the	recipient	agrees:		
	
(1)	To	maintain	and	operate	in	perpetuity	the	property	
acquired,	developed,	improved,	rehabilitated	or	restored	
with	the	funds.	With	the	approval	of	the	granting	agency,	the	
recipient	or	its	successors	in	interest	in	the	property	may	
transfer	the	responsibility	to	maintain	and	operate	the	
property	in	accordance	with	this	Section.	
	



	

37	

	

(2)	(A)	To	use	the	property	only	for	the	purposes	of	this	
resolution	and	to	make	no	other	use,	sale,	or	disposition	of	
the	property,	except	as	described	in	paragraph	(B).	
	
(B)	If	the	use	of	the	property	acquired	through	grants	
pursuant	to	this	resolution	is	changed	to	one	other	than	a	
use	permitted	under	the	category	from	which	the	funds	were	
provided,	or	the	property	is	sold	or	otherwise	disposed	of,	
an	amount	equal	to	the	(1)	amount	of	the	grant,	(2)	the	fair	
market	value	of	the	real	property,	or	(3)	the	proceeds	from	
the	portion	of	such	property	acquired,	developed,	improved,	
rehabilitated	or	restored	with	the	grant,	whichever	is	
greater,	shall	be	used	by	the	recipient	for	a	purpose	
authorized	in	that	category	or	shall	be	reimbursed	to	the	
Parks	Fund	and	shall	be	available	for	a	use	authorized	in	that	
category.		
		
If	the	property	sold	or	otherwise	disposed	of	is	less	than	the	
entire	interest	in	the	property	originally	acquired,	
developed,	improved,	rehabilitated	or	restored	with	the	
grant,	an	amount	equal	to	the	proceeds	or	the	fair	market	
value	of	the	property	interest	sold	or	otherwise	disposed	of,	
whichever	is	greater,	shall	be	used	by	the	grantee	for	a	
purpose	authorized	in	that	category	or	shall	be	reimbursed	
to	the	Parks	Fund	and	be	available	for	a	use	authorized	in	
that	category.	Nothing	in	this	Section	shall	limit	a	Public	
Agency	from	transferring	property	acquired	pursuant	to	this	



	

38	

	

order	to	the	National	Park	Service	or	the	State	Park	System,	
with	or	without	consideration.	
	
(3)	Any	beach,	park	or	other	public	facility	acquired,	
developed,	rehabilitated	or	restored	with	funds	from	this	act	
shall	be	open	and	accessible	to	the	public	without	
discrimination	as	to	race,	color,	sex,	sexual	orientation,	age,	
religious	belief,	national	origin,	marital	status,	physical	or	
medical	handicap,	medical	condition	or	place	of	residence,	to	
the	extent	consistent	with	the	provisions	of	subdivision	(b)	
of	Section	9.	
	
(4)	In	order	to	maintain	the	exclusion	from	gross	income	for	
federal	income	tax	purposes	of	the	interest	on	any	bonds,	
notes	or	other	evidences	of	indebtedness	issued	for	
purposes	of	this	resolution,	each	recipient	of	funds	pursuant	
to	this	resolution	covenants	to	comply	with	each	applicable	
requirement	of	Section	103	and	Sections	141	through	150	of	
the	Internal	Revenue	Code	of	1986,	as	amended.	Each	
recipient	of	funds	disbursed	pursuant	to	this	resolution	shall	
agree	in	writing	to	the	conditions	specified	in	this	paragraph.	
	
(5)	An	entity	receiving	funds	pursuant	to	this	resolution	
shall	agree	to	audits	of	expenditures	on	a	regular	basis,	as	
directed	by	the	District.	
	
Section	9.	



	

39	

	

	
Property	
	

(a)	 All	real	property	acquired	pursuant	to	this	
resolution	shall	be	acquired	in	compliance	with	Chapter	16	
(commencing	with	Section	7260)	of	Division	7	of	Title	1	of	
the	California	Government	Code.	Public	Agencies	and	
Nonprofit	Organizations	receiving	funds	pursuant	to	this	
resolution	shall	certify	compliance	to	the	Department	of	
Parks	and	Recreation.	Funds	disbursed	to	a	Public	Agency	in	
accordance	with	this	resolution	may	be	expended	by	that	
agency	pursuant	to	an	agreement,	or	by	an	entity,	
authorized	or	established	pursuant	to	Article	1	
(commencing	with	Section	6500)	of	Chapter	5	of	Division	7	
of	Title	1	of	the	Government	Code.	
	

(b)	 Reasonable	public	access	to	lands	acquired	in	fee	
with	funds	made	available	pursuant	to	this	resolution	shall	
be	provided	except	where	that	access	may	interfere	with	
resource	protection.	For	purposes	of	this	resolution,	
reasonable	public	access	shall	include	parking	and	public	
restrooms.	
	

(c)	 Prior	to	recommending	the	acquisition	of	lands	
that	are	located	on	or	near	tidelands,	submerged	lands,	
swamp	or	overflowed	lands,	or	other	wetlands,	whether	or	
not	those	lands	have	been	granted	in	trust	to	a	local	public	



	

40	

	

agency,	any	agency	receiving	funds	pursuant	to	this	
resolution	shall	submit	to	the	State	Lands	Commission	any	
proposal	for	the	acquisition	of	those	lands	pursuant	to	this	
measure.	The	State	Lands	Commission	may,	at	its	discretion,	
within	ninety	(90)	days	of	such	a	submission,	review	the	
proposed	acquisition,	make	a	determination	as	to	the	State's	
existing	or	potential	interest	in	the	lands,	and	report	its	
findings	to	the	entity	making	the	submittal	and	to	the	
Department	of	Parks	and	Recreation.	
	

(d)	 No	wetlands	or	riparian	habitat	acquired	pursuant	
to	this	resolution	shall	be	used	as	a	dredge	spoil	area	or	
shall	be	subject	to	revetment	which	damages	the	quality	of	
the	habitat	for	which	the	property	was	acquired.	
	

(e)	 No	provision	of	this	resolution	shall	be	construed	
as	authorizing	the	condemnation	of	publicly‐owned	lands.	
	

(f)	 Funds	that	are	granted	pursuant	to	this	resolution	
for	the	purposes	of	development,	improvement,	
rehabilitation	or	restoration	shall	be	expended	for	these	
purposes	only	on	lands	owned	by	the	applicant	Public	
Agency	or	Nonprofit	organization	or	subject	to	a	lease	or	
other	interest	held	by	such	Public	Agency	or	Nonprofit	
Organization.	If	such	lands	are	not	owned	by	the	applicant	
or	subject	to	such	other	interest	held	by	the	applicant,	the	
applicant	shall	first	demonstrate	to	the	satisfaction	of	the	



	

41	

	

administering	agency	that	the	project	will	provide	public	
benefits	commensurate	with	the	type	and	duration	of	the	
interest	in	land	held	by	the	applicant.	
	
	
Section	10.	
	
Financing	
	

(a)	 It	is	the	intention	of	the	Board	of	Supervisors	to	
cause	the	District	to	issue	bonds,	notes	or	other	evidences	of	
indebtedness,	to	fund	all	or	a	portion	of	the	costs	of	the	
projects	funded	by	this	resolution,	pursuant	to	Article	3	of	
Division	5	of	the	Public	Resources	Code.	Such	bonds,	notes	
or	other	evidences	of	indebtedness	may	be	issued	in	one	or	
more	series	at	such	times	and	in	such	principal	amounts	as	
the	Board	of	Supervisors	may	determine	in	its	sole	
discretion.	
	

(b)	 All	funds	generated	by	the	Special	Tax	shall	be	
deposited	into	the	Regional	Parks	and	Open	Space	District	
Park	Fund	(Parks	Fund).	The	Auditor‐Controller	of	the	
County,	on	behalf	of	the	District,	may	create	any	other	funds,	
accounts	or	subaccounts	necessary	or	desirable,	including	
the	proceeds	of	assessments	and	bonds,	notes	or	other	
evidences	of	indebtedness	issued	by	the	District.	
	



	

42	

	

(c)	 All	revenue	generated	by	the	District,	including	the	
proceeds	from	the	issuance	of	any	bonds,	notes	or	other	
evidences	of	indebtedness,	shall	be	deposited	in	the	Parks	
Fund	and	shall	be	allocated	among	all	affected	Public	
Agencies	within	the	District	as	defined	in	Section	5506.9	of	
the	California	Public	Resources	Code,	for	expenditure	
consistent	with	the	purposes	of	Division	5,	Chapter	3,	
Article	3	of	the	Public	Resources	Code	and	of	this	resolution.	
The	District	shall	reimburse	the	County	from	the	Parks	
Fund	for	all	costs	of	administration	of	the	District,	and	the	
costs	of	issuance	of	bonds,	notes,	or	other	evidences	of	
indebtedness.	
	

(d)	 Pursuant	to	subdivision	(e)	of	Section	5506.9	of	the	
Public	Resources	Code,	no	proceeds	from	any	bonds,	notes	
or	other	evidences	of	indebtedness	issued	by	the	District	
shall	be	used	for	any	operations,	maintenance	or	servicing	
purposes,	except	that	such	proceeds	may	be	used	to	pay	all	
costs	incidental	to	the	preparation	and	issuance	of	the	
bonds.	
	
	
Section	11.	
	

(a)	 A	special	tax	levied	pursuant	to	this	resolution	shall	
be	levied	for	a	period	of	thirty‐five	(35)	years	beginning	



	

43	

	

with	the	fiscal	year	in	which	the	tax	is	first	levied	and	
collected	by	the	District.	
	
	
Section	12.	
	

(a)	 In	case	any	provision	of	this	resolution	shall	be	
invalid,	illegal	or	unenforceable,	the	validity,	legality	and	
enforceability	of	the	remaining	provisions	shall	not	in	any	
way	be	affected	or	impaired	thereby.	
	
	
Section	13.	
	

(a)	 This	resolution	shall	take	effect	immediately,	and	
upon	declaration	by	the	Board	of	Supervisors	that	the	
special	tax	herein	has	been	approved	by	the	voters,	all	
officers	and	employees	of	the	District	shall	take	all	actions	
necessary	and	desirable	to	carry	out	the	purposes	of	this	
resolution.	The	officers	and	employees	of	the	County	and	the	
ex	officio	officers	and	employees	of	the	District,	are	and	each	
of	them	acting	alone	is,	hereby	authorized	and	directed	to	
take	any	and	all	actions	which	are	necessary	or	desirable	to	
carry	out	the	purposes	of	this	resolution.	



Potential Parks Funding Measure
Expenditure Plan

Annually 35 Years Annually 35 Years

Grant         
Category 1

27.00% 50,110,171$              1,753,855,969$    83,516,951$         2,923,093,281$     

Grant          
Category 2

15.40% 28,581,357$              1,000,347,478$    47,635,594$         1,667,245,797$     

M&S

15.00% 27,838,984$              974,364,427$       46,398,306$         1,623,940,712$     

Grant           
Category 3

15.40% 28,581,357$              1,000,347,478$    47,635,594$         1,667,245,797$     

Grant             
Category 4

15.40% 28,581,357$              1,000,347,478$    47,635,594$         1,667,245,797$     

Grant        
Category 5

3.80% 7,052,543$                246,838,988$       11,754,238$         411,398,314$        

Program 
Innovation and 

Oversight
8.00% 14,847,458$              519,661,028$       24,745,763$         866,101,713$        

100.00% 185,593,224$            6,495,762,846$    309,322,040$       10,826,271,411$   

Funds to be allocated in the following manner:
$ 0.03/sq foot dev $ 0.05/ sq ft dev

Community Based Park Investment Program: 
Funds Returned to Study Areas/Cities through direct 
grant programs with delegated authority to the 
Director

Local Agency Maintenance and Servicing Funds:   
Funds directly to Cities, County Dept., local 
Agencies & Non‐profits, through an administrative 
process from the District

Strategic Planning, Technical Assistance, Needs 
Assessment Updates, Innovative Electronic 
Technologies, Operations of the District: Funds 
distributed with delegated authority to the 
Director. 

Safe Parks, Healthy Communities, Urban 
Greening Program:  Funds to projects in High and 
Very High Need Study Areas through grant programs

Protecting Open Spaces, Beaches, Watersheds 
Program: Funds to all eligible entities through 
competitive grant programs

Regional Recreational Facilities, Trail & 
Accessibility Program: Funds to all eligible entities 
through competitive grant programs

Youth and Veteran Job Training & Placement 
Opportunities Program:  Funds to all eligible 
entities through competitive grant programs



Estimate Revenue to Cities/Study Areas
Category 1 Grant Program

SD1

CITYNAME District  TOTAL POPULATION 
 Ratio

City/Total 
 Total SQFT 

Ratio 

 Average
Double Per 
Capita and 

SQFT 

Category 1                       
$ 0.03/ sq ft development   

Annual Revenue

Category 1                       
$ 0.05/ sq ft development  Annual 

Revenue

 M&S     
$0.03/sq ft dev 
Annual Revenue 

 M&S     
$0.05/sq ft dev 
Annual Revenue 

Vernon 1 122                                0.00% 0.76% 0.25% 127,351$                                             212,251$                                              70,750$               117,917$            
Industry 1 438                                0.00% 1.13% 0.38% 190,201$                                             317,002$                                              105,667$             176,112$            
Irwindale 1 1,470                             0.01% 0.22% 0.08% 41,625$                                               69,374$                                                23,125$               38,541$              
Commerce 1 13,018                           0.13% 0.79% 0.35% 175,148$                                             291,913$                                              97,304$               162,174$            

South El Monte 1 20,453                           0.20% 0.28% 0.23% 114,628$                                             191,047$                                              63,682$               106,137$            
Cudahy 1 24,171                           0.24% 0.10% 0.19% 96,897$                                               161,495$                                              53,832$               89,720$              

Maywood 1 27,791                           0.28% 0.11% 0.22% 110,578$                                             184,297$                                              61,432$               102,387$            
Walnut 1 30,150                           0.30% 0.35% 0.32% 158,493$                                             264,155$                                              88,052$               146,753$            

Claremont 1 35,954                           0.36% 0.47% 0.39% 197,793$                                             329,655$                                              109,885$             183,142$            
Bell 1 36,014                           0.36% 0.20% 0.31% 152,893$                                             254,822$                                              84,941$               141,568$            

La Puente 1 40,547                           0.40% 0.21% 0.34% 169,603$                                             282,671$                                              94,224$               157,040$            
Bell Gardens 1 42,719                           0.42% 0.19% 0.35% 173,468$                                             289,114$                                              96,371$               160,619$            

Azusa 1 48,714                           0.48% 0.43% 0.47% 233,447$                                             389,078$                                              129,693$             216,154$            
Rosemead 1 54,830                           0.54% 0.36% 0.48% 242,046$                                             403,410$                                              134,470$             224,116$            

Huntington Park 1 59,150                           0.59% 0.35% 0.51% 254,708$                                             424,514$                                              141,505$             235,841$            
Monterey Park 1 61,852                           0.61% 0.57% 0.60% 300,420$                                             500,700$                                              166,900$             278,167$            
Montebello 1 63,605                           0.63% 0.60% 0.62% 311,247$                                             518,746$                                              172,915$             288,192$            
Pico Rivera 1 63,949                           0.64% 0.51% 0.59% 297,356$                                             495,593$                                              165,198$             275,329$            
Baldwin Park 1 76,802                           0.76% 0.45% 0.66% 329,977$                                             549,961$                                              183,320$             305,534$            
South Gate 1 96,386                           0.96% 0.58% 0.83% 416,667$                                             694,444$                                              231,481$             385,802$            
West Covina 1 107,959                        1.07% 0.91% 1.02% 510,184$                                             850,307$                                              283,436$             472,393$            
El Monte 1 115,210                        1.14% 0.74% 1.01% 505,846$                                             843,076$                                              281,025$             468,376$            
Pomona 1 151,876                        1.51% 1.25% 1.42% 712,683$                                             1,187,804$                                          395,935$             659,891$            

Unincorporated County 1 262,228                        2.60% 1.24% 2.15% 1,077,135$                                         1,795,225$                                          598,408$             997,347$            
Los Angeles 1 571,663                        5.68% 5.51% 5.62% 2,817,005$                                         4,695,009$                                          1,565,003$         2,608,338$        

Totals 1 2,007,071                     20% 18% 19% 9,717,398$                                         16,195,663$                                        5,398,554$         8,997,590$        



Estimated Funds to Cities/Study Areas
Category 1 Grant Program

SD2

CITYNAME District  TOTAL POPULATION 
 Ratio

City/Total 
 Total SQFT 

Ratio 

 Average
Double Per 
Capita and 

SQFT 

Category 1                      
$ 0.03/ sq ft development   

Annual Revenue

Category 1                      
$ 0.05/ sq ft development  Annual 

Revenue

M&S     
$0.03/sq ft dev 

Annual 
Revenue

M&S     
$0.05/sq ft dev 

Annual 
Revenue

Lawndale 2 33,265                           0.33% 0.19% 0.28% 142,102$                                            236,837$                                             78,946$              131,576$           
Culver City 2 39,706                           0.39% 0.59% 0.46% 230,286$                                            383,809$                                             127,936$            213,227$           
Gardena 2 60,252                           0.60% 0.62% 0.61% 303,464$                                            505,773$                                             168,591$            280,985$           
Lynwood 2 71,045                           0.71% 0.36% 0.59% 295,843$                                            493,072$                                             164,357$            273,929$           
Hawthorne 2 87,101                           0.87% 0.69% 0.81% 404,235$                                            673,725$                                             224,575$            374,291$           
Carson 2 92,720                           0.92% 1.39% 1.08% 539,801$                                            899,668$                                             299,889$            499,816$           
Compton 2 98,204                           0.98% 0.78% 0.91% 456,105$                                            760,175$                                             253,392$            422,320$           
Inglewood 2 111,943                         1.11% 0.87% 1.03% 516,721$                                            861,202$                                             287,067$            478,445$           

Unincorporated County 2 253,468                         2.52% 1.92% 2.32% 1,161,654$                                        1,936,091$                                         645,364$            1,075,606$       
Los Angeles 2 1,193,384                     11.85% 8.83% 10.84% 5,434,287$                                        9,057,145$                                         3,019,048$        5,031,747$       

Totals 2 2,041,088                     20% 16% 19% 9,484,498$                                        15,807,497$                                       5,269,166$        8,781,943$       



Estimated Funds to Cities/Study Areas
Category 1 Grant Program

SD3

CITYNAME District  TOTAL POPULATION 
 Ratio

City/Total 
 Total SQFT 

Ratio 

 Average
Double Per Capita and 

SQFT 

Category 1                    
$ 0.03/ sq ft development   

Annual Revenue

Category 1                   
$ 0.05/ sq ft development  

Annual Revenue

 M&S     
$0.03/sq ft dev 

Annual 
Revenue 

 M&S     
$0.05/sq ft dev 

Annual 
Revenue 

Hidden Hills 3 1,905                             0.02% 0.05% 0.03% 14,672$                                         24,453$                                         $             8,151   $           13,585 
Westlake Village 3 8,396                             0.08% 0.21% 0.13% 62,933$                                         104,889$                                      $           34,963   $           58,271 

Malibu 3 12,895                           0.13% 0.27% 0.18% 87,882$                                         146,470$                                      $           48,823   $           81,372 
Unincorporated County 3 1,585                             0.02% 0.34% 0.12% 62,050$                                         103,417$                                      $           34,472   $           57,454 

Agoura Hills 3 20,649                           0.21% 0.32% 0.24% 121,960$                                       203,266$                                      $           67,755   $         112,926 
Calabasas 3 23,979                           0.24% 0.40% 0.29% 146,370$                                       243,951$                                      $           81,317   $         135,528 

San Fernando 3 24,258                           0.24% 0.19% 0.22% 112,219$                                       187,032$                                      $           62,344   $         103,906 
Beverly Hills 3 34,717                           0.34% 0.85% 0.51% 257,162$                                       428,603$                                      $         142,868   $         238,113 

West Hollywood 3 35,129                           0.35% 0.52% 0.41% 203,408$                                       339,013$                                      $         113,004   $         188,340 
Santa Monica 3 92,622                           0.92% 1.35% 1.06% 532,795$                                       887,991$                                      $         295,997   $         493,328 
Los Angeles 3 1,734,170                     17.22% 18.37% 17.61% 8,821,996$                                   14,703,327$                                 $      4,901,109   $      8,168,515 

Totals 3 1,990,305                     20% 23% 21% 10,423,446$                                 17,372,411$                                 $      5,790,804   $      9,651,339 



Estimated Funds to Cities/Study Areas
Category 1 Grant Program

SD4

CITYNAME District  TOTAL POPULATION 
 Ratio

City/Total 
 Total SQFT 

Ratio 

 Average
Double Per Capita and 

SQFT 

Category 1                 
$ 0.03/ sq ft development   

Annual Revenue

Category 1                
$ 0.05/ sq ft development  

Annual Revenue

 M&S            
$0.03/sq ft dev 
Annual Revenue 

 M&S            
$0.05/sq ft dev 
Annual Revenue 

Rolling Hills 4 1,897                             0.02% 0.04% 0.03% 12,975$                                   21,625$                                    $                     7,208   $                   12,014 
Avalon 4 3,826                             0.04% 0.04% 0.04% 19,375$                                   32,292$                                    $                   10,764   $                   17,940 

La Habra Heights 4 5,432                             0.05% 0.09% 0.07% 33,055$                                   55,092$                                    $                   18,364   $                   30,607 
Rolling Hills Estates 4 8,194                             0.08% 0.15% 0.10% 52,241$                                   87,068$                                    $                   29,023   $                   48,371 

Signal Hill 4 11,490                           0.11% 0.18% 0.14% 68,187$                                   113,646$                                 $                   37,882   $                   63,136 
Palos Verdes Estates 4 13,683                           0.14% 0.25% 0.17% 87,156$                                   145,259$                                 $                   48,420   $                   80,700 
Hawaiian Gardens 4 14,475                           0.14% 0.08% 0.12% 61,387$                                   102,312$                                 $                   34,104   $                   56,840 

Artesia 4 16,798                           0.17% 0.14% 0.16% 79,117$                                   131,861$                                 $                   43,954   $                   73,256 
El Segundo 4 16,918                           0.17% 0.58% 0.31% 153,010$                                 255,016$                                 $                   85,005   $                 141,676 

Santa Fe Springs 4 17,590                           0.17% 0.96% 0.44% 218,712$                                 364,520$                                 $                 121,507   $                 202,511 
Hermosa Beach 4 19,769                           0.20% 0.24% 0.21% 105,677$                                 176,129$                                 $                   58,710   $                   97,849 

Lomita 4 20,657                           0.21% 0.17% 0.19% 96,931$                                   161,552$                                 $                   53,851   $                   89,751 
Manhattan Beach 4 35,664                           0.35% 0.56% 0.42% 211,864$                                 353,107$                                 $                 117,702   $                 196,170 

Rancho Palos Verdes 4 42,418                           0.42% 0.60% 0.48% 240,954$                                 401,589$                                 $                 133,863   $                 223,105 
La Mirada 4 49,231                           0.49% 0.61% 0.53% 265,228$                                 442,047$                                 $                 147,349   $                 245,581 
Cerritos 4 49,800                           0.49% 0.75% 0.58% 290,501$                                 484,168$                                 $                 161,389   $                 268,982 

Paramount 4 55,184                           0.55% 0.41% 0.50% 251,572$                                 419,287$                                 $                 139,762   $                 232,937 
Diamond Bar 4 56,468                           0.56% 0.64% 0.59% 294,250$                                 490,416$                                 $                 163,472   $                 272,453 

Redondo Beach 4 67,778                           0.67% 0.83% 0.73% 363,510$                                 605,850$                                 $                 201,950   $                 336,584 
Bellflower 4 77,856                           0.77% 0.49% 0.68% 340,155$                                 566,925$                                 $                 188,975   $                 314,959 
Lakewood 4 81,326                           0.81% 0.66% 0.76% 380,064$                                 633,439$                                 $                 211,146   $                 351,911 
Whittier 4 86,634                           0.86% 0.81% 0.84% 422,729$                                 704,549$                                 $                 234,850   $                 391,416 
Norwalk 4 106,743                         1.06% 0.65% 0.92% 462,721$                                 771,202$                                 $                 257,067   $                 428,445 
Downey 4 113,498                         1.13% 0.96% 1.07% 536,913$                                 894,855$                                 $                 298,285   $                 497,142 
Torrance 4 147,912                         1.47% 1.94% 1.63% 814,784$                                 1,357,974$                              $                 452,658   $                 754,430 

Los Angeles 4 199,710                         1.98% 1.77% 1.91% 958,243$                                 1,597,071$                              $                 532,357   $                 887,262 
Unincorporated County 4 220,107                         2.19% 1.64% 2.00% 1,004,201$                              1,673,668$                              $                 557,889   $                 929,816 

Long Beach 4 470,926                         4.68% 3.93% 4.43% 2,218,869$                              3,698,115$                              $             1,232,705   $             2,054,508 
Totals 4 2,011,984                     20% 20% 20% 10,044,381$                            16,740,635$                            $             5,580,212   $             9,300,353 



Estimated Funds to Cities/Study Areas
Category 1 Grant Program

SD5

CITYNAME District  TOTAL POPULATION 
 Ratio

City/Total 
 Total SQFT 

Ratio 

 Average
Double Per Capita and 

SQFT 

Category 1                 
$ 0.03/ sq ft development   

Annual Revenue

Category 1                
$ 0.05/ sq ft development  

Annual Revenue

 M&S          
$0.03/sq ft dev 
Annual Revenue 

 M&S          
$0.05/sq ft dev 
Annual Revenue 

Bradbury 5 1,085                             0.01% 0.02% 0.01% 6,940$                                      11,567$                                    $                   3,856   $                   6,426 
Sierra Madre 5 11,113                           0.11% 0.13% 0.12% 58,585$                                   97,641$                                    $                32,547   $                54,245 
San Marino 5 13,369                           0.13% 0.22% 0.16% 81,103$                                   135,171$                                 $                45,057   $                75,095 

La Canada Flintridge 5 20,553                           0.20% 0.32% 0.24% 121,641$                                 202,735$                                 $                67,578   $              112,631 
Duarte 5 21,693                           0.22% 0.20% 0.21% 105,379$                                 175,632$                                 $                58,544   $                97,573 

South Pasadena 5 26,049                           0.26% 0.28% 0.27% 133,194$                                 221,990$                                 $                73,997   $              123,328 
La Verne 5 32,275                           0.32% 0.38% 0.34% 170,554$                                 284,257$                                 $                94,752   $              157,920 
San Dimas 5 34,215                           0.34% 0.42% 0.37% 183,672$                                 306,120$                                 $              102,040   $              170,067 
Temple City 5 36,172                           0.36% 0.30% 0.34% 170,121$                                 283,534$                                 $                94,511   $              157,519 
Monrovia 5 37,217                           0.37% 0.40% 0.38% 190,291$                                 317,152$                                 $              105,717   $              176,195 
San Gabriel 5 40,333                           0.40% 0.34% 0.38% 190,607$                                 317,679$                                 $              105,893   $              176,488 
Covina 5 48,678                           0.48% 0.50% 0.49% 245,020$                                 408,366$                                 $              136,122   $              226,870 
Glendora 5 51,526                           0.51% 0.54% 0.52% 261,150$                                 435,250$                                 $              145,083   $              241,805 
Arcadia 5 57,732                           0.57% 0.78% 0.64% 321,828$                                 536,380$                                 $              178,793   $              297,989 
Alhambra 5 84,802                           0.84% 0.72% 0.80% 401,618$                                 669,364$                                 $              223,121   $              371,869 
Burbank 5 105,669                         1.05% 1.41% 1.17% 586,104$                                 976,839$                                 $              325,613   $              542,689 
Pasadena 5 141,103                         1.40% 1.81% 1.54% 770,479$                                 1,284,132$                              $              428,044   $              713,407 
Palmdale 5 155,989                         1.55% 1.58% 1.56% 781,450$                                 1,302,416$                              $              434,139   $              723,565 
Lancaster 5 160,269                         1.59% 1.60% 1.59% 798,990$                                 1,331,651$                              $              443,884   $              739,806 
Glendale 5 196,585                         1.95% 1.98% 1.96% 982,952$                                 1,638,253$                              $              546,084   $              910,140 

Santa Clarita 5 210,911                         2.09% 2.30% 2.16% 1,083,933$                              1,806,555$                              $              602,185   $           1,003,642 
Los Angeles 5 220,417                         2.19% 2.61% 2.33% 1,167,252$                              1,945,420$                              $              648,473   $           1,080,789 

Unincorporated County 5 291,905                         2.90% 2.75% 2.85% 1,427,818$                              2,379,696$                              $              793,232   $           1,322,054 
Totals 5 1,999,660                     20% 22% 20% 10,240,681$                            17,067,801$                            $           5,689,267   $           9,482,112 



RollYear City totalSQFT
Est. Tax from $ 0.03 

cents/sf development 

Est. Return from 

$0.03 to Cities*

Est. MS 

Category $0.03

Est. % 

Return 

Guarantee

2015 AGOURA HILLS 20,410,099 612,302.97$                     

2015 ALHAMBRA 46,192,478 1,385,774.34$                  401,618.00$                111,355.94$     37%

2015 ARCADIA 49,556,533 1,486,695.99$                  321,828.00$                89,084.75$       28%

2015 ARTESIA 8,627,493 258,824.79$                     

2015 AVALON 2,728,930 81,867.90$                       

2015 AZUSA 27,373,199 821,195.97$                      233,447.00$                65,421.61$       36%

2015 BALDWIN PARK 28,875,476 866,264.28$                      329,977.00$                91,868.65$       49%

2015 BELL 12,746,930 382,407.90$                     

2015 BELL GARDENS 12,342,631 370,278.93$                     

2015 BELLFLOWER 31,197,735 935,932.05$                     

2015 BEVERLY HILLS 54,099,372 1,622,981.16$                 

2015 BRADBURY 1,420,818 42,624.54$                        6,940.00$                    1,391.95$         20%

2015 BURBANK 89,545,115 2,686,353.45$                 

2015 CALABASAS 25,871,997 776,159.91$                     

2015 CARSON 85,302,081 2,559,062.43$                 

2015 CERRITOS 47,908,476 1,437,254.28$                 

2015 CLAREMONT 29,923,771 897,713.13$                      197,793.00$                54,286.02$       28%

2015 COMMERCE 50,788,834 1,523,665.02$                 

2015 COMPTON 49,240,699 1,477,220.97$                 

2015 COVINA 31,709,916 951,297.48$                      245,020.00$                68,205.51$       33%

2015 CUDAHY 6,698,334 200,950.02$                     

2015 CULVER CITY 37,513,902 1,125,417.06$                 

2015 DIAMOND BAR 40,876,422 1,226,292.66$                  294,250.00$                82,125.00$       31%

2015 DOWNEY 60,442,663 1,813,279.89$                 

2015 DUARTE 12,773,766 383,212.98$                      105,379.00$                29,230.93$       35%

2015 EL MONTE 46,793,336 1,403,800.08$                  505,846.00$                140,586.87$     46%

2015 EL SEGUNDO 37,011,726 1,110,351.78$                 

2015 GARDENA 39,414,397 1,182,431.91$                 

2015 GLENDALE 126,381,431 3,791,442.93$                 

2015 GLENDORA 34,200,079 1,026,002.37$                  261,150.00$                72,381.36$       33%

2015 HAWAIIAN GARDENS 4,872,427 146,172.81$                     



2015 HAWTHORNE 44,386,913 1,331,607.39$                 

2015 HERMOSA BEACH 15,257,317 457,719.51$                     

2015 HIDDEN HILLS 3,221,848 96,655.44$                       

2015 HUNTINGTON PARK 22,444,182 673,325.46$                     

2015 INDUSTRY 71,903,817 2,157,114.51$                  190,201.00$                52,894.07$       11%

2015 INGLEWOOD 55,527,905 1,665,837.15$                 

2015 IRWINDALE 13,994,426 419,832.78$                      41,625.00$                  11,135.59$       13%

2015 LA CANADA‐FLINTR 20,431,570 612,947.10$                      121,641.00$                33,406.78$       25%

2015 LA HABRA HEIGHTS 5,554,239 166,627.17$                     

2015 LA MIRADA 38,908,860 1,167,265.80$                 

2015 LA PUENTE 13,711,054 411,331.62$                      169,603.00$                47,326.27$       53%

2015 LA VERNE 22,740,266 682,207.98$                      170,554.00$                47,326.27$       32%

2015 LAKEWOOD 42,012,465 1,260,373.95$                 

2015 LANCASTER 99,752,291 2,992,568.73$                 

2015 LAWNDALE 12,264,581 367,937.43$                     

2015 LOMITA 10,834,706 325,041.18$                     

2015 LONG BEACH 239,141,989 7,174,259.67$                 

2015 LOS ANGELES 2,380,642,673 71,419,280.19$               

2015 LYNWOOD 22,995,212 689,856.36$                     

2015 MALIBU 16,761,445 502,843.35$                     

2015 MANHATTAN BEACH 35,340,014 1,060,200.42$                 

2015 MAYWOOD 7,032,774 210,983.22$                     

2015 MONROVIA 25,466,579 763,997.37$                      190,291.00$                52,894.07$       32%

2015 MONTEBELLO 38,314,987 1,149,449.61$                  311,247.00$                86,300.85$       35%

2015 MONTEREY PARK 36,274,266 1,088,227.98$                  300,420.00$                83,516.95$       35%

2015 NORWALK 41,359,634 1,240,789.02$                 

2015 PALMDALE 95,475,113 2,864,253.39$                 

2015 PALOS VERDES EST 15,771,773 473,153.19$                     

2015 PARAMOUNT 25,668,301 770,049.03$                     

2015 PASADENA 115,167,219 3,455,016.57$                  770,479.00$                214,360.18$     29%

2015 PICO RIVERA 32,540,119 976,203.57$                       

2015 POMONA 78,929,628 2,367,888.84$                  712,683.00$                197,656.79$     38%

2015 RANCHO PALOS VER 38,221,477 1,146,644.31$                   

2015 REDONDO BEACH 52,598,678 1,577,960.34$                 



2015 ROLLING HILLS 2,813,090 84,392.70$                       

2015 ROLLING HILLS ES 9,472,153 284,164.59$                     

2015 ROSEMEAD 23,283,482 698,504.46$                      242,046.00$                66,813.56$       44%

2015 SAN DIMAS 26,175,053 785,251.59$                      183,672.00$                51,502.12$       30%

2015 SAN FERNANDO 11,799,167 353,975.01$                     

2015 SAN GABRIEL 21,927,971 657,839.13$                      190,607.00$                52,894.07$       37%

2015 SAN MARINO 14,135,621 424,068.63$                      81,103.00$                  22,271.19$       24%

2015 SANTA CLARITA 144,568,960 4,337,068.80$                 

2015 SANTA FE SPRINGS 61,274,491 1,838,234.73$                 

2015 SANTA MONICA 84,703,566 2,541,106.98$                 

2015 SIERRA MADRE 8,577,725 257,331.75$                      58,585.00$                  16,703.39$       29%

2015 SIGNAL HILL 11,646,225 349,386.75$                     

2015 SOUTH EL MONTE 18,024,170 540,725.10$                      114,628.00$                32,014.83$       27%

2015 SOUTH GATE 37,098,545 1,112,956.35$                 

2015 SOUTH PASADENA 17,722,746 531,682.38$                      133,194.00$                37,582.63$       32%

2015 TEMPLE CITY 19,570,062 587,101.86$                      170,121.00$                47,326.27$       37%

2015 TORRANCE 120,608,508 3,618,255.24$                 

2015 VERNON 48,812,275 1,464,368.25$                 

2015 WALNUT 22,288,716 668,661.48$                      158,493.00$                44,542.37$       30%

2015 WEST COVINA 58,342,845 1,750,285.35$                  510,184.00$                141,978.82$     37%

2015 WEST HOLLYWOOD 33,461,405 1,003,842.15$                 

2015 WEST LAKE VILLAG 13,734,261 412,027.83$                     

2015 WHITTIER 51,854,536 1,555,636.08$                 

subTotal Incorporated 5,805,384,960 174,161,548.80$            

2015 Unincorporated 507,309,754 15,219,292.62$               

TOTAL Secured Roll 6,312,694,714 189,380,841.42$            


	City Council Meeting Agenda 06-28-2016
	1a - Approving Certain Demands
	1b - Voting Delegate to League Annual Conference
	1c - 2015 Actuarial report and Prefunding Schedule
	1c
	July 2015 OPEB Actuarial Rpt

	1d - Council Appointment to Collaborate PASadena
	2 - Budget
	2-1
	2-2
	2-3
	2-4
	2-5

	3 - R 3 Zone Amendment
	4 - Reappointment of Commissioners
	5 - LA County Parks Funding Measure
	5-1
	Parks Bond Attachments
	#1 Attachment 1
	#1 Attachment 2a
	#1 Attachment 2b
	Conservation Finance Feasibility Study, January 2016
	Table of Contents
	Executive Summary
	Introduction
	Parcel Tax – Two Options
	A Los Angeles County Example - the Trauma Tax
	Options for Los Angeles County Parks
	Flat per-parcel tax
	Square-footage tax
	Considerations for a Parcel Tax


	Recommendations & Next Steps
	Appendices
	Appendix A
	District Overview
	Los Angeles Regional Park and Open Space District Formation
	Revenue

	Appendix B
	Elections
	Voter Registration

	Appendix C:  Parcel Tax Summary
	Appendix D:  Other funding options
	Local Public Finance in California

	Sales and Use Tax
	The sales tax in Los Angeles County
	Using the sales tax for parks and open space
	Implementation process


	Bonds
	Appendix E
	Uniformity and Exemptions – Legal Challenge
	For any questions or more information please contact:



	#1 Attachment 2c
	#1 Attachment 2d
	#1 Attachment 3
	#1 Attachment 4
	#1 Attachment 5





